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Five-year Financial Summary
 

RESULTS

Year ended 31 March

2021 2020 2019 2018 2017
HK$’000 HK$’000 HK$’000 HK$’000 HK$’000

Revenue 15,821 27,484 70,784 128,503 183,746

Loss before income tax (121,383) (65,936) (78,635) (335,453) (236,609)
Income tax credit (expense) – 210 (12,775) (17,069) (40,551)

Loss for the year (121,383) (65,726) (91,410) (352,522) (277,160)
Other comprehensive (expense) income (4,372) (3,696) (14,086) 45,411 (49,978)

Total comprehensive expense for the year (125,755) (69,422) (105,496) (307,111) (327,138)

ASSETS AND LIABILITIES

As at 31 March

2021 2020 2019 2018 2017
HK$’000 HK$’000 HK$’000 HK$’000 HK$’000

Total assets 846,967 915,084 1,043,715 1,245,029 1,505,163
Total liabilities (956,957) (899,802) (959,091) (1,036,480) (989,503)

(Capital deficiency)/total equity (109,990) 15,282 84,624 208,549 515,660

Five-year Financial Summary
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On behalf of the board (the “Board”) of directors (the “Directors” and each a “Director”) of China Rongzhong 
Financial Holdings Company Limited (the “Company”, and together with its subsidiaries, the “Group”), I hereby 
present the annual results of the Group for the year ended 31 March 2021 (the “Reporting Period”) to the 
shareholders of the Company (the “Shareholders”).

Year 2021 has continued to be an extremely difficult year for the Group, the outbreak of the novel coronavirus 
(“COVID-19”) had continuously caused global disruption and catastrophes. Since establishment, the Group has 
been operating primarily in Hubei Province of the People’s Republic of China (“PRC”) and due to the outbreak of 
the COVID-19 epidemic in Wuhan and Hubei Province where cities have been in months of lock down since late 
January 2020, the Group had been forced to suspend its operation in Wuhan for a few months. While the Group is 
making its best effort to restore its normal operation in Wuhan as certain restrictions previously imposed had been 
gradually lifted, the COVID-19 pandemic is continuing to cause significant difficulties to the Group from all aspects, 
including adverse economic impacts on the financial conditions, cash flow of the existing small medium enterprises 
(“SME”) customers of the Group, the collectability of the Company’s finance lease receivables from such SME 
customers, and the quality of collaterals of existing and potential new customers towards their loan applications. 
As a result, it is expected that the operation and productivity of the Group may continue to be subject to material 
challenges and uncertainties.

Looking forward, while the uncertainty of the duration of the COVID-19 epidemic had seriously affected the global 
economy and business environment leading to the global political and economic tensions, nevertheless, the Group 
remains committed to place strong emphasis on the recovery of past due finance lease receivables and to amplify 
the coverage of risk prevention. The Company believes that its finance lease business will turn around as and when 
the general economic environment in the PRC and the global COVID-19 pandemic gradually improve. In order to 
safeguard the Shareholders’ interest during this challenging time, the Group is actively considering finance lease 
applications and other forms of financing products outside of Hubei Province in order to diversify business risks. 
In addition, to better utilize the Company’s nation-wide finance lease license, the Company is also in an advanced 
stage of setting up its automobile operating lease business in the PRC.

Finally, on behalf of all members of the Board and management, I would like to extend our sincere gratitude 
to all Shareholders, business partners, customers, and all staff of the Group for their continued support and 
encouragement.

Wong Emilie Hoi Yan
Chief Executive Officer

Hong Kong, 30 June 2021

CEO’s Statement
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Biographies of Directors
 

BOARD OF DIRECTORS

Executive Director

Ms. WONG Emilie Hoi Yan (“Ms. Emilie Wong”), aged 45, was appointed as an executive Director (“Executive 
Director”) on 3 July 2018, she was appointed as the chief executive officer of the Company (“Chief Executive 
Officer”) on 12 July 2018. Ms. Emilie Wong is responsible for the implementation of the Group’s development 
strategies as set out by the Board, and in addition, the management of the daily operations of the Company. Ms. 
Emilie Wong obtained a Bachelor’s degree in Science from State University of New York at Buffalo in 1999, she 
has over 16 years of experience in financial reporting and internal control matters in finance and finance leasing 
industry. Ms. Emilie Wong joined the Group in 2007 and was appointed as the deputy financial controller of the 
Company in 2016. She is also a director of various subsidiaries of the Company.

Ms. Emilie Wong is also a director of certain subsidiaries of Rongzhong Group Limited (“Rongzhong Group”); 
Legend Crown International Limited (“Legend Crown”); Plenty Boom Investments Limited (“Plenty Boom”); 
and Yancheng Goldbond Supply Chain Management Company Limited (formerly known as Yancheng Goldbond 
Technology Small Loan Company Limited, “Yancheng Goldbond”).

Ms. Emilie Wong is a cousin of Ms. Wong Jacqueline Yue Yee and Ms. Wong Michelle Yatyee, each a non-executive 
Director (“Non-executive Director”) and each a controlling shareholder of the Company (“Controlling 
Shareholder”). Ms. Emilie Wong is a niece of Mr. Wong Yu-Lung Charles and Ms. Wong Fang Pik Chun, each a 
Controlling Shareholder.

Save as disclosed under the section headed “Share Option Scheme” in the “Report of Directors”, Ms. Emilie 
Wong was not interested in any underlying shares of the Company (“Shares”) within the meaning of Part XV of 
the Securities and Futures Ordinance, Chapter 571 of the Laws of Hong Kong (the “SFO”). Save as disclosed in 
this annual report, Ms. Emilie Wong does not have any relationship with any other Directors, senior management, 
Controlling Shareholders or substantial shareholders.

Non-executive Directors

Mr. CHEN Shuai (“Mr. Chen”), aged 47, was appointed as a Non-executive Director on 9 July 2018. He was 
appointed as the chairman (“Chairman”) of the Board on 12 July 2018 and resigned on 19 November 2019. Mr. 
Chen is primarily responsible for advising on strategic development and corporate governance of our group.

Mr. Chen has extensive experience in investment management, supplier management and retail business. He 
joined a management company of Hony Capital being a series of private equity investment funds, together with 
their respective management companies/general partners (collectively “Hony Capital”) in 2003 and has served as 
a managing director of Hony Capital since 2011. Hony Capital Fund 2008, L.P. being one of the investment funds 
within Hony Capital, wholly-owns Silver Creation Investments Limited, a substantial shareholder of the Company 
(“Substantial Shareholder”). Mr. Chen is also a director of various subsidiaries of the Company. Mr. Chen holds a 
Master of Business Administration degree from the China Europe International Business School. He was awarded a 
bachelor’s degree in economics from Beijing Forestry University.

Currently, Mr. Chen is a managing director of Hony Capital, a director of Shanghai Chengtou Holdings Co., Ltd. (a 
company listed on the Shanghai Stock Exchange; stock code: 600649) and a non-executive director of Century 
Ginwa Retail Holdings Limited (a company listed on The Stock Exchange of Hong Kong Limited (the “Stock 
Exchange”); stock code: 0162) and an executive director, chairman of the board and acting chief executive officer 
of Hospital Corporation of China Limited (a company listed on The Stock Exchange; stock code: 3869). Mr. Chen is 
also a director of Rongzhong Group and certain of its subsidiaries, Rongzhong Capital Investments Group Limited 
and certain of its subsidiaries.

Mr. Chen was not interested in any underlying Shares within the meaning of Part XV of the SFO. Save as disclosed 
in this annual report, Mr. Chen does not have any relationship with any other Directors, senior management, 
Controlling Shareholders or Substantial Shareholders.

Biographies of Directors
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Ms. WONG Jacqueline Yue Yee (“Ms. Jacqueline Wong”), aged 35, was appointed as a Non-executive Director 
on 23 June 2015 and is primarily responsible for advising on strategic development and corporate governance 
of our Group. Ms. Jacqueline Wong graduated from the University of Southern California in May 2007 with a 
bachelor of arts degree in political science and the University of London in July 2010 with a bachelor of law degree. 
Since 2014, Ms. Jacqueline Wong has been an executive director of Wah Link Investments Limited, a company 
which principally engaged in property investment and her role in Wah Link Investments Limited mainly involves 
acquiring, managing and maintaining residential and commercial real estate projects in Asia and in United States. 
Ms. Jacqueline Wong is a director of certain subsidiaries and an associate of Goldbond Group Holdings Limited 
(“Goldbond”), a Controlling Shareholder of the Company.

Ms. Jacqueline Wong is a director of Legend Crown and Plenty Boom. She is the founder of a discretionary trust 
which holds the entire issued share capital of Legend Crown and Plenty Boom which have interest in the Shares. 
Ms. Jacqueline Wong is also the beneficiary of a trust. She is interested in underlying Shares in respect of the 
share options granted by the Company to certain Directors. Details of her interest in the underlying Shares in the 
Company are set out in the “Report of Directors”. Ms. Jacqueline Wong was taken to be interested in a total of 
164,440,145 underlying Shares within the meaning of Part XV of the SFO as of the date of this report.

Ms. Jacqueline Wong is a daughter of Mr. Wong Charles Yu Lung and Mrs. Wong Fang Pik Chun, each (including 
Ms. Jacqueline Wong)  a Controlling Shareholder. She is a sister of Ms. Michelle Wong, a Non-executive Director 
and a Controlling Shareholder of the Company. She is a cousin of Ms. Emilie Wong, an Executive Director and 
the Chief Executive Officer. Save as disclosed in this annual report, Ms. Jacqueline Wong does not have any 
relationship with any other Directors, senior management, Controlling Shareholders or Substantial Shareholders of 
the Company. 

Ms. WONG Michelle Yatyee (“Ms. Michelle Wong”), aged 40, was appointed as a Non-executive Director on 
11 July 2019 and is primarily responsible for advising on strategic development and corporate governance of our 
Group. Ms. Michelle Wong is an executive director of Goldbond, a Controlling Shareholder of the Company. She 
graduated from the University of Southern California, Los Angeles, the United States of America (“U.S.A.”) with a 
bachelor degree of arts in political science in May 2003 and holds a juris doctorate in law from Whittier Law School, 
California, the U.S.A. in May 2006. Ms. Michelle Wong is also a director of certain subsidiaries of Goldbond.

Ms. Michelle Wong is a director of Legend Crown and Plenty Boom and she is interested in Legend Crown and 
Plenty Boom which have interests in the Shares. Ms. Michelle Wong is the beneficiary of a trust. She is interested 
in underlying Shares in respect of the share options granted by the Company to certain Directors. Details of her 
interest in the underlying Shares in the Company are set out in the “Report of Directors”. Ms. Michelle Wong was 
taken to be interested in a total of 164,440,145 underlying Shares within the meaning of Part XV of the SFO.

Ms. Michelle Wong is a daughter of Mr. Wong Charles Yu Lung and Mrs. Wong Fang Pik Chun, each (including 
Ms. Michelle Wong) a Controlling Shareholder. She is a sister of Ms. Wong Jacqueline Yue Yee, a Non-executive 
Director and a Controlling Shareholder. She is also a cousin of Ms. Wong Emilie Hoi Yan, an Executive Director 
and the Chief Executive Officer. Saved as disclosed in this annual report, Ms. Michelle Wong does not have any 
relationship with any other Directors, senior management, Controlling Shareholders or Substantial Shareholders of 
the Company.

Mr. WONG Ming Bun David (“Mr. David Wong”), aged 48, was appointed as a Non-executive Director on 11 July 
2019 and is primarily responsible for advising on strategic development and corporate governance of our Group. 
Mr. David Wong has over 20 years of professional capital market, financial investment and asset management 
experience. He is an executive director and the chief executive officer of Goldbond, a Controlling Shareholder of 
the Company. Prior to joining the Goldbond, he was a senior vice president at Franklin Templeton Darby Private 
Equity and was responsible for deal origination, execution and monitoring and was involved in fundraising for 
regional growth capital funds with a primary focus on private credit and mezzanine financing in the Greater China 
and Southeast Asian region. Before that, he was an equity research analyst in Citigroup Smith Barney’s asia 
pacific consumer research team, covering a portfolio of listed companies in Hong Kong, Taiwan, South Korea, 
Indonesia, Singapore and Malaysia. Previously, Mr. David Wong worked at PricewaterhouseCoopers focusing on 
banking and capital market assurance and business advisory services. He graduated from the University of Toronto 
with a bachelor of commerce degree majoring in accounting & finance in June 1995 and is also a Certified Public 
Accountant (AICPA, HKICPA), Chartered Global Management Accountant (AICPA) and Certified Management 
Accountant (IMA). Mr. David Wong is also a director of certain subsidiaries of Goldbond and a legal representative 
of a subsidiary of Goldbond.

Save as disclosed under the section headed “Share Option Scheme” in the “Report of Directors”, Mr. David Wong 
was not interested in any underlying Shares within the meaning of Part XV of the SFO. Save as disclosed in this 
annual report, Mr. David Wong does not have any relationship with any other Directors, senior management, 
Controlling Shareholders or Substantial Shareholders.
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Independent Non-executive Directors

Mr. LIE Chi Wing (“Mr. Lie”), aged 43, was appointed as an independent non-executive Director (“Independent 
Non-executive Director” or “INED”) on 19 November 2019, and is primarily responsible for supervising and 
providing independent judgement to the Board. Mr. Lie holds a Bachelor Degree of Business Administration 
(First Class Honors) from The Hong Kong University of Science and Technology. He is a fellow member of the 
Association of Chartered Certified Accountants and a practicing member of the Hong Kong Institute of Certified 
Public Accountants. He is also a Chartered Financial Analyst. Mr. Lie has extensive experience in auditing and 
corporate advisory services with major international accounting firms. Mr. Lie is currently the Company Secretary of 
China Water Affairs Group Limited (stock code: 855), the shares of which are listed on the main board of the Stock 
Exchange. He was also an independent non-executive director of Carnival Group International Holdings Limited 
(stock code: 996) from 5 February 2015 to 9 April 2019, of which the shares are listed on the main board of the 
Stock Exchange.

Save as disclosed under the section headed “Share Option Scheme” in the “Report of Directors”, Mr. Lie was 
not interested in any underlying Shares within the meaning of Part XV of the SFO. Save as disclosed in this 
annual report, Mr. Lie does not have any relationship with any other Directors, senior management, Controlling 
Shareholders or Substantial Shareholders.

Mr. NG Wing Chung Vincent (“Mr. Ng”), aged 42, was appointed as an INED on 27 August 2019, and is primarily 
responsible for supervising and providing independent judgement to the Board. Mr. Ng has over 17 years of 
professional capital market experience. He is licensed by the Securities and Futures Commission for Type 1 
regulated activity (dealing in securities) as responsible officer. Mr. Ng joined Atlantic-Pacific Capital, Inc. in 2007, 
currently he is a partner of Atlantic-Pacific Capital, Inc. responsible for global fundraising assignments including 
private equity, infrastructure, real estate, credit, secondary and direct opportunities. Prior to joining Atlantic-Pacific 
Capital, Inc., Mr. Ng worked at Deloitte & Touche Corporate Finance Limited and Deloitte & Touche LLP focusing on 
corporate finance, audit and financial due diligence services. He graduated from the London School of Economics 
and Political Science with a Master of Accounting and Finance and the Queen Mary College – University of London 
with a Bachelor of Economics (Honours). He is also a Fellow Chartered Accountant (ICAEW), Certified Public 
Accountant (HKICPA) and Chartered Financial Analyst® (CFA Institute).

Save as disclosed under the section headed “Share Option Scheme” in the “Report of Directors”, Mr. Ng was 
not interested in any underlying Shares within the meaning of Part XV of the SFO. Save as disclosed in this 
annual report, Mr. Ng does not have any relationship with any other Directors, senior management, Controlling 
Shareholders or Substantial Shareholders.

Mr. YU Yang (“Mr. Yu”), aged 45, was appointed as an INED on 30 August 2018, and is primarily responsible for 
supervising and providing independent judgement to the Board. Mr. Yu has extensive experience in initial public 
offerings, project refinancing and asset restructuring. Mr. Yu graduated from Jilin University in July 1995 with a 
bachelor degree in technical economics. In July 2004, he graduated from Nankai University with a master degree 
in financial management. He was registered as a certified public accountant in August 2008. Since August 2004 to 
June 2005, he served as the finance manager in CCID Group where he was in charge of the finance department 
of CCID Consulting Company Limited (a company listed on the GEM of the Stock Exchange; stock code: 08235). 
From July 2005 to August 2012, he worked for Beijing Zhongyongxin Certified Public Accountants Co., Ltd.（北京
中永信會計師事務所有限公司）, where he served as an audit assistant and a project manager. From August 2012 
to June 2015, he worked for Beijing Zhongdeheng Certified Public Accountants Co., Ltd（北京中德恒會計師事
務所有限公司）as a project manager. From June 2015 to October 2016, he worked for Xinghua Certified Public 
Accountants (Special General Partnership) as a project manager.

Mr. Yu joined Zhongxinghua Certified Public Accountant LLP and served as a partner since 2016 and he is currently 
serving as the leading partner of regional business division number nine.

Save as disclosed under the section headed “Share Option Scheme” in the “Report of Directors”, Mr. Yu was 
not interested in any underlying Shares within the meaning of Part XV of the SFO. Save as disclosed in this 
annual report, Mr. Yu does not have any relationship with any other Directors, senior management, Controlling 
Shareholders or Substantial Shareholders.
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The Board is pleased to present the Corporate Governance Report of the Company for the year ended 31 March 
2021.

Corporate Governance Practice

The Group is committed to promote good corporate governance and has set up procedures on corporate 
governance that comply with the principles in the Corporate Governance Code (the “CG Code”) as set out in 
Appendix 14 to the Rules Governing the Listing of Securities on the Stock Exchange of Hong Kong Limited 
(“Listing Rules”). During the Reporting Period, except as disclosed in this report, the Company had complied 
with all code provisions in the CG Code and had adopted most of the recommended best practices set out in the 
CG Code except for as at the date of this report, the Company does not have a Chairman to discharge the duties 
as required under CG Code A.2.2 to A.2.9. The daily operation and management of the Company are monitored 
by the Executive Director as well as the Senior Management of the Company. The Board is of the view that 
although there is no Chairman, the balance of power and authority is ensured by the operation of the Board, which 
comprises experienced individuals who would meet from time to time to discuss issues affecting the operation of 
the Company and the Group. This arrangement can still enable the Company to make and implement decisions 
promptly, and thus achieve the Company’s objectives efficiently and effectively in response to the changing 
environment. The Company will, at the appropriate time, arrange for the election of a Chairman.

Corporate Governance Report
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BOARD OF DIRECTORS

Board Composition

During the Reporting Period and up to the date of this report, the composition of the Board is as follows:

Executive Director

Ms. Wong Emilie Hoi Yan

Non-executive Directors

Mr. Chen Shuai
Ms. Wong Jacqueline Yue Yee
Ms. Wong Michelle Yatyee
Mr. Wong Ming Bun David

Independent Non-executive Directors 

Mr. Lie Chi Wing
Mr. Ng Wing Chung Vincent
Mr. Yu Yang

Responsibilities of the Board

The Board is responsible for setting the Company’s corporate strategies, supervising and monitoring its 
implementation, review of the overall operations and financial performance of the Group, and making decisions in 
major aspects of the Company’s matters including but not limited to the approval and adoption of key policies, 
material transactions, business plans, annual budgets, internal control, risk management, annual and interim 
results.

The Board is entrusted with the overall responsibility of monitoring the Company’s business and affairs and 
ultimately responsible for the management of the Company which is delegated to the Chairman, the Chief 
Executive Officer and the senior managements (the “Senior Management”) of the Company. The roles of the 
Chairman and the Chief Executive Officer are separated.

The Chairman is responsible for the proposing and reviewing of corporate directions and strategies of the Group, 
while the Chief Executive Officer works with the Senior Management team to ensure proper implementation of 
these strategies throughout the development of the Group. The Chief Executive Officer and Senior Management are 
responsible for the day-to-day operations of the Group under the leadership of the Chairman.

Ms. Wong Emilie Hoi Yan is currently the Chief Executive Officer, while the position of the Chairman remains vacant. 
The daily operation and management of the Company is monitored by the Executive Director as well as the Senior 
Management. The Board is of the view that although there is no Chairman, the balance of power and authority is 
ensured by the operation of the Board, which comprises experienced individuals who would meet from time to 
time to discuss issues affecting the operation of the Company and the Group. This arrangement can still enable 
the Company to make and implement decisions promptly, and thus achieve the Company’s objectives efficiently 
and effectively in response to the changing environment. The Company will, at the appropriate time, arrange for the 
election of a Chairman.

The Board received from each of the INEDs a written annual confirmation of his/her independence in compliance 
with guidelines set out in Rule 3.13 of the Listing Rules. Each of the INEDs will inform the Company in writing as 
soon as practicable if there is any change of circumstances which may affect his/her independence. The Company 
is of the view that all INEDs meet the independence guidelines as set out in Rule 3.13 of the Listing Rules and are 
independent in accordance with the terms of the guidelines.

The biographical information of the Directors and the relationships among the Directors are set out in the section 
headed “Biographies of Directors” on pages 5 to 7 of this annual report.
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Non-executive Directors

Each of the Non-executive Directors is appointed for a specific term which may be extended as each of the Non-
executive Directors and the Company may agree, unless previously terminated in accordance with the terms and 
conditions of the relevant letter of appointment or director’s service contract. 

Pursuant to the amended and restated memorandum and articles of association of the Company as adopted by 
a special resolution passed on 18 December 2015 ( the “Articles”), at each annual general meeting one-third of 
the Directors for the time being, shall retire from office by rotation provided that every Director (including those 
appointed for a specific term) shall be subject to retirement by rotation at least once every three years. A retiring 
Director shall be eligible for re-election.

Board Meetings and Attendance

In accordance with Appendix 14 to the Listing Rules, Code Provision A.1.1 prescribes that at least four regular 
Board meetings should be held each year at approximately quarterly intervals with active participation from the 
majority of the Directors, either in person or through other electronic means of communication.

During the Reporting Period, the Company did not hold any extraordinary general meetings (“EGM”).

During the Reporting Period, the Board held five regular Board meetings and one annual general meeting (“AGM”).

During the Reporting Period, the record of each Director attended/being eligible to attend, at the Board meetings, 
general meetings and committee meetings are set out below:

Directors

Regular
Board

Meeting AGM EGM
Audit

Committee
Nomination
Committee

Remuneration
Committee

Risk
Management

Committee

Executive Director
Ms. Wong Emilie Hoi Yan 5/5 1/1 N/A N/A N/A N/A 1/1

Non-executive Directors
Mr. Chen Shuai 5/5 1/1 N/A 4/4 1/1 N/A N/A
Ms. Wong Jacqueline Yue Yee 5/5 1/1 N/A N/A N/A N/A N/A
Ms. Wong Michelle Yatyee 5/5 1/1 N/A N/A 1/1 N/A 1/1
Mr. Wong Ming Bun David 5/5 1/1 N/A 4/4 N/A N/A 1/1

Independent Non-executive  
Directors

Mr. Lie Chi Wing 5/5 1/1 N/A 4/4 1/1 N/A N/A
Mr. Ng Wing Chung Vincent 5/5 1/1 N/A 4/4 1/1 N/A 1/1
Mr. Yu Yang 4/5 1/1 N/A 4/4 1/1 N/A 1/1

The Board having considered the attendance records of the Directors is satisfied that each Director spends 
sufficient time performing his/her responsibilities.
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Induction and Continuous Professional Development

The Company encourages all Directors to participate in continuous professional development to further enhance 
and refresh their knowledge and skills, as well as to receive updates on developments in corporate governance 
practices. In addition, every newly appointed Director is provided with a package comprising the induction 
materials such as the duties and responsibilities of directors under the Listing Rules and Chapter 622 of the Laws 
of Hong Kong (Hong Kong Companies Ordinance), guidelines for directors issued by the Companies Registry of 
Hong Kong, legal and other new regulatory requirements and the governance policies of the Company. During the 
Reporting Period, no Directors were appointed.

The Directors received the following training for the year ended 31 March 2021 (based on the records provided by 
the Directors):

Directors

Reading materials/
regulatory updates/

management 
monthly updates

Attending
seminars

Executive Director
Ms. Wong Emilie Hoi Yan ✓ ✓

Non-executive Directors
Mr. Chen Shuai ✓ ✓

Ms. Wong Jacqueline Yue Yee ✓ ✓

Ms. Wong Michelle Yatyee ✓ ✓

Mr. Wong Ming Bun David ✓ ✓

Independent Non-executive Directors
Mr. Lie Chi Wing ✓ ✓

Mr. Ng Wing Chung Vincent ✓ ✓

Mr. Yu Yang ✓ ✓

Directors’ Securities Transactions

The Company has adopted the Model Code for Securities Transactions by Directors of Listed Issuers (the “Model 
Code”) as set out in Appendix 10 to the Listing Rules as its own code of conduct regarding securities transactions 
by Directors. The Company has made specific enquiries with all of the Directors, each of whom has confirmed that 
he/she has, throughout the Reporting Period, complied with the required standards set out therein.

Directors’ and officers’ Insurance

The Directors and officers are indemnified under a directors’ and officers’ liability insurance against any liability 
incurred by them in discharge of their duties while holding office as the Directors and officers of the Company. The 
Directors and officers shall not be indemnified where there is any fraud, breach of duty or breach of trust proven 
against them.
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Directors’ Remuneration

The remuneration of Directors have been determined by the Board for the year ended 31 March 2021 with 
reference to their respective duties and responsibilities within the Group and the benchmarks from similar positions 
and prevailing market conditions.

The remuneration paid to and/or entitled by each of the Directors for the year ended 31 March 2021 is set out 
below:

Name of Directors
Directors’

Fee

Retirement
benefit scheme
contributions

Other 
emoluments

mainly 
salaries and

other benefits

Equity-settled
share-based

payments Total
HK$’000 HK$’000 HK$’000 HK$’000 HK$’000

For the year ended 31 March 2021

Executive Director:
Ms. Wong Emilie Hoi Yan (Note) – 18 1,032 33 1,083

Non-executive Directors:
Mr. Chen Shuai 120 – – – 120
Ms. Wong Jacqueline Yue Yee 120 – – 33 153
Ms. Wong Michelle Yatyee 120 – – 33 153
Mr. Wong Ming Bun David 120 – – 335 455

Independent Non-executive Directors:
Mr. Lie Chi Wing 120 – – 2 122
Mr. Ng Wing Chung Vincent 120 – – 2 122
Mr. Yu Yang 120 – – 2 122

840 18 1,032 440 2,330

Note: Ms. Wong Emilie Hoi Yan’s emoluments disclosed above include those for services rendered by her as the Chief Executive 
Officer.
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Board Diversity Policy

On 18 December 2015, the Company adopted the board diversity policy (the “Board Diversity Policy”) which 
sets out the approach to achieve diversity on the Board in order to enhance quality of its performance. On 2 
May 2019, the Company has adopted a series of terms of reference for Board committees in compliance with 
the regulations contained in the Companies Law of the Cayman Islands, the Listing Rules and the Articles. The 
Company recognizes and embraces the benefits of having a diverse Board and sees increasing diversity at the 
Board level as an essential element in maintaining the Company’s competitive advantage. Pursuant to the Board 
Diversity Policy, the Nomination Committee will review annually the structure, size and composition of the Board 
and where appropriate, make recommendations on changes to the Board to complement the Company’s corporate 
strategy and to ensure that the Board maintains a balanced diverse profile. In reviewing and assessing the Board 
composition, its diversity has been considered from a number of aspects, including but not limited to gender, age, 
cultural and education background, professional qualifications, skills, knowledge, industry and regional experience. 
The Company aims to maintain an appropriate balance of diverse perspectives that are relevant to the Company’s 
business growth and is also committed to ensuring that recruitment and selection practices at all levels (from the 
Board downwards) are appropriately structured so that a diverse range of candidates are considered. The Board 
may adopt and/or amend from time to time as applicable such perspectives that are appropriate to the Company’s 
business and the Board succession planning as applicable.

BOARD COMMITTEES

The Company established four Board committees on 18 December 2015, namely the Audit Committee, the 
Nomination Committee, the Remuneration Committee and the Risk Management Committee. The terms of 
reference of the Audit Committee, the Nomination Committee, the Remuneration Committee and the Risk 
Management Committee are posted on the websites of the Company and the Stock Exchange.

Audit Committee

The Audit Committee was established on 18 December 2015. On 2 May 2019, the Company has adopted a terms 
of reference of the Audit Committee in compliance with the regulations contained in the Companies Law of the 
Cayman Islands, the Listing Rules and the Articles. The primary duties of the Audit Committee during the year 
included but not limited to reviewing the Group’s financial information, overseeing the Group’s financial reporting 
system and internal control procedures, risk management system and maintaining relationship with the Group’s 
external auditor and providing recommendations to the Board. As at the date of this report, the Audit Committee 
consisted of two Non-executive Directors: Mr. Chen Shuai and Mr. Wong Ming Bun David, and three INEDs: Mr. Lie 
Chi Wing, Mr. Ng Wing Chung Vincent and Mr. Yu Yang. The chairman of the Audit Committee was Mr. Yu Yang.

During the Reporting Period, three meetings of the Audit Committee, the management of the Company and the 
external auditor of the Company were held to review the accounting principles and policies adopted by the Group, 
the financial reporting matters, the interim and annual results of the Group for the Reporting Period and proposed 
adoption of the same by the Directors. One meeting of the Audit Committee was held to review the terms and 
conditions of an agreed upon procedures engagement provided by the external auditor of the Company and 
proposed adoption of the same by the Directors. The attendance records are set out under the section headed 
“Board Meetings and Attendance” of this report.
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Nomination Committee

The Nomination Committee was established by the Board on 18 December, 2015. On 2 May 2019, the Company 
has adopted a director nomination policy in compliance with the CG Code (the “Director Nomination Policy”). The 
Board has delegated its authority and duties for matters relating to selection and appointment of Directors to the 
Nomination Committee of the Company. During the year, the Nomination Committee was responsible for the setting 
of the criteria and process in the nomination and appointment of Directors, ensuring the Board has a balance 
of skills and diversity of perspectives appropriate to the Company and to ensure the continuity and appropriate 
leadership in the Board. The Director Nomination Policy sets out the factors for assessing the suitability and the 
potential contribution to the Board of a proposed candidate, including but not limited to the following:

• character and integrity;

• qualifications including professional qualifications, skills, knowledge and experience that are relevant to the 
Company’s business and corporate strategy;

• diversity in all aspects, including but not limited to gender, age (18 years or above), cultural and educational 
background, ethnicity, professional experience, skills, knowledge and length of service;

• requirements of Independent Non-executive Directors on the Board and independence of the proposed 
Independent Non-executive Directors in accordance with the Listing Rules; and

• commitment in respect of available time and relevant interest to discharge duties as a member of the Board 
and/or Board committee(s) of the Company.

Any nomination of directors will be reviewed by the Nomination Committee. Upon considering a candidate suitable 
for the directorship after having regard to the above selection criteria, the Nomination Committee will approve 
the recommendation to the Board for appointment. After due consideration, the Board confirms to appoint the 
candidate to fill a vacancy or as an addition to the Board.

As at the date of this report, the Nomination Committee consisted of, two Non-executive Directors: Mr. Chen Shuai 
and Ms. Wong Michelle Yatyee, and three INEDs: Mr. Lie Chi Wing, Mr. Ng Wing Chung Vincent and Mr. Yu Yang. 
The chairman of the Nomination Committee was Mr. Ng Wing Chung Vincent.

During the Reporting Period, one meeting of the Nomination Committee was held to among other matters, make 
recommendations to the Board for the re-election of retiring Directors be proposed for shareholders’ approval in 
the AGM; and to review the structure, size and composition of the Board. The attendance records are set out under 
the section headed “Board Meetings and Attendance” of this report.

Remuneration Committee

The Remuneration Committee was established by the Board on 18 December 2015 with written terms of reference 
in compliance with the Listing Rules and the CG Code. The primary duties of the Remuneration Committee during 
the year included but are not limited to regularly monitoring the remuneration of all the Directors and the Senior 
Management to ensure that the levels of their remuneration and compensation are appropriate, to assess the 
performance of executive directors and to approve the terms of executive directors’ service contracts and to 
make recommendations to the Board on the remuneration packages of individual executive directors and senior 
management. As at the date of this report, the Remuneration Committee consisted of two Non-executive Directors: 
Mr. Chen Shuai and Ms. Wong Michelle Yatyee and three INEDs: Mr. Lie Chi Wing, Mr. Ng Wing Chung Vincent and 
Mr. Yu Yang. The chairman of the Remuneration Committee was Mr. Ng Wing Chung Vincent.

During the Reporting Period, the Company did not hold meeting of the Remuneration Committee and the primary 
duties of the Remuneration Committee have been discharged by the Board as a whole during the year.
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Risk Management Committee

The Risk Management Committee was established by the Board on 18 December 2015. The primary duties of the 
Risk Management Committee during the year were to formulate and monitor the implementation of our major risk 
management policies and systems, ensure necessary measures are adopted by the Senior Management to identify, 
evaluate, measure, detect, control and mitigate risks and conduct regular review on the risk management reports 
submitted by the Senior Management. It is also in charge of reviewing the feasibility, risk prevention and mitigation 
measures of finance leasing projects larger than RMB100.0 million and other risk-related issues in our operations 
that may have a material impact on our business. As at the date of this report, the Risk Management Committee 
consisted of one Executive Director: Ms. Wong Emilie Hoi Yan; two Non-executive Directors: Ms. Wong Michelle 
Yatyee and Mr. Wong Ming Bun David; and two INEDs: Mr. Ng Wing Chung Vincent and Mr. Yu Yang. The chairman 
of the Risk Management Committee was Ms. Wong Emilie Hoi Yan.

During the Reporting Period, one meeting of the Risk Management Committee was held which among other 
matters, to review and make recommendation to the Board regarding a proposed finance lease arrangement. The 
attendance records are set out under the section headed “Board Meetings and Attendance” in this report.

The Board is responsible for performing the functions set out in Code Provision D.3.1 of the CG Code.

During the year, the Board had reviewed once the Company’s corporate governance policies and practices, training 
and continuous professional development of directors and senior management, the Company’s policies and 
practices on compliance with legal and regulatory requirements, the compliance of the Model Code and written 
employee guidelines of the Company, and the Company’s compliance with the CG Code and disclosure in this 
Corporate Governance Report.

EXTERNAL AUDITOR AND AUDITOR’S REMUNERATION

The Company has appointed BDO Limited (“BDO”) as the Company’s external auditor during the year. The Audit 
Committee has been notified of the scope of work, nature and the service charges of the audit and non-audit 
services performed by BDO and considered that these audit and non-audit services have no adverse effect on the 
independence of BDO. There was no disagreement between the Board and the Audit Committee on the selection, 
appointment, resignation or dismissal of BDO.

The remuneration paid/payable to BDO in respect of audit and non-audit services for the year ended 31 March 2021 
is set out below:

Amount of Fees
Nature of services provided by BDO HK$’000

Audit fee for final results 1,030
Non-audit services (mainly including professional fees in relation to a major transaction and 

agreed-upon procedures on interim financial information) 1,270

Total 2,300

DIRECTORS’ AND AUDITORS’ RESPONSIBILITY OF FINANCIAL REPORTING

The Directors acknowledge their responsibilities for the preparation of the financial statements of the Group and 
ensure that the financial statements are in accordance with statutory requirements and applicable accounting 
standards. The Directors also ensure the timely publication of the financial statements of the Group. The statement 
of the independent auditor of the Company about their reporting responsibilities on the consolidated financial 
statements is set out in the independent auditor’s report of this annual report on pages 54 to 57.
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RISK MANAGEMENT AND INTERNAL CONTROL

The Board has the responsibility to maintain an effective risk management and internal control system in order to 
safeguard the Group’s assets and investments and the Shareholders’ interest. The Board reviews the effectiveness 
of the Group’s risk management and internal control system at least once a year. During the Reporting Period, 
the Company engaged an external independent internal audit service provider to review the effectiveness of the 
Group’s internal control system on financial reporting, operation and compliance. The review plan was presented to 
the Audit Committee and the Board, with strengths and recommendations for improvements. No significant risk and 
control deficiency was identified.

The relevant assessment and review reports have been considered by the Audit Committee and the Board for 
assessing the effectiveness of the risk management and internal control systems. The Audit Committee has also 
reviewed the adequacy of resources, staff qualifications and experience, training programs and budget of the 
Group’s accounting, internal audit and financial reporting functions performed by the external independent internal 
audit service provider. The Board, through the reviews made by the external independent internal audit service 
provider and the recommendations of the Audit Committee, concluded that the risk management and internal 
control systems are effective and adequate for the Group.

COMPANY SECRETARY

On 21 February 2020, Ms. Cheng Choi Ha (“Ms. Cheng”) was appointed as the company secretary of the 
Company. Ms. Cheng is currently a manager of the Corporate Services Division of Tricor Services Limited. 
Ms. Cheng is a Chartered Secretary, a chartered governance professional and an Associate of both The Hong 
Kong Institute of Chartered Secretaries and The Institute of Chartered Secretaries and Administrators in the 
United Kingdom. Ms. Cheng holds a Bachelor’s degree in Business Administration and has over 10 years of 
experience in the corporate secretarial field. She has been providing professional corporate services to Hong Kong 
listed companies, as well as multinational, private and offshore companies. Ms. Cheng is a core team member 
for providing company secretarial services to various companies listed on the Stock Exchange. Ms. Cheng had 
complied with Rule 3.29 of the Listing Rules to take no less than 15 hours of relevant professional training during 
the Reporting Period.

CONSTITUTIONAL DOCUMENTS

During the Reporting Period, the Company had not made any changes to its Articles.

SHAREHOLDERS’ COMMUNICATION POLICY

The Company adopted a shareholders’ communication policy on 18 December 2015. Under this policy, the 
Company communicates with its Shareholders and the investment community through various means: timely 
publication of the Company’s interim and annual financial reports, annual general meetings and other general 
meetings that may be convened, making available all the disclosures submitted to the Stock Exchange and any of 
the Company’s corporate communications and publications on the Company’s website.

The annual general meeting and other general meetings of the Company are the primary forums of communication 
between Shareholders and the Board. The Company shall provide Shareholders with relevant information on the 
resolution(s) proposed at a general meeting in a timely manner in accordance with the Articles and the Listing 
Rules. The Company encourages Shareholders to attend and participate in general meetings. The members of the 
Board and other chairmen of all the Board committees, or their delegates, and the external auditor will attend the 
annual general meeting to answer any questions from Shareholders.
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SHAREHOLDERS’ RIGHTS

– Procedures for Shareholders to convene EGMs

Pursuant to Article 64 of the Articles, one or more shareholder(s) holding not less than 10% of the paid-up 
capital of the Company carrying the right of voting at general meetings of the Company shall at all times 
have the right, by written requisition to the Board or the Company Secretary, to require an EGM to be called 
by the Board for the transaction of any business specified in such requisition (the “Requisition”).

The Requisition shall be made in writing by post to the Company’s principal place of business in Hong Kong 
at Room 1306, 13/F, Tai Yau Building, No. 181 Johnston Road, Wan Chai, Hong Kong for the attention of the 
Board.

Pursuant to Article 64 of the Articles, the Board is required to hold the EGM within two months after the 
deposit of the Requisition.

Pursuant to Article 64 of the Articles, if the Board fails to proceed to convene the general meeting within 
21 days of the deposit of the Requisition, the requisitionist(s) himself (themselves) may do so in the same 
manner, and all reasonable expenses incurred by the requisitionist(s) as a result of the failure of the Board 
shall be reimbursed to the requisitionist(s) by the Company.

– Procedures for Shareholders to raise enquiries

Shareholders shall direct their questions about their shareholdings, share transfer, share registration and 
payment of dividend to Tricor Investor Services Limited (“Tricor”), the Company’s Hong Kong branch share 
registrar. Contact details of Tricor are set out below:

Address: Level 54, Hopewell Centre, 183 Queen’s Road East, Hong Kong
Email: is-enquiries@hk.tricorglobal.com
Telephone: +852 2980 1333
Fax: +852 2810 8185

Shareholders may at any time raise any enquiries in respect of the Company at the following designated 
contacts, correspondence address, email address and enquiry hotline of the Company:

Address: Room 1306, 13/F, Tai Yau Building, No. 181 Johnston Road, Wan Chai, Hong Kong
Email: info@chinarzfh.com
Telephone: +852 2899 2682
Fax: +852 2899 2029
Attention: Board of Directors

Shareholders are reminded to lodge their enquiries together with their detailed contact information as they 
deem appropriate for prompt responses from the Company.

As a channel to promote effective communication, the Group maintains a website at www.chinarzfh.com 
where information about the Company’s announcements, financial information and other information are 
posted.

– Procedures for Shareholders to put through proposals at general meetings

Pursuant to Article 113 of the Articles, no person, other than a retiring Director, shall, unless recommended 
by the Board for election, be eligible for election to the office of Director at any general meeting, unless 
notice in writing of the intention to propose that person for election as a Director and notice in writing by that 
person of his willingness to be elected shall have been lodged at the Company’s headquarter. The period for 
lodgment of the notices required under the Articles will commence no earlier than the day after the dispatch 
of the notice of the general meeting appointed for such election and end no later than seven days prior to 
the date of such general meeting and the minimum length of the period during which such notices to the 
Company may be given will be at least seven days.
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The Group is principally engaged in the provision of financial leasing services in the PRC in which we are with 
the longest operating history amongst the Hubei-based finance lease companies. The Group mainly offers two 
categories of financial leasing services to our customers; namely: (i) sales and leaseback; and (ii) direct financial 
leasing. In addition, value-added services such as advisory and consultancy services are also offered to our 
finance lease customers. Consistent with past years, the Group values the importance of sustainable development 
and is committed to responsible operation and value creation for stakeholders and community by integrating 
environmental and social factors into its management considerations. Sustainability strategy is based on the 
compliance of the legal requirements applicable to us and opinions from stakeholders and is crucial for the Group’s 
growth in order to achieve business excellence and enhance capabilities for long-term competitiveness. The Group 
has established and implemented various policies to manage and monitor the risks related to the environment, 
employment, operating practices and the community. Details of the management’s approaches to sustainable 
development and performance of different areas are illustrated in this Environmental, Social and Governance 
(“ESG”) report.

ABOUT THIS REPORT

The Group is pleased to present our annual ESG report for year ended 31 March 2021 to provide an overview of 
our commitment in achieving ESG goals through our sustainability pillars and information on the policies, practices 
implemented and performance.

Preparation Basis and Scope

This ESG report is prepared in accordance with ESG Reporting Guide set out by Appendix 27 of the Main Board 
Listing Rules and has complied with the “comply or explain” provisions. It summarizes the Group’s initiatives and 
performance in respect of corporate social responsibility during the Reporting Period, covering the Group’s core 
businesses – provision of financial leasing services in the PRC. Certain key performance indicators (“KPIs”), which 
is considered as material by the Group during the Reporting Period (as defined herein), are disclosed in the ESG 
report. The Group will continue to optimize and improve the disclosure of KPIs. This ESG report shall be published 
both in Chinese and English. Should there be any discrepancy between the Chinese and the English versions, the 
English version shall prevail.

Reporting Period

This Report demonstrates our sustainability initiatives and performance during the Reporting Period.

Contact Information

The Group welcomes your feedback on this ESG report for our sustainability initiatives. Please contact us by email 
to info@chinarzfh.com.

Environmental, Social and Governance Report
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STAKEHOLDERS ENGAGEMENT

Consistent with past years, stakeholders engagement is essential to the formulation of strategies for sustainable 
development. It allows the Group to understand risks and opportunities. The Group has identified key stakeholders 
that are important to our business and established various channels for communication.

Stakeholder Expectation Engagement channel

Government – To comply with the laws
– Proper tax payment
– Promote regional economic 

development and employment

– On-site inspections and checks
– Research and discussion through work 

conferences, work reports preparation 
and submission for approval

– Published information on HKEXnews 
website, such as annual, interim 
reports and announcements

– Company’s website

Shareholders 
and Investors

– Low risk
– Return on investment
– Information disclosure and 

transparency
– Protection of interests and fair 

treatment of shareholders

– Annual general meeting and other 
shareholder meetings

– Published information on HKEXnews 
website, such as annual, interim 
reports and announcements

– Meeting with investors and analysts

Employees – Safeguard the rights and interests of 
employees

– Healthy and safe working  
environment

– Career development opportunities
– Self-actualization
– Health and safety

– Conference
– Trainings, seminars, briefing sessions
– Cultural and sport activities
– Newsletters
– Intranet and emails

Customers – Safe and high-quality products
– Stable relationship
– Information transparency
– Integrity
– Business ethics

– Website, brochures and published 
information on HKEXnews website, 
such as annual, interim reports and 
announcements

– Email and customer service hotline
– Feedback forms
– Regular meeting

Suppliers/Partners – Long-term partnership
– Honest cooperation
– Fairness, openness
– Information resources sharing
– Risk reduction

– Business meetings, supplier 
conferences, phone calls, interviews

– Regular meeting
– Review and assessment
– Tendering process

Peer/Industry 
Associations

– Experience sharing
– Corporations
– Fair competition

– Industry conference
– Site visits

Financial Institution – Compliance with laws and regulations
– Information disclosure

– Consulting
– Reports

Public and communities – Community involvement
– Social responsibilities

– Volunteering
– Charity and social investment
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Key measures to response to the corresponding stakeholders are as follows:

1. Government

The Group has operated, and managed according to laws and regulations, strengthened safety 
management, cooperated with government during the government’s supervision, inspection and evaluation 
(if any), and actively undertook social responsibilities.

2. Shareholders and Investors

The Group has issued notices of general meetings and proposed resolutions according to regulations and 
disclosed the Group’s information by publishing announcements/circulars and periodic reports. The Group 
has carried out different forms of investor activities with an aim to improve investors’ recognition, such as 
results briefing. The Group also disclosed its contact details on its website and in reports and ensured all 
communication channels were available and effective.

3. Employees

The Group has provided a healthy and safe working environment, developed a fair mechanism for 
promotion, provided communication platforms for employees and organized employee activities.

4. Customers

The Group has developed customer feedback system in order to evaluate the services provided.

5. Suppliers/Partners

The Group has invited tenders publicly to select best suppliers and contractors, performed contracts 
according to agreements, enhanced daily communication, and established long-term cooperation with 
quality suppliers and contractors.

6. Peer/Industry Association

The Group has stuck to fair play, cooperated with peers to realize win-win, shared experiences and attended 
about a dozen of seminars of the industry so as to promote sustainable development of the industry.

7. Financial Institution

The Group has complied with regulatory requirements in a strict manner, and has disclosed and reported 
required information in a timely and accurate manner according to law.

8. Public and communities

The Group has given priority to local people seeking jobs from the Group so as to promote community 
building and development and maintained communication channels open between the Group and the 
communities.
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ENVIRONMENTAL ASPECTS

Emissions

The Group is committed to the continuous improvement for our environmental sustainability. We strive to achieve 
our responsibility to reduce the impact of our operations and minimize the consumption of resources and material 
during the course of our business.

The Group provides services which mainly involves operations within office premises. The Group’s “Environmental 
Office Practices” encompasses our general approach towards controlling environmental impacts of office activities. 
The Group’s most significant environmental impacts are greenhouse gas (“GHG”) emissions from the electricity 
consumption in our offices. The Group’s businesses are mostly carried out locally in offices in the PRC and Hong 
Kong. In line with our policy to minimize emissions, the Group has implemented energy saving practices which 
are mentioned in the section of “Use of Resources” in order to reduce the GHG emissions. Moreover, offices are 
equipped with audio conferencing facilities to minimize the need for face to face meetings, keeping business 
travelling to a minimum and currently only a small percentage of employees travel for business. There are no 
relevant laws and regulations applicable to our business on this aspect. During the Reporting Period, the Group is 
not aware of any material violation in all applicable environmental laws and regulations.

During the Reporting Period, the GHG emissions from the operation of the Group is set out below:

GHG Emissions

2021 2020

Type of GHG emissions

Equivalent 
CO2 emission 

(tonnes)

Equivalent 
CO2 emission 

(tonnes)

Scope 1 Direct emissions N/A N/A
Scope 2 Indirect emissions 17.09 15.69
Total 17.09 15.69
Intensity 0.74 tonnes/employee 0.63 tonnes/employee

Note:

1) The calculation of the greenhouse gas is based on the “Corporate Accounting and Reporting Standard” from greenhouse 

gas protocol.

Scope 1: Direct emission from the vehicles that is owned by the Group

Scope 2: Indirect emissions from the generation of purchased electricity consumed by the Group

2) In light of the outbreak of COVID-19 starting from January 2020, consumption of electricity in 2020 was reduced due to 

temporary office closure in the PRC.

Use of Resources

The Group places high priority on the efficient use of resources. As stipulated in the Group’s “Environmental Office 
Practice”, the Group strives to improve the efficient use of natural resources, such as minimize waste streams and 
emissions and implement effective recycling program. Practical measures are implemented as follows:

Paper Saving

We encourage the employees to use both sides of paper and use suitable font size/shrinkage mode to minimise 
pages, if possible. Besides, electronic media is recommended for circulation/communication, to minimize using 
paper.

During the Reporting Period, the total amount of paper consumed in offices is 0.40 tonnes (2020: 0.42 tonnes).
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Electricity Conservation

Electrical appliances should be set as energy saving mode where possible. For computers, the idle automatically 
mode is 20 minutes or less. The room temperature should be set at an appropriate temperature. Also, power supply 
should be switched off when they are not in use.

Energy consumption by the Group during the Reporting Period is set out below:

Energy Consumption

2021 2020

Type of energy
Energy consumed 

(kWh)
Energy consumed 

(kWh)

Purchased electricity 23,201 21,392
Energy intensity 1,008.74 kWh/employee 855.70 kWh/employee

Note:

In light of the outbreak of COVID-19 starting from January 2020, consumption of electricity in 2020 was reduced due to temporary 

office closure in the PRC.

Green Pantry

Employees are encouraged to use reusable cutleries, cups and glasses and environmentally friendly cleaning 
products (e.g. biodegradable or phosphate free detergent, refillable soap, etc.). The Group did not encounter any 
problems in sourcing water that is fit for purpose. Water rate charges do not form a separate item in the rent, yet 
the Group encourages staff to reduce water wastage, for example, by not running water taps while cleaning their 
lunch boxes in the pantry.

Materials Re-use and Stationery Conservation

Non-hazardous waste, which is mainly office waste, is handled by the property management company, which 
charges for its services. Waste papers are used as fillers for packing and/or reduce using fillers, if possible. 
Employees should handle and store materials carefully to reduce breakage and wastage. Boxes/fillers/other 
materials are reused for packaging/storage/delivery. Environmentally friendly stationery is suggested to use. Cord 
binder, envelopes and other materials or stationery should be reused until worn out.

During the Reporting Period, the group generated/consumed no significant air emissions, discharge into water and 
land, hazardous waste, non-hazardous waste, water and packaging materials due to its business nature.

The Environment and Natural Resources

According to the Group’s “Environmental Policy”, the Group raises staff’s awareness on environmental issues 
through education and training and enlist employees’ support in improving the Group’s performance, promotion 
of environmental awareness amongst our customers, business partners and shareholders and support community 
activities in relation to environmental protection and sustainability and evaluate regularly and monitor past and 
present business activities impacting upon health, safety and environmental matters. With the integration of 
policies mentioned in sections “Emissions” and “Use of Resources”, the Group strives to minimize the impacts to 
the environment and natural resources.
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SOCIAL ASPECTS

Employment and Labour Practice

Employment

Being in the financial services industry, our employees are our most valuable asset that drives the long-term 
development and sustainability of the Group. The Group has established and implemented a set of human 
resources management policies and procedures in place with the aim to provide an ideal working environment 
to its staff in order to comply with local employment laws and regulations, such as the Employment Ordinance 
in Hong Kong and the Labour Law of the PRC. The Group’s Staff Handbook sets out the Group’s standards for 
compensation and dismissal, recruitment and promotion, working hours, rest periods, equal opportunity, diversity, 
anti-discrimination, and other benefits and welfare. The remuneration management aims to attract potential 
employees and motivate current staff. Employees receive social welfare benefits and other benefits. All employees 
are treated equally and their employment, remuneration and promotion opportunities will not be affected by their 
nationality, race, age, religion and marital status.

We provide competitive and attractive remuneration package to reward and retain our employees. The package 
includes basic salary, allowance, Mandatory Provident Fund (MPF) and required social security benefits to variable 
incentive-based remuneration such as discretionary bonus.

During the Reporting Period, no non-compliance regarding employment brought against the Group or its 
employees were noted.

Below is a detailed breakdown of our employees by gender and age group as at 31 March 2021 and 31 March 
2020:

2021 2020
Number 
of staff % of total

Number 
of staff % of total

By gender
Male 13 57 14 56
Female 10 43 11 44

Total 23 100 25 100

By age group
30 or below 3 13 3 12
31-40 5 22 7 28
41-50 13 56 13 52
51 or above 2 9 2 8

Total 23 100 25 100
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Below is a detailed breakdown of our employees turnover rate by gender and age group as at 31 March 2021 and 
31 March 2020:

2021 2020

Turnover rate by gender
Male 15% 14%
Female 30% 9%

Turnover rate by age group
30 or below 33% 33%
31-40 80% Nil
41-50 8% Nil
51 or above Nil 100%

Health and Safety

In the daily operation of the Group, there is no significant operational hazards as compared to industries like 
manufacturing and mining etc. The Group aims to enhance wellness of the employees by providing a harmonious 
and comfortable environment. The Group has adhered with related laws and regulations, such as Occupational 
Safety and Health Ordinance in Hong Kong and Law of the PRC on the Prevention and Control of Occupational 
Diseases. As stipulated in the Group’s “Guidelines on Occupational Health and Safety”, the Group have 
implemented measure in the following aspects:

Lighting

Good lighting conditions in the workplace enable staff to see comfortably and avoid possible danger. Fluorescent 
lights recessed into the false ceiling and fitted with louver or diffuser to control glare and distribution of light. Blinds 
or curtains should be used to prevent glare and control the lighting level. Anti-glare filters can be used if necessary 
to reduce screen reflection and improve visual quality of the display.

Indoor Air Quality and Ventilation

Smoking is prohibited in all workplace and indoor area of the office. The indoor temperature and humidity are 
controlled in an optimum level to make the workplace more comfortable and help preventing bacteria from 
flourishing. Air outlets to be cleaned regularly in the office to reduce the dust level of indoor air and to increase 
efficiency of the ventilation system.

Office Furniture/Working Posture

Staff are provided with adjustable chairs to allow them to adjust the seat height. To enable staff having a 
comfortable work office, staff should assume correct seated posture so as to avoid musculoskeletal injury.

Office Equipment

Carbon powder used in photocopiers may contain harmful substances. During photocopying, it is necessary 
to place the cover properly to prevent eye irritation from the strong light. All office equipment will be properly 
maintained in good conditions as well.

Manual Work Handling

Heavy manual work handling relates to moving items either by lifting, lowering, carrying, pushing or pulling. These 
works should be minimized in the office. Risk assessment should be conducted for unavoidable manual handling 
operations before it is undertaken.
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Others Safety Measures

All the fire safety equipment are checked regularly and complied with the fire safety rules in the office. First aid box 
has been placed in the office. The items as required to be provided in the first aid box are in compliance with the 
regulation of Occupational Safety and Health Council as issued by the Labour Department.

During the Reporting Period, there was no related work injuries or fatalities and no legal case regarding health and 
safety brought against the Group.

Development and Training

The Group provides comprehensive training to employees based on the Group’s Staff Handbook and other related 
internal policies. The Group provides diversified on-the-job training to employees. Orientation training is offered to 
new employee, such as skills and attitude training. Orientation training allows new employees to familiarize with 
the corporate culture and the background of the company. Skills and attitude trainings are offered to employees 
depending on their job duties and the development of the Company. Continuous assessment is conducted to keep 
track on the performance of employees.

The training covers a wide variety of topics in order to cater the needs for employees from different departments. 
For instance, management skills and filling procedures are covered. The Group believes the development of 
employees are crucial to the sustainable development of the business. The Group will enhance the training system 
in order to improve the personal development of employees.

Labour Standards

According to the Group’s “Code of Conduct” in the Staff Handbook, the Group strives to provide a fair, equal 
opportunity, respectful and pleasant work environment to all employees. All practices are designed to ensure that 
all individuals of the corporation are recruited, hired, assigned, trained, promoted, compensated and retained on 
the basis of their qualifications, experience and/or the terms and conditions, and treated equally in these respects 
without regard to race, color, creed, religion, sex, sexual orientation, age, marital status, national origin, disability 
or family status. The Group requires that the office environment be free from all forms of discrimination and 
harassment. There is no significant risk related to recruitment of child labour and forced labour as the Group’s 
business requires employee to be equipped with specialized skills and to have adequate educational background. 
The Group has been in strict compliance with the requirements of the legislation on anti-discrimination in Hong 
Kong, including the Sex Discrimination Ordinance, the Disability Discrimination Ordinance, the Family Status 
Discrimination Ordinance and the Race Discrimination Ordinance. During the Reporting Period, no non-compliance 
regarding labour standard brought against the Group or its employees were noted.

Operating Practices

Supply Chain Management

The Group’s business nature is service-orientated. Therefore, we have relatively fewer suppliers and a less 
complicated supply chain. Our main suppliers are only involved in third-party services providers such as 
information technology service, property management service, advertising service, legal and consulting service, 
office equipment, printing and stationery suppliers. The Group has established “Environmental Purchasing Policy” 
to support the purchase of recycled and environmentally preferred products in order to minimize environmental 
impacts relating to our work.

The Group has encouraged our suppliers to use recycled paper to print our annual reports and interim reports and 
opted the use of sustainable and energy saving electronic appliance with grade 1 energy label in our procurement.

During engagement with a new supplier such as a new system and software vendor selection, we have policies 
and procedures to ensure that the new system is compatible with our current system to minimise undesirable 
replacements and reassure the new system security by multiple rounds of testing. To provide a fair overview on 
supplier selection, we opt to select more than one supplier for comparison purpose during the primary engagement 
process.
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Product Responsibility

Providing efficient and high-quality services to customers are the utmost concern for the Group. Our aim is for 
our customers to have confidence in our services and sufficient information to make informed choices. Therefore, 
the Group has a set of policies and procedures to oversee and manage issues related to quality management, 
complaints handling and customer data information protection and privacy.

Quality Management

The Group has established a “Quality Management Policy” with aims to add value for our clients through 
our business processes that support the services offered. To enhance our service quality, the Group collects 
customers’ feedback on services provided and reports to management by designated staff. The Group has also 
issued operational manual for its staff and organised training sessions to familiarize its staff with the standard 
operational procedures. The Group is committed to provide quality service to its customers through improving the 
administrative ability of its senior management and the functional capability of its operational staff.

Customer Data Protection and Privacy

The Group upholds a belief that information security and privacy are the key principle for operation. According 
to the Group’s Staff Handbook, employees are required to protect all the customers’ information. Confidential 
information of customers cannot be used in unauthorized business activities or otherwise employee may subject to 
disciplinary action.

During the Reporting Period, there were no significant non-compliance with relevant national laws and regulations 
in respect of health and safety, advertising, labelling and privacy matters relating to services provided by the Group 
and methods of redress.

Anti-Corruption

In the Group’s “Staff Handbook”, one of the most important rules that the Group requires all employees to avoid 
any relationship, influence, interest or activity that could compromise the best interest of the Group. As part of their 
responsibility, all employees should avoid any position whereby their judgment, decision or influence on behalf of 
the Group may give rise to their personal interests, finance and/or other means of interest. They should ensure that 
dealings with clients, suppliers, contractors, job applicants, colleagues or any other third party are met with good 
judgment, careful observance of all applicable laws and regulations, and the highest standard of integrity at all 
times.

As stipulated in the Group’s “Whistleblowing Policy”, employees should raise concerns about any suspected 
misconduct or malpractice verbally or in writing. The Group will make every effort to treat all reporting in a strictly 
confidential manner. The identity of the employee making any report and/or complaint will not be disclosed 
without such employee’s consent, unless the Group is legally obliged to reveal the employee’s identity and other 
information. In cases of suspected corruption or other criminal offences, a report will be made to the Independent 
Commission Against Corruption (ICAC) or the appropriate authorities.

The Group has been in strict compliance with the Prevention of Bribery Ordinance in Hong Kong, the Anti-Unfair 
Competition Law of the PRC and the Anti-Money Laundering Law of the PRC. During the Reporting Period, there 
was no any legal case regarding corrupt practices brought against the Group or its employees.
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Community

Community Investment

As a socially responsible company, the Group is committed to understanding the needs of the communities in 
which we operate. The Group also actively encourages employees to join various community activities which aim 
to promote exercise and a healthy lifestyle. The Group has organised a wide variety of sports and art activities for 
employees, which creates an energetic working environment, strengthens cohesion and a sense of belonging of 
employees.

Furthermore, the Group has made donation of HK$1.0 million to The Community Chest of Hong Kong in 2016. In 
past years, the Group had also contributed to the sustainable development of the community by serving with care 
and concern for the underprivileged through the activities as follows:

• Donation of toys and clothes to church

• Support of local restaurants in their campaigns for donation of meals to elderlies living alone
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The Board of the Company, hereby presents the annual report and the audited consolidated financial statements of 
the Group for the Reporting Period to the Shareholders.

PRINCIPAL ACTIVITIES

The Group is engaged in the provision of financial leasing services in Hubei Province, in the PRC, with the longest 
operating history amongst Hubei-based financial leasing companies.

RESULTS AND DIVIDENDS

The results of the Group for the year ended 31 March 2021 are set out in the consolidated statement of profit or 
loss and other comprehensive income in this annual report.

The Board does not recommend the payment of any final dividend for the year ended 31 March 2021.

SUMMARY OF FINANCIAL INFORMATION

A summary of the financial results and the assets and liabilities of the Group for the last five financial years, as 
extracted from the published audited consolidated financial statements, are set out on page 3. This summary does 
not form part of the audited consolidated financial statements.

PROPERTY, PLANT AND EQUIPMENT

Movements in equipment are set out in note 16 to the consolidated financial statements.

BANK BORROWINGS

Particulars of bank borrowings of the Group as at 31 March 2021 are set out in note 23 to the consolidated 
financial statements.

PURCHASE, SALE OR REDEMPTION OF THE COMPANY’S LISTED SECURITIES

Neither the Company, nor any of its subsidiaries has purchased, sold or redeemed any of the Company’s listed 
securities during the year ended 31 March 2021.

RESERVES AND DISTRIBUTABLE RESERVES

As at 31 March 2021, details of movements in the reserves of the Group are set out in the consolidated statement 
of changes in equity on page 61. As at 31 March 2021, the Company has no reserves available for distribution to 
the Shareholders (2020: nil).

SHARE CAPITAL

Details of movements in the Company’s share capital during the year ended 31 March 2021 are set out in note 24 
to the consolidated financial statements.

Report of Directors
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MAJOR CUSTOMERS AND SUPPLIERS

During the Reporting Period, our five largest customers accounted for approximately 68.8% (2020: approximately 
75.0%) of the Group’s total revenue and our largest customer accounted for approximately 39.2% (2020: 
approximately 23.0%) of our total revenue.

Due to the nature of our business, we do not have any significant contribution from major suppliers during the 
normal course of our business. However, we relied substantially on interest-bearing bank loans to operate our 
business and we have established strong relationships with various national and local commercial banks.

To the best knowledge of the Directors, none of the Directors or their respective close associates as defined in the 
Listing Rules or any of the Shareholders of the Company who own more than 5% of the Company’s issued shares 
has any interest in any of the Group’s five largest customers or suppliers or lenders.

DIRECTORS AND SERVICE CONTRACTS

During the Reporting Period and up to the date of this report, the composition of the Board are as follows:

Executive Director

Ms. Wong Emilie Hoi Yan

Non-executive Directors

Mr. Chen Shuai
Ms. Wong Jacqueline Yue Yee
Ms. Wong Michelle Yatyee
Mr. Wong Ming Bun David

Independent Non-executive Directors

Mr. Lie Chi Wing
Mr. Ng Wing Chung Vincent
Mr. Yu Yang

The biographical details of the Directors are set out on pages 5 to 7 of this annual report.

Each of the Directors is subject to retirement by rotation in accordance with the Articles. Pursuant to Article 108 of 
the Articles, Mr. Chen Shuai, Ms. Wong Michelle Yatyee and Mr. Wong Ming Bun David shall retire from the Board 
at the forthcoming 2021 annual general meeting (the “2021 AGM”). All of the retiring Directors, being eligible and 
offering themselves for re-election at the 2021 AGM. Details of the retiring Directors standing for re-election are set 
out in the circular to the Shareholders sent together with this annual report.

The Company has received, from each of the Independent Non-executive Director, a confirmation of independence 
pursuant to Rule 3.13 of the Listing Rules. The Board considers all of the Independent Non-executive Directors are 
independent.

None of the Directors being proposed for re-election or election at the 2021 AGM has or will have a service 
contract with the Company or any of its subsidiaries which is not determinable by the Group within one year 
without payment of compensation, other than statutory compensation.

Details of Directors’ emoluments by name are set out in note 13 to the consolidated financial statements.
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INDUSTRY OVERVIEW
In recent years, due to the slowdown of economic growth, the tightening of the financial regulatory environment, 
and the intensified competition in the industry, the growth in number of new finance lease establishments and 
operations have slowed down significantly. In addition, other factors such as the weakening of leased assets 
quality, increase of financing costs, decrease in profit margin, increase of non-performing loans and overall 
provisions level for the strengthening of risk resistance have also affected many companies within the industry. 
On the other hand, as a result of the continuous improvement in the regulatory environment and the continuous 
promotion of national policy, the operating environment of the financial leasing industry as a whole is improving. In 
comparison with the financial leasing market in developed countries, PRC’s financial leasing industry is still in the 
primary development stage, with a large market capacity and many potentials.

Nonetheless, the operating environment of the financial leasing industry continues to be cautiously optimized. 
While the decrease in profit margin and asset quality had put pressure on industry growth, it also aids to enforce 
higher requirements on risk management as well as stronger professionalism amongst leasing companies. As 
a result, financial leasing companies’ interest-earning capability and profitability are both showing a trend of 
differentiation. Furthermore, as the regulatory functions of financial leasing companies are placed under the China 
Banking and Insurance Regulatory Commission, the financial leasing industry will be under stricter governmental 
monitoring and tighter regulations, and it is anticipated that it will result in the effective prevention of financial risk 
and credit risk in the industry.

BUSINESS OVERVIEW

The Group is principally engaged in the business of provision of financial leasing services in Hubei Province, 
PRC. The Group mainly offers two categories of financial leasing services to our customers, namely: (i) sales and 
leaseback; and (ii) direct financial leasing. In addition, value-added services such as advisory and consultancy 
services are also offered to our finance lease customers.

FINANCIAL REVIEW

The following discussion and analysis pertain to the financial information of the Group.

Revenue

We have one principal business segment, which is the provision of financial leasing services in the PRC and in 
turn generates interest income and finance income. Lease contracts are generally priced at a market interest 
rate, determined with reference to the prevailing interest rates for commercial lending plus a premium. We record 
both types of income as a single item in the consolidated financial statements. The Group realized revenue for 
the Reporting Period of approximately HK$15.8 million, representing a decrease of approximately 42.4% from 
approximately HK$27.5 million as recorded in the previous corresponding period ended 31 March 2020. This 
was mainly due to the Group’s prudent and conservative strategy to promote business during the continued 
static economy in order to safeguard our asset with additional emphasis placed in the recovery of past due lease 
receivables and receivables arising from sale and leaseback arrangements and enhancement of internal control.

Staff costs

Staff costs of the Group amounted to approximately HK$6.0 million for the Reporting Period, representing a 
decrease of approximately 7.6% from approximately HK$6.5 million recorded in the previous corresponding period 
ended 31 March 2020. This was mainly due to the decrease in the number of staff.

Other operating expenses

During the Reporting Period, other operating expenses of the Group amounted to approximately HK$11.1 million, 
representing an increase of approximately 7.2% from approximately HK$10.3 million recorded in the previous 
corresponding period ended 31 March 2020. This was mainly due to the increase in operating expenses in relation 
to collection of lease receivables and receivables arising from sale and leaseback arrangements.
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Impairment losses on financial assets

The impairment losses on financial assets is approximately HK$98.0 million for the Reporting Period, representing 
an increase of approximately HK$49.8 million from approximately HK$48.2 million recorded in the previous 
corresponding period ended 31 March 2020.

Other income

Other income of the Group mainly comprised of reversal of over provision for other operating expenses, bank 
interest income and government subsidies. During the Reporting Period, the other income of the Group amounted 
to approximately HK$1.1 million, representing an increase of approximately 167.2% from approximately HK$0.4 
million recorded in the previous corresponding period ended 31 March 2020. Such increase was mainly due to 
the increase in government subsidies accounted for as financial support and reversal of over-provision for other 
operating expenses in prior years. 

Finance costs

Finance costs of the Group comprised of interest on bank borrowings, interest on lease liabilities and imputed 
interest expense on interest-free deposits from customers. During the Reporting Period, finance costs of the Group 
amounted to approximately HK$29.6 million, representing a decrease of approximately 1.6% from approximately 
HK$30.1 million in the previous corresponding period ended 31 March 2020. This was mainly due to the decrease 
in the principal amount of bank borrowings.

As at 31 March 2021, the outstanding bank borrowings guaranteed by related parties amount to approximately 
HK$659.8 million (2020: approximately HK$614.3 million) and the guarantee fee paid to the related parties during 
the Reporting Period amount to nil (2020: nil). For further information, please refer to the section headed “Exempt 
Continuing Connected Transactions”, sub-section headed “The Bank Guarantee Agreements” on page 45 of this 
report.

Loss for the year

Loss for the year ended 31 March 2021 of the Company amounted to approximately HK$121.4 million, 
representing an increase of approximately 84.7% from approximately HK$65.7 million loss recorded in the previous 
corresponding period ended 31 March 2020. This was mainly due to the increase in the recognition of provision for 
the impairment losses on financial assets.

Dividend

The Company has adopted a dividend policy on payment of dividends. The Company does not have any pre-
determined dividend payout ratio. Depending on the financial conditions of the Company and the Group and the 
conditions and factors as set out in the dividend policy, dividends may be proposed and/or declared by the Board 
during a financial year and any final dividend for a financial year will be subject to the shareholders’ approval.

The Board does not recommend the payment of any final dividend for the year ended 31 March 2021.

Liquidity, financial resources and capital resources

As at 31 March 2021, the aggregate sum of the Group’s bank balances and cash and short-term bank deposits 
amounted to approximately HK$12.3 million (2020: approximately HK$21.6 million), representing a decrease of 
approximately HK$9.3 million compared to 31 March 2020. This was due to a combination of multiple effects 
including the Group’s conservative strategy to promote business during the economic downturn resulting in a 
decrease in business volume, slow-down in the collection of past due financial assets, and thus an increase in the 
use of internal funding. The working capital (current assets less current liabilities) of the Group were approximately 
HK$10.8 million (2020: approximately HK$398.2 million) and capital deficiency was approximately HK$110.0 million 
(2020: total equity of approximately HK$15.3 million) respectively.

As at 31 March 2021, the Group’s bank borrowings with maturity within one year amounted to approximately 
HK$443.7 million (2020: approximately HK$107.8 million) and the Group’s bank borrowings with maturity exceeded 
one year amounted to approximately HK$216.1 million (2020: approximately HK$506.4 million). For particulars 
of bank borrowings of the Group as at 31 March 2021, please refer to note 23 to the consolidated financial 
statements.

Our gearing ratio (total bank borrowings/total equity) as at 31 March 2021 was not applicable (2020: approximately 
4019.5%).
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Subsequent to 31 March 2021, the Group obtained a letter of undertaking from a company under the joint control 
of certain major shareholders of the Company (the “Related Party”), three independent parties and a director of 
a subsidiary of the Company. Pursuant to the undertaking, the Related Party agreed to take up: (i) certain lease 
receivables and receivables arising from sale and leaseback arrangements; and (ii) certain bank borrowings of 
the Group. As at 31 March 2021, the relevant lease receivables and receivables arising from sale and leaseback 
arrangements were approximately HK$288.7 million while the relevant bank borrowings were approximately 
HK$507.0 million. The implementation of the undertaking by the Related Party is dependent on the approval from 
the relevant bank for the transfer of bank borrowings. Pursuant to the Company’s announcement on 28 June 2021, 
the Group is applying to the relevant bank for the transfer of bank borrowings to the Related Party. For illustrative 
purposes only, based on the figures as at 31 March 2021, should the Group be able to complete the derecognise 
and transfer those receivables and bank borrowings according to Hong Kong Financial Reporting Standards, the 
Group’s consolidated net assets would increase by HK$218.3 million.

Loan receivable

Loan receivable represents an unsecured loan to a third party of HK$10.0 million (2020: HK$10.0 million) carrying 
interest at 10% per annum. The loan receivable was past due as at 31 March 2021 and the impairment loss 
allowance is approximately HK$5.3 million (2020: approximately HK$4.3 million).

Charges on group assets

As at 31 March 2021, the Group’s bank borrowings with carrying amount of approximately HK$634.9 million (2020: 
approximately HK$131.8 million) were granted by banks in the PRC and secured by charges over receivables 
arising from sale and leaseback arrangements of the Group with an aggregate carrying value of approximately 
HK$368.2 million (2020: approximately HK$120.4 million).

As at 31 March 2021, the Group’s bank borrowings with carrying amount of approximately HK$24.9 million 
(2020: approximately HK$25.3 million) were secured by bank deposits of approximately HK$1.2 million (2020: 
approximately HK$1.1 million).

Capital commitments

As at 31 March 2021, the Group has no capital commitments (2020: nil).

Employees and remuneration policy

As at 31 March 2021, the Group had 23 staff located in both Hong Kong and the PRC, and their remuneration is 
determined based on the employees’ performance, experience and prevailing industry practices. The Group also 
offers other benefits such as medical insurance, retirement schemes and training subsidies to our employees. 
In addition, the Group has set up a share option scheme for the purpose of providing incentives to the eligible 
employees.

In Hong Kong, we participate in a Mandatory Provident Fund Scheme (“MPF Scheme”) established under the 
Mandatory Provident Fund Schemes Ordinance (Cap 485 of the Laws of Hong Kong). The assets of the MPF 
Scheme are held separately from those of the Group and are administered by an independent trustee. Under the 
MPF Scheme, the Group and its employees are each required to make a contribution to the MPF Scheme at 5% of 
the employees’ relevant monthly income subject to a cap, which is currently set at HK$1,500.

PRC employees are covered by the mandatory social security schemes operated by the PRC government. The 
Group is required by the PRC laws to contribute a certain percentage of payroll cost to the retirement benefits 
scheme to fund the benefits. There were no forfeited contributions utilised to offset employers’ contributions for the 
Reporting Period.
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RISK FACTORS AND MANAGEMENT

Credit risk of small medium enterprises (“SMEs”) in the PRC

Our business is positioned to fulfill the financing needs of SMEs and the sustainability of our business and future 
growth depend on our ability to manage our credit risk effectively. As such, any deterioration in our asset quality 
or collectability of our finance lease receivables and receivables arising from sale and leaseback agreements could 
adversely affect our business, prospects and financial conditions. Due to the continuation of downturn economic 
pressure in the PRC, it is inevitable for some corporations to be faced with a greater risk on default, especially 
the SMEs. As most SMEs customers in general have less financial resources in terms of capital or fund raising 
capability when comparing to larger corporations, and as such they are more likely to be adversely affected by 
changes in market conditions, which poses increasing risk of default to our Group. Our management has been 
monitoring the changes of our customers’ credit risk, and we had, in fact, in some cases requested additional 
collaterals and pledged assets from customers as a form of additional precautionary measures. We will continue 
to closely monitor the value of the related leased assets and the collaterals securing our leases in order to take 
effective additional precautionary measures to minimize our risk of exposure to such credit risks.

Risk relating to funding sources and interest rate

Our business operation relies substantially on interest-bearing bank loans. We have incurred, and expect to 
continue to incur, a significant amount of interest expenses relating to our borrowings from various banks. 
Accordingly, fluctuations in interest rates have affected and will continue to directly and immediately affect our 
financing costs and, ultimately, our profitability and results of operations. However, our management will continue 
to closely monitor the changes in interest rate and in turn charge to our clients by the same amount in order to 
minimize our risk of exposure to such interest rate risks.

Foreign exchange risk

Even though substantially all of our revenue and expenses are denominated in Renminbi (“RMB”), fluctuations 
in exchange rates may nonetheless in the future adversely affect the value of our net assets and earnings. In 
particular, distributions to holders of the Shares are made in Hong Kong dollars. The Group currently does not have 
a foreign exchange hedging policy to eliminate the currency exposures. However, our management will continue 
to monitor the related foreign currency exposure closely and will consider appropriate measures should the need 
arise.

CONTINGENT LIABILITIES

As at 31 March 2021, the Group did not have any material contingent liabilities (2020: nil).

FUTURE PLANS FOR MATERIAL INVESTMENTS AND CAPITAL ASSETS

The Group from time to time is exploring investment opportunities that would benefit the Shareholders as a whole. 
Saved as disclosed in this annual report, the Group did not have other material acquisition or disposals by the 
Group during the Reporting Period and up to the date of this annual report.

EVENTS AFTER THE PERIOD UNDER REVIEW

Renewal of certain bank borrowings

On 21 June 2021, Rongzhong International Financial Leasing Co., Ltd.（融眾國際融資租賃有限公司）(“Rongzhong 
PRC”), a wholly own subsidiary of the Company, entered into 12 loan extension agreements with the relevant bank 
to extend the repayment dates of certain bank borrowings with aggregate loan amount of approximately RMB195.2 
million (equivalent to approximately HK$232.4 million). In addition, Rongzhong PRC is applying to the relevant bank 
for the assignment of certain bank borrowings to a company under the join control of certain major shareholders of 
the Company.

For details, please refer to the Company’s announcement dated 28 June 2021.
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Supplemental agreement in relation to the acquisition of 51% equity interest in the target company

On 29 June 2021, the Company (as the “Purchaser”), entered into a second supplemental agreement (the 
“Second Supplemental Agreement”) with Alpha Focus International Limited, Mr. Rozario Bobby Roberto, Ever 
Art Investment Limited, Forever Management Limited (collectively as the “Vendors”), Mr. Pan Weisi, Mr. Li Jianhui, 
Silver Creation Investments Limited and Solomon Glory Limited (collectively the “SPA Parties”) to amend and 
supplement certain terms of the sale and purchase agreement dated 6 June 2020 entered into between the 
Purchaser and the Vendors (the “SPA”) (as supplemented by the first supplemental agreement dated 29 March 
2021 entered into between the SPA Parties (the “First Supplemental Agreement”)).

For details, please refer to the Company’s announcement dated 29 June 2021.

Circular on the major and connected transaction in relation to the acquisition of 51% equity interest in the 
target company and the EGM notice

On 30 June 2021, the Company issued a circular for the purpose of providing with, among other things, (i) 
further details of the SPA (as supplemented by the First Supplemental Agreement and the Second Supplemental 
Agreement) and the transactions contemplated thereunder; (ii) the letter from the independent board committee to 
the independent shareholders; (iii) the letter of advice from the independent financial adviser to the independent 
board committee and the independent shareholders; (iv) financial information of the Group and the target group; (v) 
the unaudited pro forma financial information on the enlarged group; (vi) EGM notice; and (vii) other information as 
required under the Listing Rules.

For details, please refer to the Company’s circular dated 30 June 2021.

Impact of COVID-19 outbreak to the Group

The financial year 2020/2021 continued to be extremely difficult and challenging for the Group, due to the outbreak 
of COVID-19 the Group had been forced to suspend its main operations in Wuhan and Hubei Province of the PRC 
for months in 2020. While certain restrictions that were previously imposed had been gradually lifted and the Group 
is making its best effort to restore its normal operation after months of lock down, the Group’s operation and 
productivity is still subject to material challenges and uncertainties.

In addition, the continuously worsening in the general economic environment as a result of the outbreak of the 
COVID-19 pandemic has further adversely impacted on the collectability of the lessees of the Group’s lease 
receivables and receivables arising from sale and leaseback arrangements because these lessees are mostly small 
and medium enterprises in the Hubei Province of the PRC.

Latest status of the Group

The Group has been actively reviewing and processing loan applications including finance leases and entrusted 
loan applications within and outside of Hubei Province. The Board is confident that some of the pipeline businesses 
will eventually be signed and generate new revenue for the Group. Up to the date of this annual report, pipeline 
businesses being actively evaluated by the Group include 2 finance lease loan applications with borrowers outside 
of Hubei Province and total loan amount of RMB154 million (equivalent to approximately HK$183 million) and 2 
entrusted loan applications with borrowers outside of Hubei Province and total loan amount of RMB1,000 million 
(equivalent to approximately HK$1,190 million).
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Although the Group has not entered into new finance lease agreement from the first quarter of 2021 and up to the 
date of this annual report, the Board would like to note that: (i) the process for a finance lease transaction may vary 
significantly from case to case depending on the amount and collaterals involved, and hence a normal transaction 
may take anywhere between 6 months to 24 months to complete; (ii) as of the end of June 2021, the Group is 
currently processing 9 finance lease loan applications in the Hubei Province with a total loan amount of RMB176 
million (equivalent to approximately HK$210 million) and 3 finance lease loan applications outside of Hubei 
Province with a total loan amount of RMB254 million (equivalent to approximately HK$302 million); (iii) the Group 
is actively considering the extension/renewal applications from 2 existing customers with a total loan amount of 
approximately RMB9 million (equivalent to approximately HK$11 million); (iv) the Group is processing 3 other cases 
with an aggregate loan amount of approximately RMB30 million (equivalent to approximately HK$36 million); and (v) 
the Group is also in an advanced stage of setting its automobile operating lease business in the PRC.

Save as disclosed above, there is no other change to the Group’s business plan regarding its finance lease 
business and the Board firmly believes that the Group’s finance lease business will turn around as and when the 
general economic environment in the PRC and the global COVID-19 epidemic gradually improve. The Group will 
also continue to manage and apply various strategies and means to recover its overdue finance lease receivables 
and take various actions including lawsuit, debt restructuring and other methods that are considered effective and 
can improve the liquidity position of the Group.

COMPLIANCE WITH THE RELEVANT LAWS AND REGULATIONS

The Group has adopted internal control to monitor the on-going compliance with relevant laws and regulations.

Under the Measures of Foreign Investment in the Leasing Industry announced by the Ministry of Commerce of the 
PRC (“MOFCOM”), foreign-invested financial leasing companies may:

i) conduct the following business:

–  financial leasing business;
–  leasing business;
–  purchase of domestic and overseas leased assets;
–  disposal of the residual value of and maintenance of leased property;
–  lease transaction consultancy and security services; and
–  other business approved by MOFCOM.

ii) carry out financial leasing activities by ways of:

–  direct leasing;
–  sub-leasing;
–  sale-leaseback;
–  leveraged leasing;
–  entrusted leasing; and
–  joint leasing.

In addition, financial leasing companies shall, according to the requirements of MOFCOM, report the relevant data 
in a timely and truthful manner through the National Finance Leasing Enterprise Management Information System 
within 15 working days after the end of each quarter, submitting:

i) the statistics on and summary of its operation in the preceding quarter; and

ii) the statistics on and summary of its operation in the preceding year.

The audited financial and accounting report for the preceding year together with appended notes thereto should 
also be submitted prior to 30 April of each year. During the year, the operating entity engaged in provision of 
financial leasing had complied with the above key statutory requirements and restrictions.
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DIRECTORS’ AND CHIEF EXECUTIVE’S INTERESTS AND SHORT POSITIONS IN SHARES AND 
UNDERLYING SHARES OR DEBENTURES

As at 31 March 2021, the interests and short positions of the Directors and the chief executive of the Company in 
the shares, underlying shares or debentures of the Company and its associated corporations (within the meaning 
of Part XV of the SFO) which were required to be notified to the Company and the Stock Exchange pursuant to 
Divisions 7 and 8 of Part XV of the SFO (including interests or short positions which they were taken or deemed to 
have under such provisions of the SFO), or which were required to be recorded in the register required to be kept 
by the Company pursuant to section 352 of the SFO, or which were required to be notified to the Company and the 
Stock Exchange pursuant to the Model Code were as follows:

Interests in ordinary shares (“Shares”) /underlying Shares of the Company

Number of Shares/underlying Shares (Note 1)

Name of 
Director

Capacity/
nature of interest

Personal 
Interest

Corporate
Interest

Other
Interest

Total 
Interest

Approximate 
% of issued 

shares

Ms. Wong Emilie Hoi Yan  
(“Ms. Emilie Wong”)

Beneficial owner 400,000
(Note 5)

(L) – – 400,000 (L) 0.1%

Mr. Chen Shuai  
(“Mr. Chen”)

– – – – – –

Ms. Wong Jacqueline Yue Yee 
(“Ms. Jacqueline Wong”)

Beneficial owner/
interest of controlled 
corporations/founder of 
a discretionary 
trust and beneficiary of 
a trust

400,000
(Note 5)

(L) 20,234,242
(Note 2)

(L) 143,805,903 
(Note 3)

(L) 164,440,145 (L) 39.86%

Beneficiary of a trust – – 38,503,380 
(Note 4)

(S) 38,503,380 (S) 9.33%

Ms. Wong Michelle Yatyee 
(“Ms. Michelle Wong”)

Beneficial owner/ 
interest of controlled 
corporations and 
beneficiary of 
a trust

400,000
(Note 5)

(L) 20,234,242
(Note 2)

(L) 143,805,903 
(Note 3)

(L) 164,440,145 (L) 39.86%

Beneficiary of a trust – – 38,503,380 
(Note 4)

(S) 38,503,380 (S) 9.33%

Mr. Wong Ming Bun David 
(“Mr. David Wong”)

Beneficial owner 4,000,000
(Note 5)

(L) – – 4,000,000 (L) 0.97%

Mr. Lie Chi Wing  
(“Mr. Lie”)

Beneficial owner 22,000
(Note 5)

(L) – – 22,000 (L) 0.01%

Mr. Ng Wing Chung Vincent 
(“Mr. Ng”)

Beneficial owner 22,000
(Note 5)

(L) – – 22,000 (L) 0.01%

Mr. Yu Yang  
(“Mr. Yu”)

Beneficial owner 22,000
(Note 5)

(L) – – 22,000 (L) 0.01%
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Notes:

1. The letters “L” and “S” denote the Directors’ long position and short position in the Shares or underlying Shares of the 

Company respectively.

2. Such interests include 10,127,176 Shares held by Legend Crown International Limited (“Legend Crown”) and 10,107,066 

Shares held by Plenty Boom Investments Limited (“Plenty Boom”). Ms. Jacqueline Wong founded the discretionary trust 

(the “Ace York Management Trust”) of which the property included the entire issued share capital of Legend Crown 

and Plenty Boom. The trustee of the Ace York Management Trust is Ace York Investment Management Limited (“Ace 

York Management”, a company owned as to 50% by Ms. Jacqueline Wong and 50% by Ms. Michelle Wong), where the 

beneficiaries are Ms. Jacqueline Wong and Ms. Michelle Wong and their respective issue(s). By virtue of the above, Ms. 

Jacqueline Wong, Ms. Michelle Wong and Ace York Management are taken to have a duty of disclosure in relation to the 

said Shares held by Legend Crown and Plenty Boom under the SFO.

3. Such Shares include 143,805,903 Shares held by Perfect Honour Limited (“Perfect Honour”), which is a wholly owned 

subsidiary of Goldbond Group Holdings Limited (“Goldbond”). Mr. Wong Charles Yu Lung (“Mr. Wong”) and Mrs. Wong 

Fang Pik Chun (“Mrs. Wong”), parents of Ms. Michelle Wong and Ms. Jacqueline Wong established the Allied Luck Trust 

(as defined below) and Ms. Michelle Wong and Ms. Jacqueline Wong established the Aceyork Trust (as defined below), 

where both Ms. Jacqueline Wong and Ms. Michelle Wong and their respective issue(s) are the beneficiaries of such 

trusts. The assets of the Allied Luck Trust include all the Goldbond’s shares held by Allied Luck Trading Limited (“Allied 

Luck”, a company wholly-owned by the Allied Luck Trust), being approximately 30.99% of the total issued share capital 

of Goldbond, (the “Allied Luck Trust”), and the assets of the Aceyork Trust included all the Goldbond’s shares held by 

Ace Solomon Investments Limited (“Ace Solomon”) being approximately 26.06% of the total issued share capital of 

Goldbond. Ace Solomon is a company jointly owned by Allied Golden Investment Limited (“Allied Golden”) and Aceyork 

Investment Limited (“Aceyork”), which (in each of the cases of Allied Golden and Aceyork) in turn are wholly-owned by 

the Aceyork Trust (the “Aceyork Trust”). Ms. Jacqueline Wong and Ms. Michelle Wong being beneficiaries of the Allied 

Luck Trust and the Aceyork Trust, in turn, holds approximately 34.86% of the issued share capital of the Company 

through Perfect Honour. By virtue of the above, Ms. Jacqueline Wong and Ms. Michelle Wong are taken to have a duty of 

disclosure in relation to the said Shares held by Perfect Honour under the SFO.

4. On 3 May 2018, Solomon Glory Limited (“Solomon Glory”), which is a wholly owned subsidiary of Goldbond, as lender, 

enforced its rights under the security of a loan agreement pursuant to which Yong Hua International Limited (“Yong Hua”) 

has charged its assets including the shares (the “Charged Shares”) of the Company held by Yong Hua by way of floating 

charge, which has been crystalised into a fixed charge. On 2 July 2019, the Board was notified that an order was issued 

on 13 March 2019 by The High Court of The Hong Kong Special Administrative Region to the effect that, among others, 

the Charged Shares shall be sold by China Galaxy International Securities (Hong Kong) Co., Limited (as agent) provided 

that each of the Charged Shares shall not be sold at a price of more than 10% discount to the average closing prices 

of the shares of the Company as quoted on The Stock Exchange of Hong Kong Limited for the previous 10 consecutive 

trading days prior to the date of sale of the Charged Shares or any of them.

5. These interests represent the interests in underlying Shares in respect of the share options granted by the Company to 

these directors.

6. As at 31 March 2021, there was a total of 412,509,000 Shares in issue.

Save as disclosed above, as at 31 March 2021, none of the Directors and chief executive of the Company had any 
interests or short positions in the shares, underlying shares and debentures of the Company or any associated 
corporation (within the meaning of Part XV of the SFO) which were required to be notified to the Company and 
the Stock Exchange pursuant to Divisions 7 and 8 of Part XV of the SFO (including interests or short positions 
which they were taken or deemed to have under such provisions of the SFO) or which were required, pursuant to 
section 352 of the SFO, to be entered in the register referred to therein, or which were required to be notified to the 
Company and the Stock Exchange pursuant to the Model Code.
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SUBSTANTIAL SHAREHOLDERS’ AND OTHER PERSONS’ INTERESTS AND SHORT POSITIONS IN 
SHARES AND UNDERLYING SHARES OR DEBENTURES

So far as the Directors are aware as of 31 March 2021, the following persons (other than the Directors or chief 
executive of the Company) had the following interests or short positions in the shares or underlying shares as 
recorded in the register required to be kept by the Company under section 336 of the SFO:

Interests in the Shares/underlying Shares of the Company

Name of substantial 
shareholder

Capacity/nature 
of interest

Number of Shares/
underlying Shares

(Note 1) Total Interest
Approximate % 

of issued shares

Ms. Wong Jacqueline Yue Yee  
(“Ms. Jacqueline Wong”)

(i) Beneficial owner 400,000
(Note 2)

(L)

(ii) Interest in controlled 
corporations/founder 
of a discretionary trust

20,234,242 
(Note 3)

(L)

(iii) Beneficiary of a trust 143,805,903
(Note 4)

(L) 164,440,145 (L) 39.86%

(iv) Beneficiary of a trust 38,503,380 
(Note 5)

(S) 9.33%

Ms. Wong Michelle Yatyee 
(“Ms. Michelle Wong”)

(i) Beneficial owner 400,000
(Note 2)

(L)

(ii) Interest in controlled 
corporations

20,234,242 
(Note 3)

(L)

(iii) Beneficiary of a trust 143,805,903
(Note 4)

(L) 164,440,145 (L) 39.86%

(iv) Beneficiary of a trust 38,503,380 
(Note 5)

(S) 9.33%

Mr. Wong Charles Yu Lung  
(“Mr. Wong”)

Trustee 143,805,903
(Note 4)

(L) 34.86%

Trustee 38,503,380 
(Note 5)

(S) 9.33%

Mrs. Wong Fang Pik Chun  
(“Mrs. Wong”)

Trustee 143,805,903
(Note 4)

(L) 34.86%

Trustee 38,503,380 
(Note 5)

(S) 9.33%

Goldbond Group Holdings Limited 
(“Goldbond”)

Interest in controlled 
corporation

143,805,903
(Note 4)

(L) 34.86%

Interest in controlled 
corporation

38,503,380 
(Note 5)

(S) 9.33%
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Name of substantial 
shareholder

Capacity/nature 
of interest

Number of Shares/
underlying Shares

(Note 1) Total Interest
Approximate % 

of issued shares

Perfect Honour Limited  
(“Perfect Honour”)

Beneficial owner 143,805,903 
(Note 4)

(L) 34.86%

Solomon Glory Limited 
(“Solomon Glory ”)

Having a security interest 
in shares

38,503,380
(Note 5)

(S) 9.33%

Mr. Zhao John Huan  
(“Mr. Zhao”)

Interest in controlled 
corporation

77,527,255 
(Note 6)

(L) 18.79%

Silver Creation Investments Limited 
(“Silver Creation”)

Beneficial owner 77,527,255 
(Note 6)

(L) 18.79%

Hony Capital Fund 2008, L.P.  
(“Hony Capital”)

Interest in controlled 
corporation

77,527,255 
(Note 6)

(L) 18.79%

Hony Capital Fund 2008 GP, L.P. 
(“Hony GP, L.P.”)

Interest in controlled 
corporation

77,527,255 
(Note 6)

(L) 18.79%

Hony Capital Fund 2008 GP Limited 
(“Hony GP”)

Interest in controlled 
corporation

77,527,255 
(Note 6)

(L) 18.79%

Hony Group Management Limited 
(“Hony Management”)

Interest in controlled 
corporation

77,527,255 
(Note 6)

(L) 18.79%

Hony Managing Partners Limited 
(“Hony Partners”)

Interest in controlled 
corporation

77,527,255 
(Note 6)

(L) 18.79%

Exponential Fortune Group Limited 
(“Exponential Fortune”)

Interest in controlled 
corporation

77,527,255 
(Note 6)

(L) 18.79%

Mr. Xie Xiaoqing  
(“Mr. Xie”)

Interest in controlled 
corporation

12,704,220 
(Note 7)

(L)

Interest in controlled 
corporation

38,503,380 
(Note 8)

(L) 51,207,600 (L) 12.41%

Interest in controlled 
corporation

38,503,380 
(Note 8)

(S) 9.33%

Yong Hua International Limited  
(“Yong Hua”)

Beneficial Owner 38,503,380 
(Note 8)

(L) 9.33%

Beneficial Owner 38,503,380 
(Note 8)

(S) 9.33%
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Notes:

1. The letters “L” and “S” denote a person’s/an entity’s long position and short position in the Shares or underlying Shares of 

the Company respectively.

2. These interests represent the interests in underlying shares in respect of the share options granted by the Company to 

these Substantial Shareholders.

3. Reference to the 20,234,242 Shares relates to the same block of Shares held by Legend Crown and Plenty Boom. Please 

refer to Note 2 on page 37 of this report for further details. By virtue of the above, Ms. Jacqueline Wong and Ms. Michelle 

Wong are taken to have duty of disclosure in relation to these Shares held by Legend Crown and Plenty Boom.

4. The six references to the 143,805,903 Shares relate to the same block of Shares held by Perfect Honour. Please refer to 

Note 3 on page 37 of this report for further details. By virtue of the above, Ms. Jacqueline Wong, Ms. Michelle Wong, Mr. 

Wong, Mrs. Wong, Perfect Honour and Goldbond are taken to have a duty of disclosure in relation to these Shares held by 

Perfect Honour.

5. The six references to the 38,503,380 Shares relate to the same block of Shares held by Solomon Glory. Please refer to 

Note 4 on page 37 of this report for further details. By virtue of the above, Ms. Jacqueline Wong, Ms. Michelle Wong, Mr. 

Wong, Mrs. Wong, Solomon Glory and Goldbond are taken to have a duty of disclosure in relation to these Shares held by 

Solomon Glory.

6. The eight references to the 77,527,255 Shares relate to the same block of Shares held by Silver Creation Investments 

Limited (“Silver Creation”). Silver Creation is wholly-owned by Hony Capital. Hony Capital is controlled by its sole 

general partner Hony GP, L.P., which in turn is controlled by its sole general partner, Hony GP. Hony GP is wholly-owned 

by Hony Management, which is owned as to approximately 80.00% by Hony Partners. Hony Partners is 100% owned by 

Exponential Fortune, which is a company owned as to approximately 49% by Mr. Zhao. By virtue of the above, Mr. Zhao, 

Silver Creation, Hony Capital, Hony GP, L.P., Hony GP, Hony Management, Hony Partners and Exponential Fortune are 

taken to have a duty of disclosure in relation to these Shares held by Silver Creation.

7. Such interests include 2,117,370 Shares held by Capital Grower Limited (“Capital Grower”), and 10,586,850 Shares held 

by Clifton Rise International Limited (“Clifton Rise”), which are all companies owned as to 100% by Mr. Xie. By virtue of 

the above, Mr. Xie is taken to have a duty of disclosure in relation to the said Shares held by Capital Grower and Clifton 

Rise under the SFO.

8. Such Shares are held by Yong Hua, a company owned as to 100% by Mr. Xie. Please refer to Note 4 on page 37 of this 

report for further details. By virtue of the above, Mr. Xie is taken to have a duty of disclosure in relation to the said Shares 

held by Yong Hua under the SFO.

9. As at 31 March 2021, there was a total of 412,509,000 Shares in issue.

Save as disclosed above, as at 31 March 2021, the Directors were not aware of any person who had an interest 
or short position in the Shares and the underlying Shares of the Company which would fall to be disclosed to the 
Company under the provisions of Divisions 2 and 3 of Part XV of the SFO, or which were recorded in the register 
required to be kept by the Company pursuant to section 336 of the SFO.
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SUBSIDIARIES

The name of every person who was a director of the Company’s subsidiaries (“Subsidiaries”) during the Reporting 
Period and up to the date of this report and the principal activities of the Subsidiaries were disclosed below.

Name of the Subsidiary Name of Directors Principal Activities

Rongzhong Capital Holdings Limited 
(“Rongzhong Capital”)

Wong Charles Yu Lung
Chen Shuai
Xie Xiaoqing

Investments holdings

Rongzhong International Finance Lease 
Holdings Limited (“Rongzhong HK”)

融眾國際融資租賃集團有限公司

Wong Charles Yu Lung
Chen Shuai
Xie Xiaoqing
Wong Emilie Hoi Yan

Investment holding

Rongzhong International Financial  
Leasing Co., Ltd (“Rongzhong PRC”)

融眾國際融資租賃有限公司

Chen Shuai
Nie Niu
Xie Xiaoqing
Wong Emilie Hoi Yan

Provision of financial leasing 
services

DIRECTORS’ INTERESTS IN COMPETING BUSINESS

For the year end 31 March 2021, the following Directors declared their interest in the following companies with 
business which may compete or may likely to compete, either directly or indirectly, with the business of the Group:

Name of Directors Name of Companies

Nature of Business
Considered to Compete
or Likely to Compete
with the Business
of the Group

Nature of Interest
of the Directors
in the Companies

Wong Emilie Hoi Yan Certain subsidiaries of 
Rongzhong Group Limited

Investment holding A director of certain 
subsidiaries of Rongzhong 
Group Limited

Legend Crown Investment holding A director

Plenty Boom Investment holding A director

Yancheng Goldbond Provision of non-bank 
financial services to 
SMEs in the PRC

A director and legal 
representative

Chen Shuai Hony Capital Fund 2008, 
L.P.

Private equity firm engaged 
in investment holding

Managing Director

Rongzhong Group Limited 
and its subsidiaries (Note)

Investment holding A director of Rongzhong 
Group Limited and its 
subsidiaries

Rongzhong Capital 
Investments Group Limited 
and its subsidiaries

Provision of non-bank 
financial services to SMEs 
in the PRC

A director of Rongzhong 
Capital Investments Group 
Limited and its subsidiaries
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Name of Directors Name of Companies

Nature of Business
Considered to Compete
or Likely to Compete
with the Business
of the Group

Nature of Interest
of the Directors
in the Companies

Wong Jacqueline Yue Yee Legend Crown Investment holding Having certain deemed 
interest and a director

Plenty Boom Investment holding Having certain deemed 
interest and a director

Certain subsidiaries and an 
associate of Goldbond

Provision of finance leasing 
and factoring services

A director of certain 
subsidiaries and an associate 
of Goldbond

Wong Michelle Yatyee Legend Crown Investment holding Having certain deemed 
interest and a director

Plenty Boom Investment holding Having certain deemed 
interest and a director

Goldbond and  
its subsidiaries

Provision of finance leasing 
and factoring services

A director of Goldbond  
and directors of certain of its 
subsidiaries

Wong Ming Bun David Goldbond and  
its subsidiaries

Provision of finance leasing 
and factoring services

A director of Goldbond  
and directors of certain of its 
subsidiaries

Note: As at 31 March 2021, Rongzhong Group Limited is owned as to 40% by Goldbond through Perfect Honour, 40% by 

Hony Capital through Silver Creation, approximately 12.42% by Yong Hua; approximately 3.79% by Legend Crown and 

approximately 3.79% by Plenty Boom.

As the Board is independent of the board of directors of the aforesaid companies, and none of the above Directors 
controls the Board, the Group is capable of carrying on its business independently of, and at arm’s length from, the 
businesses of the aforesaid companies.

DIRECTORS’ INTEREST IN CONTRACTS OF SIGNIFICANCE

Save as disclosed in note 29 to the consolidated financial statements, no significant contract to which the 
Company or any of its subsidiaries was a party and in which a director of the Company had material interest, 
whether directly or indirectly, subsisted at the end of the year or at any time during the year.
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Expressions used in the sections headed “Connected Persons”, “Exempt Continuing Connected Transactions”, 
“Non-Competition Deeds” and “Deed of Undertaking” shall have the same meanings given to them in the 
Company’s Prospectus dated 18 January 2016.

CONTINUING CONNECTED TRANSACTIONS

CONNECTED PERSONS

Rongzhong Group Limited

Goldbond, as our Controlling Shareholder and Hony Capital, as one of our Substantial Shareholders, are indirectly 
interested in 40.00% and 40.00% respectively of the issued share capital in Rongzhong Group. Rongzhong Group 
is therefore a joint venture of Goldbond and Hony Capital. Pursuant to the Listing Rules, Rongzhong Group, 
together with Wuhan Jinhong Investment Guarantee Company Limited 武漢金弘投資擔保有限公司 (“Wuhan 
Jinhong”), an indirect wholly-owned subsidiary of Rongzhong Group, are connected persons of the Company.

Wuhan Rongzhong Internet Technology Company Limited, Rongzhong Capital Investments Group Limited

Mr. Xie, one of the Substantial Shareholders of the Company and a director of certain subsidiaries of the Company, 
is directly interested in 100.00% and 98.21% respectively of the issued share capital of Wuhan Rongzhong Internet 
Technology Company Limited 武漢融眾網絡技術有限公司 (“Rongzhong Internet”), and Rongzhong Capital 
Investments Group Limited 融眾資本投資集團有限公司 (“Rongzhong Capital Investments”). Rongzhong Capital 
Investments (also referred to as joint venture of a major shareholder in the consolidated financial statements) 
wholly-owns Wuhan Rongzhong Investment Guarantee Company Limited 武漢欣眾融企業管理有限公司 (formerly 
known as 武漢市融眾投資擔保有限公司）(“Wuhan Rongzhong”). Pursuant to the Listing Rules, Rongzhong Internet, 
Rongzhong Capital Investments and Wuhan Rongzhong are associates of Mr. Xie and therefore are connected 
persons of the Company.
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EXEMPT CONTINUING CONNECTED TRANSACTIONS

Trademarks Licence Agreements

On 15 June 2015, Rongzhong Capital, our wholly-owned subsidiary, entered into trademarks licence agreements 
(the “Trademarks Licence Agreements” and each, a “Trademarks Licence Agreement”) with each of Rongzhong 
Group and Rongzhong Internet pursuant to which Rongzhong Group and Rongzhong Internet agreed to grant 
a licence, on a perpetual and nonexclusive basis, to Rongzhong Capital and its affiliates at a consideration of 
HK$1.00 and RMB1.00, respectively to use certain trademarks registered in their names as set out in Appendix 
IV of the Company’s Prospectus dated 18 January 2016 subject to the terms and conditions therein. During 
the term of the Trademarks Licence Agreements, Rongzhong Capital and its affiliates are entitled to use the 
trademarks listed therein as their corporate logos and for conducting any of their publicity related activities. Further, 
Rongzhong Group and Rongzhong Internet will not transfer or license or grant any rights to use the trademarks 
listed in the Trademarks Licence Agreements to any third party whose business competes or is likely to compete 
with the business of Rongzhong Capital or dispose such trademarks unless prior written consent is obtained from 
Rongzhong Capital. Where Rongzhong Group and Rongzhong Internet obtain registration of any other trademarks 
containing the words “RONGZHONG”, “RONG ZHONG”, “融眾” or “融眾” under their name, Rongzhong Group 
and Rongzhong Internet will license the use of such other registered trademarks to Rongzhong Capital and its 
affiliates by entering into a separate licence agreement with Rongzhong Capital on the same terms and conditions 
as the Trademarks Licence Agreements. The Trademarks Licence Agreements are terminable in the event that the 
trademarks listed therein have been legally transferred to Rongzhong Capital or upon the winding-up or liquidation 
of Rongzhong Capital or otherwise agreed by the parties in writing.

Finance Lease Guarantee Agreements

For all our financial leasing arrangements, in addition to the leased assets, we normally require our customers 
to provide additional securities to further secure their lease payment obligations under the finance leases, which 
include, among others, certain assets that we may not be able to register as the pledgee or mortgagee under 
the current practice of the PRC to take up as security (the “Additional Assets”) as we are a wholly-foreign 
invested financial leasing entity. In this regard, our subsidiary and main operating entity, Rongzhong PRC entered 
into (i) one finance lease guarantee supplemental agreement with Wuhan Rongzhong on 28 March 2019 and (ii) 
three finance lease guarantee agreements with Wuhan Jinhong on 13 January 2016, 30 March 2016 and 18 May 
2016 respectively, (collectively as the “Finance Lease Guarantee Agreements” and each a “Finance Lease 
Guarantee Agreement”) pursuant to which Wuhan Rongzhong and Wuhan Jinhong acted as a guarantor in favor 
of Rongzhong PRC in respect of the lease payment obligations of certain customers of Rongzhong PRC under their 
respective finance lease agreement entered into with Rongzhong PRC. In return, these customers would pledge 
their Additional Assets to Wuhan Rongzhong and Wuhan Jinhong as securities to further secure their payment 
obligations to Wuhan Rongzhong and Wuhan Jinhong under separate agreements entered into with Wuhan 
Rongzhong and Wuhan Jinhong respectively. The guarantee obligations of Wuhan Rongzhong and Wuhan Jinghong 
under the Finance Lease Guarantee Agreements shall continue for a period of two years from the date on which the 
payment obligations of the customers under the relevant finance lease agreements entered into with Rongzhong 
PRC have been fulfilled. The guarantee fees (if any) payable to Wuhan Rongzhong and Wuhan Jinhong were borne 
entirely by the customers of Rongzhong PRC.



Annual Report 2021 • China Rongzhong Financial Holdings Company Limited 45

Report of Directors
 

The Bank Guarantee Agreements

On 10 December 2019, 25 May 2020 and 21 December 2020, Mr. Xie and Rongzhong Capital Investments 
had each entered into bank guarantee agreements with certain banks (collectively as the “Bank Guarantee 
Agreements”) pursuant to which Mr. Xie and Rongzhong Capital Investments agreed to provide certain guarantees 
in favor of the banks for their grant of loans to Rongzhong PRC. The Bank Guarantee Agreements expire two years 
upon the settlement of the loans and no guarantee fee is payable by Rongzhong PRC to Mr. Xie and Rongzhong 
Capital Investments for their provision of guarantee services under the Bank Guarantee Agreements.

On 31 March 2021, Mr. Xie and Rongzhong Capital Investments had confirmed that each of Mr. Xie and Rongzhong 
Capital Investments had agreed to provide certain guarantees in favor of the banks for their grant of loans to 
Rongzhong PRC, such guarantees expire two years upon the settlement of the loans and no guarantee fee is 
payable by Rongzhong PRC to Mr. Xie and Rongzhong Capital Investments for the provision of guarantee services. 
As at 31 March 2021, Mr. Xie and Rongzhong Capital Investments have provided the following guarantees to banks 
for their grant of loans to Rongzhong PRC.

Guarantor(s)

As at 
31 March 

2021

As at 
31 March 

2020
(HK$’ million approximately)

Mr. Xie 659.8 614.3
Rongzhong Capital Investments 659.8 614.3

The Trademarks Licence Agreements, the Finance Lease Guarantee Agreements and the Bank Guarantee 
Agreements are in favorable terms to the Group and all applicable percentage ratios calculated by reference to 
Rule 14.07 of the Listing Rules are less than 0.10%. Accordingly, the Trademarks Licence Agreements, the Finance 
Lease Guarantee Agreements and the Bank Guarantee Agreements qualified as continuing connected transactions 
exempt from reporting, announcement and independent Shareholders’ approval requirements pursuant to Rule 
14A.76 of the Listing Rules.
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NON-COMPETITION DEEDS

In order to protect the Group from potential competition from our Shareholders, on 18 December 2015, the 
Company had entered into a deed of non-competition with each of the following parties respectively (collectively as 
the “Deeds of Non-Competition”):

a. Rongzhong Group (other than through a member of the Group);

b. Mr. Wong, Mrs. Wong, Legend Crown and Plenty Boom (except for Rongzhong Group and its close 
associates); and

c. Mr. Xie, Yong Hua, Clifton Rise and Capital Grower (except Rongzhong Group and its close associates),

collectively referred to as the “Covenantors” and each a “Covenantor”.

Each of the Covenantors has given an irrevocable non-competition undertaking in favour of the Company pursuant 
to which each of the Covenantors, among other matters has irrevocable and unconditionally undertaken to the 
Company on a several basis that at any time during the Relevant Period (as defined below), it shall, and shall 
procure that its subsidiaries and/or close associates:

(i) not, directly or indirectly, be interested or involved or engaged in or acquire or hold any right or interest (in 
each case whether as a director or shareholder, other than being a director or shareholder of the Group), 
partner, agent or otherwise and whether for profit, reward or otherwise) in any business which competes 
or is likely to compete directly or indirectly with the finance leasing business currently and from time to 
time engaged by the Group including but not limited to the provision of direct leasing, sale leaseback 
and financial leasing related advisory services to SMEs in the PRC (the “Restricted Activity”) (other than 
the small loan business operated by Yancheng Goldbond and Rongzhong Credit (Hubei) Limited (the 
“Rongzhong Small Loan”), unless pursuant to the exception set out below;

(ii) not to solicit any existing employee of the Group for employment by it or its subsidiaries and/or close 
associates (as applicable) (excluding members of the Group);

(iii) not, without the consent from the Company, make use of any information pertaining to the business of the 
Group which may have come to its knowledge in its capacity as our Controlling Shareholder or Director for 
any purpose of engaging, investing or participating in any Restricted Activity;

(iv) if there is any project or new business opportunity that relates to the Restricted Activity, refer such project or 
new business opportunity to the Group for consideration;

(v) not to invest or participate in any Restricted Activity unless pursuant to the exceptions set out below; and

(vi) to procure its subsidiaries and/or its close associates (as applicable) (excluding members of the Group) not 
to invest or participate in any project or business opportunity of the Restricted Activity, unless pursuant to 
the exceptions set out below.
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New business opportunity

Save for the situations as set out in the paragraphs headed “Customer referral obligation” and “Conflict check 
obligation”, each of the Covenantors has unconditionally and irrevocably undertaken to us that in the event that 
it or its subsidiaries and/or its close associates (as applicable) (other than members of the Group) (the “Offeror”) 
is given or identified or offered any business investment or commercial opportunity which directly or indirectly 
competes, or may lead to competition with the Restricted Activity (the “New Opportunities”), it will and will 
procure its subsidiaries and/or its close associates to refer the New Opportunities to us as soon as practicable in 
the following manner:

(i) each of the Covenantors is required to, and shall procure its subsidiaries and/or its close associates (as 
applicable) (other than members of the Group) to refer, or to procure the referral of, the New Opportunities 
to us, and shall give written notice to us of any New Opportunities containing all information reasonably 
necessary for us to consider whether (a) such New Opportunities would constitute competition with the 
Restricted Activity; and (b) it is in the interest of the Group and the Shareholders as a whole to pursue such 
New Opportunities, including but not limited to the nature of the New Opportunities and the details of the 
investment or acquisition costs (the “Offer Notice”); and

(ii) the Offeror will be entitled to pursue the New Opportunities only if (a) the Offeror has received a notice 
from us declining the New Opportunities; or (b) the Offeror has not received such notice from us within 10 
business days from our receipt of the Offer Notice. If there is a material change in the terms and conditions 
of the New Opportunities pursued by the Offeror, the Offeror will refer the New Opportunities as so revised to 
us in the manner as set out above.

Upon receipt of the Offer Notice, we will seek opinions and decisions from the Independent Non-executive 
Directors who and will form an independent board committee (the “Independent Board Committee”) as to 
whether (a) such New Opportunities would constitute competition with the Restricted Activity; and (b) it is in the 
interest of the Group and the Shareholders as a whole to pursue the New Opportunities.

On or about 12 June 2020, the Company received a notice (the “Notice”) issued by certain covenantors with 
reference to a deed of non-competition dated 18 December 2015 (the “Deed of Non-Competition”) containing 
particulars of two proposed acquisitions. Upon receipt of the Notice, the Company formed an independent 
board committee in accordance with the Deed of Non-competition. For details, please refer to the Company’s 
announcement dated 2 July 2020.

Right of first refusal

Where any of the Covenantors (or any of its subsidiaries and/or its close associates) (as applicable) (other than 
members of the Group) has acquired a business investment or an interest in any entity relating to the Restricted 
Activity (the “Acquired Entity”) pursuant to the paragraph headed “New business opportunity” above, the relevant 
Covenantor and/or its subsidiaries and/or its close associates (as applicable) (other than members of the Group) 
shall provide us with a right of first refusal (the “Right of First Refusal”) for a duration of one month to acquire any 
such Restricted Activity if they intend to dispose any equity interest in the Acquired Entity. Where the Independent 
Board Committee of the Company decides to waive the Right of First Refusal by way of written notice, the relevant 
Covenantor and/or its subsidiaries and/or its close associates (as applicable) may offer to sell such Restricted 
Activity to other third parties on such terms which are no more favorable than those made available to the Group. In 
deciding whether to exercise the above options, the Directors will consider various factors including the purchase 
price, the nature of the products and services and their values and benefits, as well as the benefits that they will 
bring to the Group.
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Customer referral obligation

If a significant amount of the collateral provided by any of the new customer of Rongzhong Small Loan are within 
the scope of the Permitted Leased Assets, Rongzhong Group shall procure Rongzhong Small Loan to use its 
best endeavors to conduct due diligence on the new customer before entering into any agreement with the new 
customer to check whether (i) the ownership of the collateral are capable of being transferred and (ii) the new 
customer is willing to transfer the ownership of the collateral as security for loan until repayment of loan, which 
are essential to the creation of a lessee-lessor relation under finance leasing, and if items (i) and (ii) are satisfied, 
Rongzhong Group shall procure Rongzhong Small Loan to refer the new customer to the Group by written notice 
(the “Written Notice”) and that Rongzhong Small Loan will be entitled to enter into an agreement with the new 
customer only if (a) it has received a notice from us declining to provide services to the new customer; or (b) it 
has not received such notice from us within three (3) business days from our receipt of the Written Notice (the 
“Customer Referral Obligation”).

Conflict check obligation

Rongzhong Group shall procure Rongzhong Small Loan to check the customers list provided by the Company to 
it on a monthly basis to ensure that the new customer is not one of Rongzhong PRC’s existing customers before 
entering into any agreement with the new customer. In the event that the new customer is one of Rongzhong 
PRC’s existing customers, Rongzhong Group shall procure Rongzhong Small Loan to inform us of the proposed 
transaction (including the particulars of the proposed transaction and the new customer) and that Rongzhong Small 
Loan shall refrain from entering into an agreement with the new customer until and unless the Risk Management 
Committee has completed an evaluation on the new customer and is satisfied that Rongzhong PRC is not qualified 
to provide finance leasing services to the new customer (the “Conflict Check Obligation”).

The Deeds of Non-competition shall not prevent each of the Covenantors and/or its subsidiaries and/or close 
associates (as applicable) to hold or have interest in shares or other securities in any company which conducts or is 
engaged in any Restricted Activity (the “Subject Company”) provided that:

(a) the aggregate interests or number of shares held by the Covenantor (including its subsidiaries and/or 
its close associates) (as applicable) does not exceed 5.00% of the issued share capital of the Subject 
Company; and

(b) neither the Covenantor nor its subsidiaries and/or close associates (as applicable) has board or management 
control of the Subject Company.

For the above purpose, the “Relevant Period” means the period commencing from the Listing Date and shall expire 
on the earlier of the dates below:

(i) in respect of:

(a) Mr. Wong, Mrs. Wong, Plenty Boom and Legend Crown, the date on which Mr. Wong and Mrs. Wong, 
individually or taken as a whole, cease to be our Controlling Shareholders;

(b) Mr. Xie, Yong Hua, Clifton Rise and Capital Grower, the date on which they and their respective 
subsidiaries, individually or taken as a whole, cease to be our Substantial Shareholders; and

(c) Rongzhong Group, the date on which Goldbond and Perfect Honour cease to be our Controlling 
Shareholders; or

(ii) the date on which the Shares cease to be listed on the Stock Exchange or (if applicable) other stock 
exchange.

Each of the Covenantors confirms that he/she/it has each complied with the terms of his/her/its Deed of Non-
competition respectively.
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DEED OF UNDERTAKING

Although the geographic location, approval requirements, potential customers and under the qualification of 
the currently applicable PRC laws differentiate the Group from the small loan business operated by Yancheng 
Goldbond, however, in order to ensure that there are no conflicts and competition between the business of the 
Group and Yancheng Goldbond, the Company and Goldbond have entered into a Deed of Undertaking on 18 
December 2015 pursuant to which Goldbond has irrevocably and unconditionally undertaken to the Company that 
it shall procure Yancheng Goldbond to check the customers list provided by the Company to it on a monthly basis 
to ensure that Yancheng Goldbond’s new customer is not one of Rongzhong PRC’s existing customers before 
entering into agreement with the new customer. Where the new customer is one of Rongzhong PRC’s existing 
customers, Goldbond shall procure Yancheng Goldbond to inform us of the proposed transaction (including the 
particulars of the proposed transaction and the new customer) to enable the Risk Management Committee to 
evaluate whether Rongzhong PRC is qualified to take on the new customer and the benefits of such business 
opportunities will bring to us. In the event that the Group is qualified and is interested in taking on the new 
customer, both Yancheng Goldbond and the Group may pitch to the new customer and Yancheng Goldbond is only 
entitled to enter into an agreement with the new customer if the new customer selects its service over those of 
Rongzhong PRC and or other service providers (if applicable). In the event that Rongzhong PRC is not qualified or 
is not interested in taking on the new customer, Yancheng Goldbond may proceed to enter into an agreement with 
the new customer (“Goldbond’s Conflict Check Undertaking”).

In consideration of Goldbond’s Conflict Check Undertaking, the Company has also irrevocably and unconditionally 
undertaken to Goldbond that the Company shall procure Rongzhong PRC to check the customers list provided 
by Goldbond to it on a monthly basis to ensure that Rongzhong PRC’s new customer is not one of Yancheng 
Goldbond’s existing customers before entering into any agreement with the new customer. Where the new 
customer is one of Yancheng Goldbond’s existing customers, the Company shall procure Rongzhong PRC to 
inform Goldbond of the proposed transaction (including the particulars of the proposed transaction and the new 
customer) to enable Goldbond to evaluate whether Yancheng Goldbond is qualified to take on the new customer 
and the benefits of such business opportunities will bring to Goldbond. In the event that Yancheng Goldbond is 
qualified and is interested in taking on the new customer, both Yancheng Goldbond and Rongzhong PRC may 
pitch to the new customer and Rongzhong PRC is only entitled to enter into an agreement with the new customer 
if the new customer selects its service over those of Yancheng Goldbond and or other service providers (if 
applicable). In the event that Yancheng Goldbond is not qualified or is not interested in taking on the new customer, 
Rongzhong PRC may proceed to enter into an agreement with the new customer (the “Company’s Conflict Check 
Undertaking”, together with Goldbond’s Conflict Check Undertakings, collectively referred to as the “Conflict 
Check Undertakings”).

The Conflict Check Undertakings commence from the listing date and shall expire on the earlier of the dates below:

(a) the date on which Goldbond or its subsidiaries, individually or taken as a whole, ceases to be a Controlling 
Shareholder of the Company; and

(b) the date on which the Shares cease to be listed on the Stock Exchange or (if applicable) other stock 
exchange.

Save as disclosed in this report, there has been no other transaction, arrangement or contract of significance 
subsisting during or at the end of the Reporting Period in which a Director or an entity connected with a Director is 
or was either directly or indirectly materially interested in.
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SHARE OPTION SCHEME

On 18 December 2015, the Company conditionally approved and adopted the share option scheme (the “Share 
Option Scheme”) in accordance with the provisions of Chapter 17 of the Listing Rules.

Details of the movements of share options under the Share Option Scheme during the Reporting Period were as 
follows:

Grantee
Date 

of grant
Exercise 

price

Closing 
price of 

the options 
shares 

immediately 
before the 

date of 
grant

Exercise 
period Granted

Outstanding 
at 31 March 

2021
(HK$) (HK$) (Note 2)

Director

Ms. Emilie Wong 10/2/2020 0.400 0.350 10/2/2023-
9/2/2030

– 400,000

Ms. Jacqueline Wong 10/2/2020 0.400 0.350 10/2/2023-
9/2/2030

– 400,000

Ms. Michelle Wong 10/2/2020 0.400 0.350 10/2/2023-
9/2/2030

– 400,000

Mr. David Wong 10/2/2020 0.400 0.350 10/2/2023-
9/2/2030

– 4,000,000

Mr. Lie 10/2/2020 0.400 0.350 10/2/2023-
9/2/2030

– 22,000

Mr. Ng 10/2/2020 0.400 0.350 10/2/2023-
9/2/2030

– 22,000

Mr. Yu 10/2/2020 0.400 0.350 10/2/2023-
9/2/2030

– 22,000

Eligible employees  
(in aggregate)

10/2/2020 0.400 0.350 10/2/2023-
9/2/2030

– 500,000

– 5,766,000

Notes:

1 During the Reporting Period, no share options were granted.

2 The minimum period for which a share option must be held before it can be exercised is the third anniversary of the date 
of grant.

Purpose

The purpose of the Share Option Scheme is to provide any director and full-time employees or any member of the 
Group (the “Participant(s)”) with the opportunity to acquire proprietary interests in the Company and to encourage 
Participants to work towards enhancing the value of the Company and its Shares for the benefit of the Company 
and its Shareholders as a whole. The Share Option Scheme will provide the Company with a flexible means of 
retaining, incentivizing, rewarding, remunerating, compensating and/or providing benefits to Participants.

Eligible participants to the share option scheme

On and subject to the terms of the Share Option Scheme and the requirements of the Listing Rules, the Board may 
offer to grant an option to any Participant as the Board may in its absolute discretion select.
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Grant of options

On and subject to the terms of the Share Option Scheme and the requirements of the Listing Rules (in particular 
as to grant of options to Directors, chief executives and Substantial Shareholders or their respective associates), 
the Board shall be entitled at any time within 10 years after the date of adoption of the Share Option Scheme to 
make an offer for the grant of an option to any Participant as the Board may determine. No offer shall be made 
and no option shall be granted to any Participant after inside information has come to the Company’s knowledge 
until it has announced the information. In particular, the Company shall not grant any option during the period 
commencing one month immediately preceding the earlier of:

(a) the date of the Board meeting (as such date is first notified to the Stock Exchange in accordance with the 
requirements of the Listing Rules) for the approval of the Company’s results for any year, half year, quarter or 
any other interim period (whether or not required under the Listing Rules); and

(b) the deadline for the Company to publish an announcement of, its results for any year or half-year under 
the Listing Rules, or quarter or any other interim period (whether or not required under the Listing Rules), 
and ending on the date of the results announcement. For the avoidance of doubt, the period during which 
no option shall be granted mentioned above shall include any period of delay in the publication of a results 
announcement.

Payment on acceptance of option offer

An offer shall remain open for acceptance by the Participant concerned for a period of 14 days from the date of the 
offer. HK$1.0 is payable by the Participant to the Company on acceptance of the offer of the option.

Subscription price

The subscription price in respect of any particular option shall be such price as the Board may in its absolute 
discretion determine and notified to the Participant in the offer letter at the time of grant of the relevant option but 
the subscription price shall not be less than the highest of (i) the closing price of the Shares as stated in the Stock 
Exchange’s daily quotations sheet on the date of grant; (ii) the average closing prices of the Shares as stated in the 
Stock Exchange’s daily quotations sheets for the five business days immediately preceding the date of grant; and 
(iii) the nominal value of a Share on the date of grant.

Option period

The period within which the Shares must be taken up under an option shall be the period of time to be notified by 
the Board to each Participant at the time of making an offer, which shall be determined by the Board in its absolute 
discretion at the time of grant, but such period must not exceed ten years from the date of grant of the relevant 
option.

Exercise of option

An option may be exercised in accordance with the terms of the Share Option Scheme at any time during a period 
as the Board may in its absolution discretion determine which shall not be more than ten years from the date of 
grant of the option and the Board may at its discretion determine the minimum period for which the option has to 
be held for restrictions before the exercise of the subscription right attaching to an option.

Maximum entitlement

The total number of Shares issued and to be issued upon exercise of the options granted to each Participant 
(including exercised, cancelled and outstanding options) in any 12 months period shall not exceed 1.00% of the 
Shares in issue.

Remaining life of the Share Option Scheme

The remaining life of the Share Option Scheme is approximately 4 years.
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Present status of the Share Option Scheme

As at the end of the Reporting Period, there were 5,766,000 share options outstanding and granted under the 
Share Option Scheme, No share options were agreed to be granted, exercised, cancelled or lapsed under the 
Share Option Scheme. The Shares which may be issued pursuant to the exercise of the options to be granted 
under the Share Option Scheme shall not exceed 10% of the aggregate of the Shares in issue as at the date of the 
approval of the Share Option Scheme, being 40,000,000 Shares in total.

EQUITY-LINKED AGREEMENTS

No equity-linked agreements were entered into during the Reporting Period.

PERMITTED INDEMNITY AND PROVISION

Pursuant to Article 191 of the Articles, the Directors, managing directors, alternate Directors, auditors, secretary 
and other officers of the Company acting in relation to any of the affairs of the Company, and their respective 
executors or administrators, shall be indemnified and secured harmless out of the assets of the Company from 
and against all actions, costs, charges, losses, damages and expenses which they or any of them, their or any of 
their executors or administrators, shall or may incur or sustain by reason of any act done, concurred in or omitted 
in or about the execution of their duty or supposed duty in their respective offices, except such (if any) as they 
shall incur or sustain through their own fraud or dishonesty, breach of duty, recklessness or breach of trust proven 
against them.

The Company has taken out and paid the premium and other moneys for the maintenance of insurance for the 
benefit either of the Company, the Directors and/or other officers to indemnify the Company, the Directors and/or 
other officers named therein for the purpose against any loss, damage, liability and claim which they may suffer or 
sustain in connection to any Directors and/or other officers carrying out their duties as Directors and/or officers of 
the Company. The Directors and/or officers shall not be indemnified where there is any fraud, dishonesty, breach of 
duty, recklessness or breach of trust proven against them.

CORPORATE GOVERNANCE

The Group is committed to promote good corporate governance and has set up procedures on corporate 
governance that comply with the principles in the Corporate Governance Code as set out in Appendix 14 to the 
Listing Rules. Further information on the Company’s corporate governance practices is set out in the Corporate 
Governance Report contained in this annual report.

ENVIRONMENTAL, SOCIAL AND GOVERNANCE REPORT

The Group has dedicated its effort to review and monitor the Group’s ESG policy and practices to ensure 
compliance with the relevant legal and regulatory requirements as described in Appendix 27 to the Listing Rules. 
During the Reporting Period, there was no material non-compliance with laws and regulations related to the 
environmental and social aspects. Further information on the Group’s ESG performance for the Reporting Period is 
set out in the ESG report contained in this annual report.

MODEL CODE FOR SECURITIES TRANSACTIONS BY DIRECTORS

The Company has adopted the Model Code as its own code of conduct regarding securities transactions by 
Directors. The Company has made specific enquiries with all of the Directors, each of whom has confirmed that he/
she has, throughout the Reporting Period, complied with the required standards set out therein.

PRE-EMPTIVE RIGHTS

There is no provision for pre-emptive rights under the Company’s Articles or the laws of the Cayman Islands which 
would oblige the Company to offer new Shares on a pro-rata basis to existing Shareholders.
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SUFFICIENCY OF PUBLIC FLOAT

As at the date of this report and based on publicly available information and within the knowledge of the Directors, 
the Company has sufficient public float as required under Rule 8.08 of the Listing Rules.

AUDITOR

BDO Limited will retire and, be eligible, offer itself for re-appointment. A resolution will be submitted to the annual 
general meeting to re-appoint BDO Limited as the auditor of the Company.

CHANGES IN INFORMATION OF DIRECTORS

Pursuant to the disclosure requirement of Rule 13.51B(1) of the Listing Rules, the changes in information of 
Directors of the Company are set out below:

1. Mr. Chen, a non-executive director of Hospital Corporation of China Limited (“Hospital Corporation”) since 
23 June 2020, has been re-designated as an executive director of Hospital Corporation with effect from 
20 November 2020. He is currently an executive director, chairman of the board and acting chief executive 
officer of Hospital Corporation.

2. Mr. David Wong has been appointed as an executive director of Goldbond with effect from 7 April 2021. He 
is currently an executive director and the chief executive officer of Goldbond.

Save as disclosed above, during the period under review and up to the date of this report, there is no other change 
in information of Directors required to be disclosed pursuant to Rule 13.51B(1) of the Listing Rules.

PROSPECTS

Going forward, the Group is likely to face many challenges as a result of the continuously unfavorable economic 
and political conditions. While the duration of the COVID-19 epidemic remains uncertain and the global political 
tensions had seriously affected the global economy, the domestic economic recovery remains under pressure. 
Nonetheless, we remain committed to place a strong emphasis on the recovery of our past due financial assets 
and the continue enhancement of effective credit risks prevention. In spite of the many proactive measures already 
taken and implemented, we will continue to closely monitor the collection of past due financial assets. The Group is 
prepared to continuously improve its internal management structures to enhance the success of the Group’s future 
development. Furthermore, the Group has been proactively assessing and evaluating potential financial leasing and 
other business opportunities outside of Hubei Province to leverage on the Group’s financial leasing licence which 
has a nation-wide coverage, as well as exploring other potential low risk financing businesses such as entrusted 
loans. The Group had also entered into strategic alliance agreements with a few parties pursuant to which each 
of the counterparties has agreed to assist the Group with its long-term strategic development in respect of 
businesses including finance leases and other financing businesses nation-wide.

In addition, with the aim to sustain long-term growth of the Group, the Company has been exploring new business 
opportunities in order to diversify its source of income and creating synergy across multiple operations as well as 
effectively utilizing the Group’s nation-wide coverage finance lease license. The Company intended to diversify 
its existing business by expanding into the provision of operating lease services in the PRC. As at the date of 
this report, the company has completed the set up of a new subsidiary in the PRC for engaging in the automobile 
operating lease business, so as to increase the profitability of the Group and enhance Shareholder’s value as a 
whole.

On behalf of the Board

Wong Emilie Hoi Yan
Executive Director

Hong Kong, 30 June 2021
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TO THE SHAREHOLDERS OF
CHINA RONGZHONG FINANCIAL HOLDINGS COMPANY LIMITED
中國融眾金融控股有限公司
(incorporated in the Cayman Islands with limited liability)

OPINION

We have audited the consolidated financial statements of China Rongzhong Financial Holdings Company Limited 
(“the Company”) and its subsidiaries (together “the Group”) set out on pages 58 to 108, which comprise the 
consolidated statement of financial position as at 31 March 2021, and the consolidated statement of profit or loss 
and other comprehensive income, the consolidated statement of changes in equity and the consolidated statement 
of cash flows for the year then ended, and notes to the consolidated financial statements, including a summary of 
significant accounting policies.

In our opinion, the consolidated financial statements give a true and fair view of the consolidated financial position 
of the Group as at 31 March 2021 and of its consolidated financial performance and its consolidated cash flows 
for the year then ended in accordance with Hong Kong Financial Reporting Standards issued by the Hong Kong 
Institute of Certified Public Accountants (“HKICPA”) and have been properly prepared in compliance with the 
disclosure requirements of Hong Kong Companies Ordinance.

BASIS FOR OPINION

We conducted our audit in accordance with Hong Kong Standards on Auditing (“HKSAs”) issued by the HKICPA. 
Our responsibilities under those standards are further described in the “Auditor’s Responsibilities for the Audit of 
the Consolidated Financial Statements” section of our report. We are independent of the Group in accordance with 
the HKICPA’s “Code of Ethics for Professional Accountants” (the “Code”), and we have fulfilled our other ethical 
responsibilities in accordance with the Code. We believe that the audit evidence we have obtained is sufficient and 
appropriate to provide a basis for our opinion.

MATERIAL UNCERTAINTY RELATED TO GOING CONCERN

We draw attention to note 2.1 to the consolidated financial statements, which indicates that the Group recorded a 
net loss attributable to owners of the Company of HK$121,383,000 for the year ended 31 March 2021 and capital 
deficiency of HK$109,990,000 as at 31 March 2021. This condition, along with other matters as set forth in note 
2.1 to the financial statements, indicate that a material uncertainty exists that may cast significant doubt on the 
Group’s ability to continue as a going concern. Our opinion is not modified in respect of this matter.

KEY AUDIT MATTERS

Key audit matters are those matters that, in our professional judgement, were of most significance in our audit 
of the consolidated financial statements of the current period. These matters were addressed in the context of 
our audit of the consolidated financial statements as a whole, and in forming our opinion thereon, and we do 
not provide a separate opinion on these matters. In addition to the matter described in the “Material Uncertainty 
Related to Going Concern” section, we have determined the matters described below to be the key audit matters 
to be communicated in our report.

Independent Auditor’s Report
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IMPAIRMENT OF LEASE RECEIVABLES AND RECEIVABLES ARISING FROM SALE AND 
LEASEBACK ARRANGEMENTS

Refer to notes 5 and 17 to the consolidated financial statements.

As at 31 March 2021, the Group had lease receivables and receivables arising from sale and leaseback 
arrangements amounting to HK$817,669,000 and the Group was exposed to credit risk thereof. The Group 
has applied Hong Kong Financial Reporting Standard 9 “Financial Instruments” and assessed impairment for 
these receivables based on expected credit losses (“ECL”) model. In determining the impairment losses on 
lease receivables and receivables arising from sale and leaseback arrangements, the management assessed 
historical default rates, the values of the collaterals, timing of future cash flows as well as those relevant forward-
looking information such as the expected future cash flows and forward-looking macroeconomic factors with 
the assistance of independent professional valuer as management’s expert. The impairment assessment involve 
estimation and significant judgement.

Due to the significance of lease receivables and receivables arising from sale and leaseback arrangements 
(representing 97% of total assets) to the consolidated financial statements as a whole and the use of judgement 
and estimates by management in assessing the recoverability of lease receivables and receivables arising from sale 
and leaseback arrangements, we considered this as a key audit matter.

Our responses:

Our key procedures in relation to the management’s impairment assessment on lease receivables and receivables 
arising from sale and leaseback arrangements included:

– Obtaining an understanding of the Group’s credit loss policy and methodology for impairment assessment in 
relation to the application of ECL model;

– Inquiring of management for the status of each of the material lease receivables and receivables arising 
from sale and leaseback arrangements past due as at year end date and corroborating explanations from 
management with supporting evidence, such as understanding credit status of debtors, checking historical 
and subsequent settlement records and other correspondence with the debtors;

– Performing public search of credit profile of selected debtors, as well as external evidence and factors, to 
assess whether management’s assessment of ECL was appropriate;

– Assessing management’s forecast of future repayments and current financial conditions of the debtors;

– Testing the completeness and accuracy of the ECL calculation;

– Involving an auditor’s expert to assist our assessment on the impairment on lease receivables and 
receivables arising from sale and leaseback arrangements; and

– Evaluating the independence, competence and objectivity of the management’s expert and auditor’s expert.

OTHER INFORMATION IN THE ANNUAL REPORT

The directors are responsible for the other information. The other information comprises all the information included 
in the Company’s annual report, but does not include the consolidated financial statements and our auditor’s report 
thereon.

Our opinion on the consolidated financial statements does not cover the other information and we do not express 
any form of assurance conclusion thereon.

In connection with our audit of the consolidated financial statements, our responsibility is to read the other 
information and, in doing so, consider whether the other information is materially inconsistent with the consolidated 
financial statements or our knowledge obtained in the audit or otherwise appears to be materially misstated. If, 
based on the work we have performed, we conclude that there is a material misstatement of this other information, 
we are required to report that fact. We have nothing to report in this regard.
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DIRECTORS’ RESPONSIBILITIES FOR THE CONSOLIDATED FINANCIAL STATEMENTS

The directors are responsible for the preparation of the consolidated financial statements that give a true and 
fair view in accordance with Hong Kong Financial Reporting Standards issued by the HKICPA and the disclosure 
requirements of the Hong Kong Companies Ordinance, and for such internal control as the directors determine is 
necessary to enable the preparation of consolidated financial statements that are free from material misstatement, 
whether due to fraud or error.

In preparing the consolidated financial statements, the directors are responsible for assessing the Group’s ability 
to continue as a going concern, disclosing, as applicable, matters related to going concern and using the going 
concern basis of accounting unless the directors either intend to liquidate the Group or to cease operations, or 
have no realistic alternative but to do so.

The directors are also responsible for overseeing the Group’s financial reporting process. The Audit Committee 
assists the directors in discharging their responsibility in this regard.

AUDITOR’S RESPONSIBILITIES FOR THE AUDIT OF THE CONSOLIDATED FINANCIAL 
STATEMENTS

Our objectives are to obtain reasonable assurance about whether the consolidated financial statements as a whole 
are free from material misstatement, whether due to fraud or error, and to issue an auditor’s report that includes our 
opinion. This report is made solely to you, as a body, in accordance with the terms of our engagement, and for no 
other purpose. We do not assume responsibility towards or accept liability to any other person for the contents of 
this report.

Reasonable assurance is a high level of assurance, but is not a guarantee that an audit conducted in accordance 
with HKSAs will always detect a material misstatement when it exists. Misstatements can arise from fraud or error 
and are considered material if, individually or in the aggregate, they could reasonably be expected to influence the 
economic decisions of users taken on the basis of these consolidated financial statements.

As part of an audit in accordance with HKSAs, we exercise professional judgement and maintain professional 
skepticism throughout the audit. We also:

– identify and assess the risks of material misstatement of the consolidated financial statements, whether due 
to fraud or error, design and perform audit procedures responsive to those risks, and obtain audit evidence 
that is sufficient and appropriate to provide a basis for our opinion. The risk of not detecting a material 
misstatement resulting from fraud is higher than for one resulting from error, as fraud may involve collusion, 
forgery, intentional omissions, misrepresentations, or the override of internal control.

– obtain an understanding of internal control relevant to the audit in order to design audit procedures that are 
appropriate in the circumstances, but not for the purpose of expressing an opinion on the effectiveness of 
the Group’s internal control.

– evaluate the appropriateness of accounting policies used and the reasonableness of accounting estimates 
and related disclosures made by the directors.

– conclude on the appropriateness of the directors’ use of the going concern basis of accounting and, 
based on the audit evidence obtained, whether a material uncertainty exists related to events or conditions 
that may cast significant doubt on the Group’s ability to continue as a going concern. If we conclude 
that a material uncertainty exists, we are required to draw attention in our auditor’s report to the related 
disclosures in the consolidated financial statements or, if such disclosures are inadequate, to modify our 
opinion. Our conclusions are based on the audit evidence obtained up to the date of our auditor’s report. 
However, future events or conditions may cause the Group to cease to continue as a going concern.
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– evaluate the overall presentation, structure and content of the consolidated financial statements, including 
the disclosures, and whether the consolidated financial statements represent the underlying transactions 
and events in a manner that achieves fair presentation.

– obtain sufficient appropriate audit evidence regarding the financial information of the entities or business 
activities within the Group to express an opinion on the consolidated financial statements. We are 
responsible for the direction, supervision and performance of the group audit. We remain solely responsible 
for our audit opinion.

We communicate with the Audit Committee regarding, among other matters, the planned scope and timing of the 
audit and significant audit findings, including any significant deficiencies in internal control that we identify during 
our audit.

We also provide the Audit Committee with a statement that we have complied with relevant ethical requirements 
regarding independence, and to communicate with them all relationships and other matters that may reasonably 
be thought to bear on our independence, and where applicable, actions taken to eliminate threats or safeguards 
applied.

From the matters communicated with the Audit Committee, we determine those matters that were of most 
significance in the audit of the consolidated financial statements of the current period and are therefore the 
key audit matters. We describe these matters in our auditor’s report unless law or regulation precludes public 
disclosure about the matter or when, in extremely rare circumstances, we determine that a matter should not be 
communicated in our report because the adverse consequences of doing so would reasonably be expected to 
outweigh the public interest benefits of such communication.

BDO Limited
Certified Public Accountants
Wong Kwok Wai
Practising Certificate No. P6047

Hong Kong, 30 June 2021
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2021 2020
Notes HK$’000 HK$’000

Revenue 7 15,821 27,484
Other income 8(a) 1,082 405
Gain on disposal of financial assets 8(b) 7,273 –
Other gains and losses 9 (878) 1,279
Staff costs 12 (5,978) (6,473)
Impairment losses on financial assets (98,032) (48,218)
Other operating expenses (11,086) (10,337)
Finance costs 10 (29,585) (30,076)

Loss before income tax (121,383) (65,936)
Income tax credit 11 – 210

Loss for the year 12 (121,383) (65,726)

Other comprehensive expense
Item that may be reclassified to profit or loss:

Exchange differences arising on translation to  
presentation currency (4,372) (3,696)

Total comprehensive expense for the year (125,755) (69,422)

Loss per share 15
Basic and diluted (HK cents) (29) (16)

Consolidated Statement of Profit or Loss and Other Comprehensive Income
For the year ended 31 March 2021
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Consolidated Statement of Financial Position
As at 31 March 2021

2021 2020
Notes HK$’000 HK$’000

Non-current assets
Property, plant and equipment 16 40 168
Lease receivables and receivables arising from  

sale and leaseback arrangements 17 94,117 123,816
Security deposits 19 1,190 –

95,347 123,984

Current assets
Lease receivables and receivables arising from  

sale and leaseback arrangements 17 723,552 747,226
Loan receivable 18 5,563 6,621
Prepayments and other receivables 8,501 8,314
Security deposits 19 1,697 7,352
Short term bank deposits with original maturity within  

three months 20 6,636 14,775
Bank balances and cash 20 5,671 6,812

751,620 791,100

Current liabilities
Deposits from customers 214,813 206,047
Other payables and accrued charges 21 17,707 17,956
Deferred income 9 9
Lease liabilities 22 482 1,209
Tax liabilities 64,133 59,858
Bank borrowings 23 443,688 107,822

740,832 392,901

Net current assets 10,788 398,199

Total assets less current liabilities 106,135 522,183

Consolidated Statement of Financial Position
As at 31 March 2021
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2021 2020
Notes HK$’000 HK$’000

Non-current liabilities
Lease liabilities 22 – 467
Bank borrowings 23 216,125 506,434

216,125 506,901

Net (liabilities)/assets (109,990) 15,282

Capital and reserves
Share capital 24 4,125 4,125
Reserves (114,115) 11,157

(Capital deficiency)/total equity (109,990) 15,282

The consolidated financial statements on pages 58 to 108 were approved and authorised for issue by the board of 
directors on 30 June 2021 and are signed on its behalf by:

Ms. Wong Emilie Hoi Yan Mr. Chen Shuai
Director Director
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Consolidated Statement of Changes in Equity
For the year ended 31 March 2021

Share 
capital

Share 
premium

Statutory 
surplus 
reserve

Share 
option 

reserve
Translation 

reserve
Accumulated 

losses Total
HK$’000 HK$’000 HK$’000 HK$’000 HK$’000 HK$’000 HK$’000

(note)

At 1 April 2019 4,125 552,818 32,430 – (49,517) (455,232) 84,624

Recognition of equity-settled  
share-based payments – – – 80 – – 80

Loss for the year – – – – – (65,726) (65,726)
Exchange differences arising on 

translation to presentation currency – – – – (3,696) – (3,696)

Total comprehensive expense  
for the year – – – – (3,696) (65,726) (69,422)

At 31 March 2020 4,125 552,818 32,430 80 (53,213) (520,958) 15,282

Recognition of equity-settled  
share-based payments – – – 483 – – 483

Loss for the year – – – – – (121,383) (121,383)
Exchange difference arising on 

translation to presentation currency – – – – (4,372) – (4,372)

Total comprehensive expense  
for the year – – – – (4,372) (121,383) (125,755)

At 31 March 2021 4,125 552,818 32,430 563 (57,585) (642,341) (109,990)

Note:

Pursuant to the articles of association of the subsidiary established in the People’s Republic of China (the “PRC”), it is required 

to appropriate 10% or an amount to be determined by its directors of its profit for the year in accordance with the relevant 

accounting rules and financial regulations of the PRC before any distribution of dividends to owners each year to the statutory 

surplus reserve until the balance reaches 50% of its registered capital.

Consolidated Statement of Changes in Equity
For the year ended 31 March 2021
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2021 2020
HK$’000 HK$’000

Operating activities
Loss for the year (121,383) (65,726)
Adjustments for:

Income tax credit – (210)
Impairment losses on financial assets 98,032 48,218
Depreciation of property, plant and equipment 147 1,618
Impairment losses on property, plant and equipment 42 1,604
Equity-settled share-based payments 483 80
Finance costs 29,585 30,076
Interest income from bank deposits (120) (405)
Effect of foreign exchange rate changes 878 (1,279)

Operating cash flows before working capital changes 7,664 13,976
Decrease in lease receivables and receivables arising from sale and 

leaseback arrangements 8,398 14,943
Decrease/(increase) in prepayments and other receivables 384 (55)
(Decrease)/increase in other payables and accrued charges (1,475) 341
Decrease in deferred income – (163)
Decrease in security deposits 4,764 –

Cash generated from operations 19,735 29,042
Enterprise income tax refunded – 210

Net cash from operating activities 19,735 29,252

Investing activities
Interest received from bank deposits 120 405

Net cash from investing activities 120 405

Consolidated Statement of Cash Flows
For the year ended 31 March 2021
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Consolidated Statement of Cash Flows
For the year ended 31 March 2021

2021 2020
HK$’000 HK$’000

Financing activities
Bank loans raised 23,777 131,111
Interest paid (14,577) (26,222)
Repayment of bank loans (38,028) (154,212)
Capital element of lease rentals paid (1,257) (1,226)
Interest element of lease rentals paid (63) (129)

Net cash used in financing activities (30,148) (50,678)

Net decrease in cash and cash equivalents (10,293) (21,021)

Cash and cash equivalents at beginning of the year 21,587 43,188
Effect of foreign exchange rate changes 1,013 (580)

Cash and cash equivalents at end of the year 12,307 21,587

Analysis of cash and cash equivalents:
Bank balances and cash 5,671 6,812
Short term bank deposits with original maturity within three months 6,636 14,775

12,307 21,587
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1. GENERAL

China Rongzhong Financial Holdings Company Limited (the “Company”) was incorporated in the Cayman 
Islands and its shares are listed on the Main Board of The Stock Exchange of Hong Kong Limited (the 
“Stock Exchange”). The address of the registered office and principal place of business of the Company are 
disclosed in the corporate information section to the annual report.

The Company is an investment holding company. The principal activities of the Company and its 
subsidiaries (collectively referred to as the “Group”) are provision of financial leasing services in the PRC. 
Details of the Company’s subsidiaries are set out in note 30.

The functional currency of the Company is Renminbi (“RMB”). The consolidated financial statements are 
presented in Hong Kong dollars (“HK$”) as the Company is listed on the Stock Exchange.

2. BASIS OF PREPARATION

2.1 Going concern basis

The Group recorded a net loss attributable to owners of the Company of HK$121,383,000 for the year 
ended 31 March 2021 and capital deficiency of HK$109,990,000 as at 31 March 2021. In addition, 
the worsened general economic environment caused by the outbreak of the COVID-19 pandemic 
has further adversely impacted on the collectability of the Group’s lease receivables and receivables 
arising from sale and leaseback arrangements because these lessees are mostly small and medium 
enterprises in the Hubei Province of the PRC. As at 31 March 2021, the Group had lease receivables 
and receivables arising from sale and leaseback arrangements with a gross carrying amount of 
HK$1,870,147,000 that were all past due and an aggregate impairment loss of HK$1,052,478,000 
was provided for these receivables (Note 17). At the same date, the Group had bank borrowings of 
HK$443,688,000 that were repayable within 12 months after the end of the reporting period while 
the cash and cash equivalents maintained was HK$12,307,000 only. These conditions indicate that a 
material uncertainty exists that may cast significant doubt about the Group’s ability to continue as a 
going concern and therefore that it may be unable to realise its assets and discharge its liabilities in 
the normal course of business.

In view of these circumstances, the directors of the Company have prepared a cash flow forecast 
covering a period of 18 months from the end of the reporting period. In doing so, they have given 
careful consideration to the future liquidity and cash flows of the Group in assessing whether the 
Group will have sufficient financial resources to continue as a going concern after taking account of 
the following plans and measures:

(i) Implementation of measures to expedite the realisation of lease receivables and 
receivables arising from sale and leaseback arrangements

The Group has been taking active measures to expedite the realisation of lease receivables 
and receivables arising from sale and leaseback arrangements through various channels 
including lawsuit, debt restructuring, and other methods that are considered effective and can 
improve the liquidity position of the Group.

Notes to the Consolidated Financial Statements
For the year ended 31 March 2021
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Notes to the Consolidated Financial Statements
For the year ended 31 March 2021

2. BASIS OF PREPARATION (continued)

2.1 Going concern basis (continued)

(i) Implementation of measures to expedite the realisation of lease receivables and 
receivables arising from sale and leaseback arrangements (continued)

Subsequent to 31 March 2021, the Group obtained a letter of undertaking from a company 
under the joint control of certain major shareholders of the Company (the “Related Party”), 
three independent parties and a director of a subsidiary of the Company. Pursuant to the 
undertaking, the Related Party agreed to take up: (i) certain lease receivables and receivables 
arising from sale and leaseback arrangements; and (ii) certain bank borrowings of the 
Group. As at 31 March 2021, the relevant lease receivables and receivables arising from 
sale and leaseback arrangements were approximately HK$288,719,000 while the relevant 
bank borrowings were approximately HK$506,980,000. The execution of the undertaking 
by the Related Party is depending on the approval from the relevant bank for transfer of 
bank borrowings. Pursuant to the Company’s announcement on 28 June 2021, the Group 
is applying to the relevant bank for transfer of bank borrowings to the Related Party. For 
illustrative purposes only, based on the figures as at 31 March 2021, should the Group be able 
to complete the transfer and could be derecognised of those receivables and bank borrowings 
according to Hong Kong Financial Reporting Standards (“HKFRSs”), the Group’s consolidated 
net assets would increase by HK$218,261,000.

(ii) Implementation of active cost-saving measures

The Group continues to take active measures to control administrative costs through various 
channels to improve operating cash flows and its financial position.

(iii) Negotiation of the renewal of bank borrowings

In June 2021, the Group successfully renewed its bank borrowings with principal amounts 
of approximately HK$232,347,000 that were repayable within 12 months after the end of the 
reporting period for at least 13 months. The directors of the Company are of the view that the 
remaining bank borrowings, being HK$211,341,000 out of the amount HK$443,688,000, could 
be extended beyond 12 months from the date of this report.

Based on the above plans and measures, the directors of the Company are of the opinion that the 
Group will have sufficient working capital to satisfy its requirements for at least the next twelve 
months from the date of this report and, accordingly, the directors of the Company are satisfied that it 
is appropriate to prepare the consolidated financial statements on a going concern basis.

Should the Group be unable to achieve the abovementioned plans and measures, it would be unable 
to meet its financial commitments based on the current level of its cash resources and unable to 
operate as a going concern, adjustments would have to be made to write down the carrying values 
of the Group’s assets to their net realisable amounts; to provide for further liabilities which may arise 
and to reclassify non-current assets and non-current liabilities as current assets and current liabilities. 
The effects of these adjustments have not been reflected in these consolidated financial statements.

2.2 Statement of compliance

The consolidated financial statements have been prepared in accordance with all applicable HKFRSs, 
Hong Kong Accounting Standards (“HKASs”) and Interpretations (hereinafter collectively referred 
to as the “HKFRS”) and the disclosure requirements of the Hong Kong Companies Ordinance. In 
addition, the consolidated financial statements include applicable disclosures required by the Rules 
Governing the Listing of Securities on the Stock Exchange (the “Listing Rules”).

2.3 Basis of measurement

The consolidated financial statements have been prepared under the historical cost basis.
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3. ADOPTION OF HKFRSs

3.1 Adoption of new and revised HKFRSs

In the current year, the Group has applied for the first time the following new standards, amendments 
and interpretations (“the new HKFRSs”) issued by the Hong Kong Institute of Certified Public 
Accountants (“HKICPA”), which are relevant to and effective for the Group’s consolidated financial 
statements for the annual period beginning on 1 April 2020:

Amendments to HKFRS 3 Definition of a Business
Amendments to HKAS 1 and HKAS 8 Definition of Material
Amendments to HKFRS 9, HKAS 39 and 

HKFRS 7
Interest Rate Benchmark Reform

Conceptual Framework for Financial 
Reporting

Revised Conceptual Framework for Financial Reporting

The adoption of the new HKFRSs has no material impact on the Group’s consolidated financial 
statements. In addition, the Group has early adopted the amendment to HKFRS 16 – Covid-19-
Related Rent Concessions ahead of the effective date and applied the amendment from 1 April 2020.

Amendment to HKFRS 16 – Covid-19-Related Rent Concessions

HKFRS 16 was amended to provide a practical expedient to lessees in accounting for rent 
concessions arising as a result of the Covid-19 pandemic, by including an additional practical 
expedient in HKFRS 16 that permits entities to elect not to account for rent concessions as 
modifications. The practical expedient applies only to rent concessions occurring as a direct 
consequence of Covid-19 pandemic and only if all of the following criteria are satisfied:

a) the change in lease payments results in revised consideration for the lease that is substantially 
the same as, or less than, the consideration for the lease immediately preceding the change;

b) the reduction in lease payments affects only payments originally due on or before 30 June 
2021; and

c) there is no substantive change to other terms and conditions of the lease.

Rent concessions that satisfy these criteria may be accounted for in accordance with this practical 
expedient, which means the lessee does not need to assess whether the rent concession meets the 
definition of lease modification. Lessees shall apply other requirements of HKFRS 16 in accounting 
for the rent concession.

Accounting for rent concessions as lease modifications would have resulted in the Group remeasuring 
the lease liability to reflect the revised consideration using a revised discount rate, with the effect 
of the change in the lease liability recorded against the right-of-use asset. By applying the practical 
expedient, the Group is not required to determine a revised discount rate and the effect of the change 
in the lease liability is reflected in profit or loss in the period in which the event or condition that 
triggers the rent concession occurs.

The adoption of amendment to HKFRS 16 has no material impact on the consolidated financial 
statements.
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3. ADOPTION OF HKFRSs (continued)

3.2 New/revised HKFRSs that have been issued but are not yet effective

The following new/revised HKFRSs, potentially relevant to the Group’s consolidated financial 
statements, have been issued, but are not yet effective and have not been early adopted by the 
Group.

Amendments to HKFRS 3 Reference to the Conceptual Framework3

Amendments to HKAS 16 Property, Plant and Equipment: Proceeds before Intended 
Use3

Amendment to HKAS 37 Onerous Contracts — Cost of Fulfilling a Contract3

Amendments to HKFRS 16 Covid-19 - Related Rent Concessions beyond 30 June 
20212

Amendments to HKFRS 1, HKFRS 9, 
HKFRS 16 and HKAS 41

Annual Improvements to HKFRSs 2018-2020 Cycle3

Amendments to HKAS 1 Classification of Liabilities as Current or Non-current and 
related amendments to Hong Kong Interpretation 5 
(2020)4

Amendments to HKAS 39, HKFRS 4, 
HKFRS 7, HKFRS 9 and HKFRS 16

Interest Rate Benchmark Reform — Phases 21

Amendments to HKAS 1 Disclosure of Accounting Policies4

Amendments to HKAS 8 Definition of Accounting Estimates4

Amendments to HKAS 12 Deferred Tax related to Assets and Liabilities arising from 
a Single Transaction4

1 Effective for annual periods beginning on or after 1 January 2021
2 Effective for annual periods beginning on or after 1 April 2021
3 Effective for annual periods beginning on or after 1 January 2022
4 Effective for annual periods beginning on or after 1 January 2023

The directors anticipate that all of the pronouncements will be adopted in the Group’s accounting 
policy for the first period beginning after the effective date of the pronouncement. The new and 
revised HKFRSs have been issued but are not yet effective are unlikely to have material impact on the 
Group’s financial statements upon application.

4. SIGNIFICANT ACCOUNTING POLICIES

4.1 Basis of consolidation

The consolidated financial statements comprise the financial statements of the Company and its 
subsidiaries. Inter-company transactions and balances between group companies together with 
unrealised profits are eliminated in full in preparing the consolidated financial statements. Unrealised 
losses are also eliminated unless the transaction provides evidence of impairment on the asset 
transferred, in which case the loss is recognised in profit or loss.

4.2 Subsidiaries

A subsidiary is an investee over which the Company is able to exercise control. The Company 
controls an investee if all three of the following elements are present: (i) power over the investee, (ii) 
exposure, or rights, to variable returns from the investee, and (iii) the ability to use its power to affect 
those variable returns. Control is reassessed whenever facts and circumstances indicate that there 
may be a change in any of these elements of control.

In the Company’s statement of financial position, interests in subsidiaries are stated at cost less 
impairment loss, if any. The results of subsidiaries are accounted for by the Company on the basis of 
dividend received and receivable.
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4. SIGNIFICANT ACCOUNTING POLICIES (continued)

4.3 Property, plant and equipment

Property, plant and equipment are stated at cost less accumulated depreciation and accumulated 
impairment losses.

The cost of property, plant and equipment includes its purchase price and the costs directly 
attributable to the acquisition of the items.

Subsequent costs are included in the asset’s carrying amount or recognised as a separate asset, as 
appropriate, only when it is probable that future economic benefits associated with the item will flow 
to the Group and the cost of the item can be measured reliably. The carrying amount of the replaced 
part is derecognised. All other repairs and maintenance are recognised as an expense in profit or loss 
during the financial period in which they are incurred.

Property, plant and equipment are depreciated so as to write off their cost net of expected residual 
value over their estimated useful lives on a straight-line basis. The useful lives, residual value and 
depreciation method are reviewed, and adjusted if appropriate, at the end of each reporting period. 
The useful lives are as follows:

Furniture, fixtures and other fixed assets 3 – 5 years
Other properties leased for own use Over the lease term

The gain or loss on disposal of an item of property, plant and equipment is the difference between the 
net sale proceeds and its carrying amount, and is recognised in profit or loss on disposal.

4.4 Impairment of assets (other than financial assets)

At the end of each reporting period, the Group reviews the carrying amounts of the property, plant 
and equipment and interests in subsidiaries to determine whether there is any indication that those 
assets have suffered an impairment loss or an impairment loss previously recognised no longer exists 
or may have decreased.

If the recoverable amount (i.e. the greater of the fair value less costs of disposal and value in use) of 
an asset is estimated to be less than its carrying amount, the carrying amount of the asset is reduced 
to its recoverable amount. An impairment loss is recognised as an expense immediately.

Where an impairment loss subsequently reverses, the carrying amount of the asset is increased to 
the revised estimate of its recoverable amount, to the extent that the increased carrying amount 
does not exceed the carrying amount that would have been determined had no impairment loss been 
recognised for the asset in prior years. A reversal of an impairment loss is recognised in profit or loss 
immediately.

Value in use is based on the estimated future cash flows expected to be derived from the asset, 
discounted to their present value using a pre-tax discount rate that reflects current market 
assessments of the time value of money and the risks specific to the asset or cash generating unit.



Annual Report 2021 • China Rongzhong Financial Holdings Company Limited 69

Notes to the Consolidated Financial Statements
For the year ended 31 March 2021

4. SIGNIFICANT ACCOUNTING POLICIES (continued)

4.5 Leasing

Accounting as a lessee

All leases are required to be capitalised in the consolidated statement of financial position as right-
of-use assets and lease liabilities, but accounting policy choices exist for an entity to choose not to 
capitalise (i) leases which are short-term leases and/or (ii) leases for which the underlying asset is of 
low-value. The Group has elected not to recognise right-of-use assets and lease liabilities for leases 
for which at the commencement date have a lease term of less than 12 months. The lease payments 
associated with those leases have been expensed on straight-line basis over the lease term.

Right-of-use asset

The right-of-use asset should be recognised at cost and would comprise: (i) the amount of the initial 
measurement of the lease liability (see below for the accounting policy to account for lease liability); 
(ii) any lease payments made at or before the commencement date less any lease incentives received; 
(iii) any initial direct costs incurred by the lessee; and (iv) an estimate of costs to be incurred by the 
lessee in dismantling and removing the underlying asset to the condition required by the terms and 
conditions of the lease, unless those costs are incurred to produce inventories. The Group measures 
the right-of-use assets applying a cost model. Under the cost model, the Group measures the right-
to-use at cost, less any accumulated depreciation and any impairment losses, and adjusted for any 
remeasurement of lease liability.

Lease liability

The lease liability is recognised at the present value of the lease payments that are not paid at the 
date of commencement of the lease. The lease payments are discounted using the interest rate 
implicit in the lease, if that rate can be readily determined. If that rate cannot be readily determined, 
the Group uses the Group’s incremental borrowing rate.

The following payments for the right-to-use the underlying asset during the lease term that are not 
paid at the commencement date of the lease are considered to be lease payments: (i) fixed payments 
less any lease incentives receivable; (ii) variable lease payments that depend on an index or a rate, 
initially measured using the index or rate as at commencement date; (iii) amounts expected to be 
payable by the lessee under residual value guarantees; (iv) the exercise price of a purchase option if 
the lessee is reasonably certain to exercise that option; and (v) payments of penalties for terminating 
the lease, if the lease term reflects the lessee exercising an option to terminate the lease.

Subsequent to the commencement date, the Group measures the lease liability by: (i) increasing the 
carrying amount to reflect interest on the lease liability; (ii) reducing the carrying amount to reflect the 
lease payments made; and (iii) remeasuring the carrying amount to reflect any reassessment or lease 
modifications, or to reflect revised in substance fixed lease payments.

When the Group revises its estimate of the term of any lease (because, for example, it re-assesses 
the probability of a lessee extension or termination option being exercised), it adjusts the carrying 
amount of the lease liability to reflect the payments to make over the revised term, which are 
discounted using a revised discount rate. An equivalent adjustment is made to the carrying value of 
the right-of-use asset, with the revised carrying amount being amortised over the remaining (revised) 
lease term. If the carrying amount of the right-of-use asset is adjusted to zero, any further reduction is 
recognised in profit or loss.
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4. SIGNIFICANT ACCOUNTING POLICIES (continued)

4.5 Leasing (continued)

Accounting as a lessee (continued)

Lease liability (continued)

When the Group renegotiates the contractual terms of a lease with the lessor, if the renegotiation 
results in one or more additional assets being leased for an amount commensurate with the 
standalone price for the additional rights-of-use obtained, the modification is accounted for as a 
separate lease, in all other cases, where the renegotiated increases the scope of the lease (whether 
that is an extension to the lease term, or one or more additional assets being leased), the lease 
liability is remeasured using the discount rate applicable on the modification date, with the right-of-
use asset being adjusted by the same amount. With the exception to which the practical expedient 
for Covid-19-Related Rent Concessions applies (see note 3.1), if the renegotiation results in a 
decrease in the scope of the lease, both the carrying amount of the lease liability and right-of-use 
asset are reduced by the same proportion to reflect the partial or full termination of the lease with 
any difference recognised in profit or loss. The lease liability is then further adjusted to ensure its 
carrying amount reflects the amount of the renegotiated payments over the renegotiated term, with 
the modified lease payments discounted at the rate applicable on the modification date and the right-
of-use asset is adjusted by the same amount.

Accounting as a lessor

Leases are classified as finance leases whenever the terms of the lease transfer substantially all the 
risks and rewards of ownership of the leased assets to the lessee. All other leases are classified as 
operating leases.

Amounts due from lessees under finance leases are recorded as receivables at the amount of the 
Group’s net investment in the leases. Finance lease income is allocated to accounting periods so as 
to reflect a constant periodic rate of return on the Group’s net investment outstanding in respect of 
the leases.

4.6 Financial instruments

(i) Financial assets

A financial asset (unless it is a trade receivable without a significant financing component) 
is initially measured at fair value plus, for an item not at fair value through profit or loss, 
transaction costs that are directly attributable to its acquisition or issue. A trade receivable 
without a significant financing component is initially measured at the transaction price.

All regular way purchases and sales of financial assets are recognised on the trade date, that 
is, the date that the Group commits to purchase or sell the asset. Regular way purchases or 
sales are purchases or sales of financial assets that require delivery of assets within the period 
generally established by regulation or convention in the market place.

Financial assets with embedded derivatives are considered in their entirety when determining 
whether their cash flows are solely payment of principal and interest.

Debt instruments

Subsequent measurement of debt instruments depends on the Group’s business model 
for managing the asset and the cash flow characteristics of the asset. The following is the 
measurement category into which the Group classifies its debt instruments:

Amortised cost: Assets that are held for collection of contractual cash flows where those cash 
flows represent solely payments of principal and interest are measured at amortised cost. 
Financial assets at amortised cost are subsequently measured using the effective interest 
method. Interest income, foreign exchange gains and losses and impairment are recognised in 
profit or loss. Any gain on derecognition is recognised in profit or loss.
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4. SIGNIFICANT ACCOUNTING POLICIES (continued)

4.6 Financial instruments (continued)

(ii) Impairment loss on financial assets

The Group recognises loss allowances for expected credit loss (“ECL”) on financial assets 
measured at amortised cost. The ECL are measured on either of the following bases: (1) 12 
months ECL: these are the ECL that result from possible default events within the 12 months 
after the reporting date; and (2) lifetime ECL: these are ECL that result from all possible default 
events over the expected life of a financial instrument. The maximum period considered when 
estimating ECL is the maximum contractual period over which the Group is exposed to credit 
risk.

ECL are a probability-weighted estimate of credit losses. Credit losses are measured as the 
difference between all contractual cash flows that are due to the Group in accordance with 
the contract and all the cash flows that the Group expects to receive. The shortfall is then 
discounted at an approximation to the assets’ original effective interest rate.

The Group measured loss allowances for the debt financial assets based on lifetime ECL, 
except there has not been a significant increase in credit risk since initial recognition, in which 
case the allowance will be based on the 12 months ECL.

When determining whether the credit risk of a financial asset has increased significantly since 
initial recognition and when estimating ECL, the Group considers reasonable and supportable 
information that is relevant and available without undue cost or effort. This includes both 
quantitative and qualitative information analysis, based on the Group’s historical experience 
and informed credit assessment and including forward-looking information.

The Group assumes that the credit risk on a financial asset has increased significantly if it is 
more than 30 days past due.

The Group considers a financial asset to be in default when the debtor is unlikely to pay 
its credit obligations to the Group in full, without recourse by the Group to actions such as 
realising security (if any is held); or the financial asset is more than 90 days past due.

Depending on the nature of the financial instruments, the assessment of a significant increase 
in credit risk is performed on either an individual or a collective basis. When the assessment is 
performed on a collective basis, the financial instruments are grouped based on shared credit 
risk characteristics, such as past due status and credit risk ratings.

The Group considers a financial asset to be credit-impaired when:

• significant financial difficulty of the debtor;

• a breach of contract, such as a default or being more than 90 days past due;

• the restructuring of a loan or advance by the Group on terms that the Group would not 
consider otherwise;

• it is probable that the debtor will enter bankruptcy or other financial reorganisation; or

• the disappearance of an active market for a security because of financial difficulties.
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4. SIGNIFICANT ACCOUNTING POLICIES (continued)

4.6 Financial instruments (continued)

(ii) Impairment loss on financial assets (continued)

The Group recognises an impairment gain or loss in profit or loss for all financial instruments 
with a corresponding adjustment to their carrying amount through a loss allowance account.

The Group writes off a financial asset when there is information indicating that the debtor is in 
severe financial difficulty and there is no realistic prospect of recovery, e.g. when the debtor 
has been placed under liquidation or has entered into bankruptcy proceedings. Financial 
assets written off may still be subject to enforcement activities under the Group’s recovery 
procedures, taking into account legal advice where appropriate. Any recoveries made are 
recognised in profit or loss.

Interest income on credit-impaired financial assets is calculated based on the amortised cost 
(i.e. the gross carrying amount less loss allowance) of the financial asset. For non credit-
impaired financial assets, interest income is calculated based on the gross carrying amount.

(iii) Financial liabilities

The Group classifies its financial liabilities, depending on the purpose for which the liabilities 
were incurred. Financial liabilities at fair value through profit or loss are initially measured at 
fair value and financial liabilities at amortised costs are initially measured at fair value, net of 
directly attributable costs incurred.

Financial liabilities at amortised cost

Financial liabilities at amortised cost including deposits from customers, other payables 
and bank borrowings subsequently measured at amortised cost, using the effective interest 
method. The related interest expense is recognised in profit or loss.

Gains or losses are recognised in profit or loss when the liabilities are derecognised as well as 
through the amortisation process.

(iv) Effective interest method

The effective interest method is a method of calculating the amortised cost of a financial asset 
or financial liability and of allocating interest income or interest expense over the relevant 
period. The effective interest rate is the rate that exactly discounts estimated future cash 
receipts or payments through the expected life of the financial asset or liability, or where 
appropriate, a shorter period.

(v) Equity instruments

Equity instruments issued by the Company are recorded at the proceeds received, net of direct 
issue costs.

(vi) Derecognition

The Group derecognises a financial asset when the contractual rights to the future cash flows 
in relation to the financial asset expire or when the financial asset has been transferred and the 
transfer meets the criteria for derecognition in accordance with HKFRS 9.

Financial liabilities are derecognised when the obligation specified in the relevant contract is 
discharged, cancelled or expires.
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4. SIGNIFICANT ACCOUNTING POLICIES (continued)

4.7 Cash and cash equivalents

For the purpose of the consolidated statement of cash flows presentation, cash and cash equivalents 
comprise bank balances and cash and short term highly liquid investments which are readily 
convertible into known amounts of cash and which are subject to an insignificant risk of changes 
in value, having been within three months of maturity at acquisition, less bank overdrafts which are 
repayable on demand and form an integral part of the Group’s cash management.

4.8 Revenue recognition

Finance lease income is recognised over the period of lease. Revenue is recognised over the lease 
period on a systematic and rational basis so as to produce a constant periodic rate of return on the 
net investment in the finance leases.

Interest income from a financial asset is recognised on a time-proportion basis using the effective 
interest method. When a receivable is impaired, the Group reduces the carrying amount to its 
recoverable amount, being the estimated future cash flows discounted at the original effective interest 
rate of the instrument, and continues unwinding the discount as interest income. Interest income on 
impaired loans is recognised using the original effective interest rate.

4.9 Government grant

Government grants are not recognised until there is reasonable assurance that the Group will comply 
with the conditions attaching to them and that the grants will be received.

Government grants are recognised in profit or loss on a systematic basis over the periods in which 
the Group recognises as expenses the related costs for which the grants are intended to compensate.

Government grants that are receivable as compensation for expenses or losses already incurred or 
for the purpose of giving immediate financial support to the Group with no future related costs are 
recognised in profit or loss in the period in which they become receivable and are recognised as other 
revenue, rather than reducing the related expense.

4.10 Income taxes

Income taxes for the year comprise current tax.

Current tax is based on the profit or loss from ordinary activities adjusted for items that are non-
assessable or disallowable for income tax purposes and is calculated using tax rates that have been 
enacted or substantively enacted at the end of reporting period. The amount of current tax payable 
or receivable is the best estimate of the tax amount expected to be paid or received that reflects any 
uncertainty related to income tax.

Deferred tax is recognised in respect of temporary differences between the carrying amounts of 
assets and liabilities for financial reporting purposes and the corresponding amounts used for tax 
purposes. Except for initial recognition of assets and liabilities that are not part of the business 
combination which affect neither accounting nor taxable profits, taxable temporary differences arising 
on investments in subsidiaries where the Group is able to control the reversal of the temporary 
difference and it is probable that the temporary difference will not reverse in the foreseeable future, 
deferred tax liabilities are recognised for all taxable temporary differences. Deferred tax assets 
are recognised to the extent that it is probable that taxable profits will be available against which 
deductible temporary differences can be utilised, provided that the deductible temporary differences 
are not arises from initial recognition of assets and liabilities in a transaction other than in a business 
combination that affects neither taxable profit nor the accounting profit. Deferred tax is measured at 
the tax rates appropriate to the expected manner in which the carrying amount of the asset or liability 
is realised or settled and that have been enacted or substantively enacted at the end of reporting 
period, and reflects any uncertainty related to income taxes.
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4. SIGNIFICANT ACCOUNTING POLICIES (continued)

4.10 Income taxes (continued)

Deferred tax assets and liabilities are offset when there is a legally enforceable right to set off current 
tax assets against current tax liabilities and when they relate to income tax levied by the same 
taxation authority and the Group intends to settle its current tax assets and liabilities on a net basis.

The carrying amount of deferred tax assets is reviewed at each reporting date and reduced to the 
extent that it is no longer probable that sufficient taxable profits will be available to allow all or part of 
the assets to be recovered.

Income taxes are recognised in profit or loss except when they relate to items recognised in other 
comprehensive income in which case the taxes are also recognised in other comprehensive income 
or when they relate to items recognised directly in equity in which case the taxes are also recognised 
directly in equity.

4.11 Foreign currency

Transactions entered into by the group entities in currencies other than the currency of the primary 
economic environment in which they operate (the “functional currency”) are recorded at the rates 
ruling when the transactions occur. Foreign currency monetary assets and liabilities are translated 
at the rates ruling at the end of reporting period. Non-monetary items carried at fair value that are 
denominated in foreign currencies are retranslated at the rates prevailing on the date when the fair 
value was determined. Non-monetary items that are measured in terms of historical cost in a foreign 
currency are not retranslated.

Exchange differences arising on the settlement of monetary items, and on the translation of monetary 
items, are recognised in profit or loss in the period in which they arise. Exchange differences arising 
on the retranslation of non-monetary items carried at fair value are included in profit or loss for the 
period except for differences arising on the retranslation of non-monetary items in respect of which 
gains and losses are recognised in other comprehensive income, in which case, the exchange 
differences are also recognised in other comprehensive income.

On consolidation, income and expense items of foreign operations are translated into the 
presentation currency of the Group (i.e. Hong Kong dollars) at the average exchange rates for 
the year, unless exchange rates fluctuate significantly during the period, in which case, the rates 
approximating to those ruling when the transactions took place are used. All assets and liabilities 
of foreign operations are translated at the rate ruling at the end of reporting period. Exchange 
differences arising, if any, are recognised in other comprehensive income and accumulated in equity 
as translation reserve (attributed to non-controlling interests as appropriate). Exchange differences 
recognised in profit or loss of group entities’ separate financial statements on the translation of long-
term monetary items forming part of the Group’s net investment in the foreign operation concerned 
are reclassified to other comprehensive income and accumulated in equity as translation reserve.

On disposal of a foreign operation, the cumulative exchange differences recognised in the translation 
reserve relating to that operation up to the date of disposal are reclassified to profit or loss as part of 
the profit or loss on disposal.

4.12 Employee benefits

Short term employee benefits

Short term employee benefits are employee benefits (other than termination benefits) that are 
expected to be settled wholly before twelve months after the end of the annual reporting period in 
which the employees render the related service. Short term employee benefits are recognised in the 
year when the employees render the related service.
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4. SIGNIFICANT ACCOUNTING POLICIES (continued)

4.12 Employee benefits (continued)

Retirement benefits

Retirement benefits to employees are provided through defined contribution plans.

Payments to the defined contribution retirement benefits schemes are charged as an expense when 
employees have rendered services entitling them to the contributions.

The Group operates a defined contribution retirement benefit plan under the Mandatory Provident 
Fund Schemes Ordinance (“MPF Scheme”) for all of its eligible employees who are eligible to 
participate in the MPF Scheme. Contributions are made based on a percentage of the employees’ 
basic salaries.

The employees of the Company’s subsidiaries which operate in the PRC are required to participate in 
a central pension scheme operated by the local municipal government. The subsidiary is required to 
contribute certain percentage of their payroll costs to the central pension scheme.

4.13 Equity-settled share-based payment transactions

The fair value of services received determined by reference to the fair value of share options granted 
at the grant date is expensed on a straight-line basis over the vesting period, with a corresponding 
increase in equity (the share option reserve).

At the end of the reporting period, the Group revises its estimates of the number of options that are 
expected to ultimately vest. The impact of the revision of the original estimates during the vesting 
period, if any, is recognised in profit or loss such that the cumulative expense reflects the revised 
estimate, with a corresponding adjustment to the share option reserve.

When share options are exercised, the amount previously recognised in share option reserve will be 
transferred to share premium. When the share options are forfeited after the vesting date or are still 
not exercised at the expiry date, the amount previously recognised in the share option reserve will be 
transferred to retained profits/accumulated losses.

4.14 Capitalisation of borrowing costs

Borrowing costs attributable directly to the acquisition, construction or production of qualifying 
assets which require a substantial period of time to be ready for their intended use or sale, are 
capitalised as part of the cost of those assets. Income earned on temporary investments of specific 
borrowings pending their expenditure on those assets is deducted from borrowing costs capitalised. 
All other borrowing costs are recognised in profit or loss in the period in which they are incurred.

4.15 Provisions and contingent liabilities

Provisions are recognised for liabilities of uncertain timing or amount when the Group has a legal or 
constructive obligation arising as a result of a past event, which it is probable will result in an outflow 
of economic benefits that can be reliably estimated.

Where it is not probable that an outflow of economic benefits will be required, or the amount cannot 
be estimated reliably, the obligation is disclosed as a contingent liability, unless the probability of 
outflow of economic benefits is remote. Possible obligations, the existence of which will only be 
confirmed by the occurrence or non-occurrence of one or more future events, are also disclosed as 
contingent liabilities unless the probability of outflow of economic benefits is remote.

4.16 Related parties

(a) A person or a close member of that person’s family is related to the Group if that person:

(i) has control or joint control over the Company;

(ii) has significant influence over the Company; or

(iii) is a member of key management personnel of the Company or the Company’s parent.
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4. SIGNIFICANT ACCOUNTING POLICIES (continued)
4.16 Related parties (continued)

(b) An entity is related to the Group if any of the following conditions apply:

(i) The entity and the Company are members of the same group (which means that each 
parent, subsidiary and fellow subsidiary is related to the others).

(ii) One entity is an associate or joint venture of the other entity (or an associate or joint 
venture of a member of a group of which the other entity is a member).

(iii) Both entities are joint ventures of the same third party.

(iv) One entity is a joint venture of a third entity and the other entity is an associate of the 
third entity.

(v) The entity is a post-employment benefit plan for the benefit of the employees of the 
Group or an entity related to the Group.

(vi) The entity is controlled or jointly controlled by a person identified in (a).

(vii) A person identified in (a)(i) has significant influence over the entity or is a member of key 
management personnel of the entity (or of a parent of the entity).

(viii) The entity, or any member of a group of which it is a part, provides key management 
personnel services to the Company or to the parent of the Company.

Close members of the family of a person are those family members who may be expected to 
influence, or be influenced by, that person in their dealings with the entity and include:

(i) that person’s children and spouse or domestic partner;

(ii) children of that person’s spouse or domestic partner; and

(iii) dependents of that person or that person’s spouse or domestic partner.

5. CRITICAL ACCOUNTING JUDGEMENTS AND KEY SOURCES OF ESTIMATION 
UNCERTAINTY

In the application of the Group’s accounting policies, the directors are required to make judgements, 
estimates and assumptions about the carrying amounts of assets and liabilities that are not readily apparent 
from other sources. The estimates and associated assumptions are based on historical experience and other 
factors that are considered to be relevant. Actual results differ from these estimates.

The estimates and underlying assumptions are reviewed on an ongoing basis. Revisions to accounting 
estimates are recognised in the period in which the estimate is revised if the revision affects only that period 
or in the period of the revision and future periods if the revision affects both current and future periods.

Critical judgements

Going concern assumption

The assessment of the going concern assumption involves making a judgement by the directors of the 
Company, at a particular point of the time, about the future outcome of events or conditions which are 
inherently uncertain. The directors consider that the Group has the capability to continue as a going concern 
and the going concern assumption is set out in note 2.1 to the consolidated financial statements.

Key sources of estimation uncertainty

The following is the key assumptions concerning the future, and other key sources of estimation uncertainty 
at the end of the reporting period, that may have a significant risk of causing a material adjustment to the 
carrying amounts of assets within the next financial year.
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5. CRITICAL ACCOUNTING JUDGEMENTS AND KEY SOURCES OF ESTIMATION 
UNCERTAINTY (continued)

Key sources of estimation uncertainty (continued)

Impairment of financial assets

The measurement of impairment losses under HKFRS 9 across all categories of financial assets requires 
judgement, in particular, the estimation of the amount and timing of future cash flows and collateral values 
when determining impairment losses and the assessment of a significant increase in credit risk. These 
estimates are driven by a number of factors, changes in which can result in different levels of allowances.

At each reporting date, the Group assesses whether there has been a significant increase in credit risk for 
exposures since initial recognition by comparing the risk of default occurring over the expected life between 
the reporting date and the date of initial recognition. The Group considers reasonable and supportable 
information that is relevant and available without undue cost or effort for this purpose. This includes 
quantitative and qualitative information and also, forward-looking analysis.

6. SEGMENT INFORMATION

The directors of the Company have determined that the Group has one operating and reportable segment 
throughout the reporting period. The Group is principally engaged in providing financial leasing services in 
the PRC. The executive director of the Company, being the chief operating decision maker of the Group, 
reviews the consolidated financial position and results of the Group as a whole for the purposes of allocating 
resources and assessing performance of the Group.

The Company is an investment holding company and the principal place of the Group’s operation is in the 
PRC. All the Group’s revenue and non-current assets are principally attributable to the PRC.

Revenue from customers of the corresponding years contributing over 10% of the total revenue of the Group 
are as follows:

2021 2020
HK$’000 HK$’000

Customer A (note i) – 6,095
Customer B 6,203 6,324
Customer C (note ii) – 3,550
Customer D 2,188 3,048

Notes:

i) No revenue was generated from this customer for the year ended 31 March 2021.

ii) The revenue from this customer contributed less than 10% of the total revenue of the Group for the year ended 

31 March 2021.
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7. REVENUE

Revenue for the reporting period represents income received and receivable from the provision of financial 
leasing services in the PRC.

2021 2020
HK$’000 HK$’000

Interest income arising from sale and leaseback arrangements 15,535 23,934
Finance lease income 286 3,550

15,821 27,484

8(a). OTHER INCOME

2021 2020
HK$’000 HK$’000

Bank interest income 120 405
Government subsidies (note) 216 –
Others 746 –

1,082 405

Note:

The amount represented the government grants obtained from Employment Support Scheme (“ESS”) under the Anti-

epidemic Fund launched by the Hong Kong Special Administrative Region Government supporting the payroll of the 

Group’s employees. Under the ESS, the Group had to commit to spend these grants on payroll expenses, and not reduce 

employee head count below prescribed levels for a specified period of time. The Group does not have other unfulfilled 

obligations relating to this program.

8(b). GAIN ON DISPOSAL OF FINANCIAL ASSETS

During the year ended 31 March 2021, the Group has entered into an agreement to dispose of certain 
receivables arising from sale and leaseback arrangements to an independent third party with cash 
consideration of HK$7,273,000 (2020: Nil). The disposal was made due to a deterioration in their credit risk. 
The gain arising from the disposal for the year ended 31 March 2021 is HK$7,273,000 (2020: Nil).

9. OTHER GAINS AND LOSSES

2021 2020
HK$’000 HK$’000

Foreign exchange (loss)/gain, net (878) 1,279
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10. FINANCE COSTS

2021 2020
HK$’000 HK$’000

Interest on borrowings 29,473 29,784
Imputed interest expense on interest-free deposits from customers 49 163
Interest on lease liabilities 63 129

29,585 30,076

11. INCOME TAX CREDIT

2021 2020
HK$’000 HK$’000

Current tax
Enterprise Income Tax in the PRC

– Tax for the year – –
– Over provision in prior year – (210)

Income tax credit – (210)

No provision for Hong Kong Profits Tax has been made in the consolidated financial statements as the 
Group’s operation in Hong Kong had no assessable profits during both years.

Under the Enterprise Income Tax Law of PRC (the “EIT Law”) and the Implementation Regulation of the EIT 
Law, the subsidiary in the PRC is subject to the tax rate of 25% during both years.

The income tax credit for the year can be reconciled to the loss before income tax in the consolidated 
statement of profit or loss and other comprehensive income as follows:

2021 2020
HK$’000 HK$’000

Loss before income tax (121,383) (65,936)

Tax at the domestic income tax rate in the PRC of 25% (2020: 25%) (30,346) (16,484)
Tax effect of income not taxable for tax purposes (2,089) (443)
Tax effect of expenses not deductible for tax purposes 7,942 4,096
Tax effect of tax losses and temporary differences not recognised 24,493 12,831
Over provision in prior year – (210)

Income tax credit – (210)
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11. INCOME TAX CREDIT (continued)

No withholding tax has been provided for both years in the consolidated financial statements. Under the EIT 
Law, withholding tax of 5% is imposed on dividends declared in respect of profits earned by the subsidiary 
in the PRC from 1 January 2008 onwards. As at 31 March 2021 and 2020, there is no temporary differences 
associated with undistributed earnings of the subsidiary in the PRC has been recognised as it has recorded 
losses for the years and the directors of the Company considered that the subsidiary in the PRC would not 
distribute any further dividend in the foreseeable future.

As at 31 March 2021, the Group had unused tax losses of HK$3,187,000 (2020: HK$2,975,000) and 
had deductible temporary differences of HK$1,066,763,000 (2020: HK$923,885,000) available for offset 
against future profits. No deferred tax asset has been recognised in relation to such deductible temporary 
differences due to unpredictability of future profits stream.

12. LOSS FOR THE YEAR

2021 2020
HK$’000 HK$’000

Loss for the year has been arrived at after charging:

Directors’ remuneration:
– Fee 840 1,140
– Short-term employee benefits 1,032 1,032
– Retirement benefit scheme contributions 18 18
– Equity-settled share-based payments 440 74

Salaries, allowances and other staff benefits 3,562 3,998
Staff’s retirement benefit scheme contributions 86 211

Total staff costs 5,978 6,473

Depreciation of property, plant and equipment 147 1,618

Auditor’s remuneration 2,300 1,280

Short-term lease expenses 236 505

Impairment losses on property, plant and equipment 42 1,604
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13. DIRECTORS’ AND CHIEF EXECUTIVE’S EMOLUMENTS AND FIVE HIGHEST PAID 
EMPLOYEES

(a) Directors and the chief executive

Directors’ and chief executive’s remuneration for the year, is as follows:

Name of directors
Directors’ 

fee

Retirement 
benefit 

scheme 
contributions

Other 
emoluments 

mainly 
salaries and 

other benefits

Equity-settled 
share-based 

payments Total
HK$’000 HK$’000 HK$’000 HK$’000 HK$’000

For the year ended 31 March 2021

Executive director:
Ms. Wong Emilie Hoi Yan – 18 1,032 33 1,083

Non-executive directors:
Mr. Chen Shuai 120 – – – 120
Ms. Wong Jacqueline Yue Yee 120 – – 33 153
Ms. Wong Michelle Yatyee 120 – – 33 153
Mr. Wong Ming Bun David 120 – – 335 455

Independent non-executive 
directors:

Mr. Lie Chi Wing 120 – – 2 122
Mr. Ng Wing Chung Vincent 120 – – 2 122
Mr. Yu Yang 120 – – 2 122

840 18 1,032 440 2,330
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13. DIRECTORS’ AND CHIEF EXECUTIVE’S EMOLUMENTS AND FIVE HIGHEST PAID 
EMPLOYEES (continued)

(a) Directors and the chief executive (continued)

Name of directors
Directors’ 

fee

Retirement 
benefit 

scheme 
contributions

Other 
emoluments 

mainly 
salaries and 

other benefits

Equity-settled 
share-based 

payments Total
HK$’000 HK$’000 HK$’000 HK$’000 HK$’000

For the year ended 31 March 2020

Executive director:
Ms. Wong Emilie Hoi Yan – 18 1,032 6 1,056

Non-executive directors:
Mr. Chen Shuai 220 – – – 220
Ms. Wong Jacqueline Yue Yee 220 – – 6 226
Ms. Wong Michelle Yatyee (note i) 87 – – 6 93
Mr. Wong Ming Bun David (note ii) 87 – – 56 143

Independent non-executive 
directors:

Mr. Duan Changfeng (note iii) 95 – – – 95
Mr. Yu Yang 220 – – –* 220
Ms. Zou Lin (note iv) 95 – – – 95
Mr. Ng Wing Chung Vincent (note v) 72 – – –* 72
Mr. Lie Chi Wing (note vi) 44 – – –* 44

1,140 18 1,032 74 2,264

* The amount stated is less than HK$1,000

Notes:

(i) Ms. Wong Michelle Yatyee was appointed as non-executive director with effect from 11 July 2019 and 

her emoluments disclosed above include those for services rendered by her as the non-executive director 

during her tenure.

(ii) Mr. Wong Ming Bun David was appointed as non-executive director with effect from 11 July 2019 and his 

emoluments disclosed above include those for services rendered by him as the non-executive director 

during his tenure.

(iii) Mr. Duan Changfeng retired as independent non-executive director with effect from 23 August 2019 and 

his emoluments disclosed above include those for services rendered by him as the independent non-

executive director during his tenure.

(iv) Ms. Zou Lin retired as independent non-executive director with effect from 23 August 2019 and her 

emoluments disclosed above include those for services rendered by her as the independent non-executive 

director during her tenure.
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13. DIRECTORS’ AND CHIEF EXECUTIVE’S EMOLUMENTS AND FIVE HIGHEST PAID 
EMPLOYEES (continued)

(a) Directors and the chief executive (continued)

Notes: (continued)

(v) Mr. Ng Wing Chung Vincent was appointed as independent non-executive director with effect from 27 

August 2019 and his emoluments disclosed above include those for services rendered by him as the 

independent non-executive director during his tenure.

(vi) Mr. Lie Chi Wing was appointed as independent non-executive director with effect from 19 November 2019 

and his emoluments disclosed above include those for services rendered by him as the independent non-

executive director during his tenure.

(b) Five highest paid employees

The five highest paid employees of the Group during the year included two (2020: one) directors, 
details of whose remuneration are set out in note 13 (a) above. Details of the remuneration for the 
year of the remaining three (2020: four) highest paid employees who are neither a director nor chief 
executive of the Company are as follows:

2021 2020
HK$’000 HK$’000

Salaries, allowances and other benefits 1,981 2,393
Equity-settled share-based payments 29 6
Staff’s retirement benefit scheme contributions 36 88

2,046 2,487

Their emoluments were within the following bands:

2021 
Number of 
individuals

2020 
Number of 
individuals

Nil to HK$1,000,000 3 4

During both years, no emoluments were paid by the Group to any of the directors or the chief 
executive of the Company or the five highest paid employees (including directors and employees) as 
an inducement to join or upon joining the Group or as compensation for loss of office. None of the 
directors or the chief executive of the Company waived or agreed to waive any emoluments during 
both years.
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14. DIVIDENDS

No dividend was paid, declared or proposed for ordinary shareholders of the Company during the year 
ended 31 March 2021, nor has any dividend been proposed since the end of the reporting period (2020: nil).

15. LOSS PER SHARE

2021 2020
HK$’000 HK$’000

Loss:
Loss for the year attributable to owners of the Company  

for the purpose of basic and diluted loss per share 121,383 65,726

2021 2020
’000 ’000

Number of shares:
Weighted average number of ordinary shares for the purpose of  

basic and diluted loss per share 412,509 412,509

The basic and diluted loss per share is calculated based on the loss attributable to owners of the Company 
and the weighted average number of ordinary shares for the years ended 31 March 2021 and 2020.

The calculation of diluted loss per share for the years ended 31 March 2021 and 2020 does not assume the 
exercise of the Company’s outstanding share options as the exercise price of those options is higher than 
the average market price for shares.



Annual Report 2021 • China Rongzhong Financial Holdings Company Limited 85

Notes to the Consolidated Financial Statements
For the year ended 31 March 2021

16. PROPERTY, PLANT AND EQUIPMENT

Furniture, 
fixtures 

and other 
fixed assets

Other 
properties 
leased for 

own use Total
HK$’000 HK$’000 HK$’000

COST
At 1 April 2019 4,195 – 4,195
Exchange adjustments (187) (75) (262)
Additions – 2,966 2,966

At 31 March 2020 4,008 2,891 6,899
Exchange adjustments 287 39 326
Additions – 56 56
Write off – (1,646) (1,646)

At 31 March 2021 4,295 1,340 5,635

ACCUMULATED DEPRECIATION AND 
IMPAIRMENT

At 1 April 2019 3,696 – 3,696
Exchange adjustments (175) (12) (187)
Charge for the year 319 1,299 1,618
Impairment losses (Note) – 1,604 1,604

At 31 March 2020 3,840 2,891 6,731
Exchange adjustments 282 39 321
Charge for the year 133 14 147
Impairment losses (Note) – 42 42
Elimination of write off – (1,646) (1,646)

At 31 March 2021 4,255 1,340 5,595

NET CARRYING VALUES
At 31 March 2021 40 – 40

At 31 March 2020 168 – 168

Note:

As at 31 March 2021, management identified impairment indicator of property, plant and equipment due to the worsened 

general economic environment and the outbreak of the COVID-19 which the Group’s performance was adversely affected. 

After the impairment assessment by the management, impairment loss of approximately HK$42,000 (2020: HK$1,604,000) 

was recognised in the consolidated statement of profit or loss and other comprehensive income.
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16. PROPERTY, PLANT AND EQUIPMENT (continued)

Right-of-use assets

The followings are the expenses in relation to leases recognised in profit or loss:

2021 2020
HK$’000 HK$’000

Depreciation charge of other properties leased for own use 14 1,299
Interest on lease liabilities (note 10) 63 129
Short-term lease expenses 236 505
Impairment losses on other properties leased for own use 42 1,604

During the year ended 31 March 2021, additions to right-of-use assets were HK$56,000 (2020: 
HK$2,966,000). The additions are non-cash transaction.

The total cash outflow for leases for the year ended 31 March 2021 was HK$1,320,000 (2020: 
HK$1,355,000).

Details of the maturity analysis of lease liabilities are set out on note 22.
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17. LEASE RECEIVABLES AND RECEIVABLES ARISING FROM SALE AND LEASEBACK 
ARRANGEMENTS

The Group provides financial leasing services in the PRC.

2021 2020
HK$’000 HK$’000

Lease receivables 18,269 17,136
Receivables arising from sale and leaseback arrangements 799,400 853,906

817,669 871,042

Minimum lease payments

2021 2020
HK$’000 HK$’000

Lease receivables and receivables arising from sale and 
leaseback arrangements comprise:
Within one year 1,783,211 1,658,248
In more than one year but not more than two years 23,955 56,089
In more than two years but not more than three years 23,022 22,024
In more than three years but not more than four years 22,088 21,153
In more than four years but not more than five years 19,964 20,282
More than five years 18,635 35,359

1,890,875 1,813,155
Less: Unearned finance income (20,728) (31,562)

1,870,147 1,781,593
Less: Impairment allowance (1,052,478) (910,551)

817,669 871,042

Analysed for reporting purposes as:
Current assets 723,552 747,226
Non-current assets 94,117 123,816

817,669 871,042

The Group’s lease receivables and receivables arising from sale and leaseback arrangements are 
denominated in RMB which is the functional currency of the relevant group entity. The effective interest rates 
of the above lease receivables and receivables arising from sale and leaseback arrangements range mainly 
from 8.3% to 15.4% (2020: 7.6% to 14.7%) per annum as at 31 March 2021.

Notes to the Consolidated Financial Statements
For the year ended 31 March 2021
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17. LEASE RECEIVABLES AND RECEIVABLES ARISING FROM SALE AND LEASEBACK 
ARRANGEMENTS (continued)

Lease receivables and receivables arising from sale and leaseback arrangements are mainly secured by 
leased assets which are used in laser processing, plastics, industrial processing, textile and garment, hotel 
and leisure and other industries, customers’ deposits and leased assets repurchase arrangement where 
applicable. Customers’ deposits are collected and calculated based on a certain percentage of the entire 
value of the lease contract. The deposits are returned to the customers in portion over the lease contract or 
in full by end of lease period according to the terms of the lease contract. When the lease contract expires 
and all liabilities and obligations under the lease contract had been fulfilled, the lessor must return the full 
lease deposits to the lessee. The balance of the customers’ deposits can also be applied and used to settle 
any outstanding lease payments for the corresponding lease contract. Additional collateral may be obtained 
from customers to secure their repayment obligations under leases and sale and leaseback arrangements 
and such collaterals include vessels, commercial and residential properties, equipment and machineries. 
There was no unguaranteed residual value of leased assets and no contingent rent arrangement that needed 
to be recognised in both periods.

Lease receivables and receivables arising from sale and leaseback arrangements were considered credit-
impaired when the customers fail to settle according to the settlement terms for more than 90 days after 
taking into consideration the recoverability of collateral and deposits. As at 31 March 2021 and 2020, the 
entire carrying amounts of lease receivables and receivables arising from sale and leaseback arrangements 
were determined to be impaired under the lifetime ECL. The lifetime ECL impaired receivables related to 
those credit exposures where there has been a significant increase in credit risk since initial recognition, 
which the loss allowance is required for credit losses expected over the remaining life of the exposure 
irrespective of the timing of the default.

Movements of the provision for impairment losses on lease receivables and receivables arising from sale and 
leaseback arrangements are as follows:

2021 2020
HK$’000 HK$’000

At 1 April 910,551 899,192
Impairment losses recognised, net 96,974 46,713
Unwinding discount on loss allowance 997 4,610
Disposals (23,974) –
Exchange realignment 67,930 (39,964)

At 31 March 1,052,478 910,551
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18. LOAN RECEIVABLE

As at 31 March 2021 and 2020, the unsecured loan receivable to a third party of HK$10,000,000 with 
effective interest rate of 10% per annum was past due.

Movement of the provision for impairment losses on loan receivable is as follows:

2021 2020
HK$’000 HK$’000

At 1 April 4,266 2,761
Impairment losses recognised 1,058 1,505

At 31 March 5,324 4,266

19. SECURITY DEPOSITS

Security deposits are placed by the Group with banks to secure (i) the Group’s due performance in relation 
to the lease and sale and leaseback services in the PRC and (ii) the Group’s bank borrowings (note 23).

2021 2020
HK$’000 HK$’000

Analysed for reporting purposes as:
Current assets 1,697 7,352
Non-current assets 1,190 –

2,887 7,352

20. SHORT TERM BANK DEPOSITS AND BANK BALANCES AND CASH AND OTHER CASH 
FLOW INFORMATION

(a) Short term bank deposits and bank balances and cash

As at 31 March 2021, short term bank deposits and bank balances carry interest at market rates 
ranged from 0.01% to 0.15% (2020: 0.01% to 1.65%) per annum.

The short term bank deposits are denominated in Hong Kong dollars with original maturity within 
three months.

The short term bank deposits and bank balances and cash that are denominated in currencies other 
than the functional currency of the relevant group entities are set out below:

2021 2020
HK$’000 HK$’000

HK$ 7,720 16,422
US dollars (“US$”) 147 147

7,867 16,569
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20. SHORT TERM BANK DEPOSITS AND BANK BALANCES AND CASH AND OTHER CASH 
FLOW INFORMATION (continued)

(b) Other cash flow information

Reconciliation of liabilities arising from financing activities:

Lease 
liabilities

Bank 
borrowings Total

HK$’000 HK$’000 HK$’000

At 1 April 2019 – 662,382 662,382

Changes from financing cash flows:
Bank loans raised – 131,111 131,111
Repayment of bank loans – (154,212) (154,212)
Interest paid – (26,222) (26,222)
Capital element of lease rentals paid (1,226) – (1,226)
Interest element of lease rentals paid (129) – (129)

Total changes from financing cash flows (1,355) (49,323) (50,678)

Exchange adjustments (64) (28,587) (28,651)

Other changes:
Interest expenses 129 29,784 29,913
New leases 2,966 – 2,966

Total other changes 3,095 29,784 32,879

At 31 March 2020 and 1 April 2020 1,676 614,256 615,932

Changes from financing cash flows:
Bank loans raised – 23,777 23,777
Repayment of bank loans – (38,028) (38,028)
Interest paid – (14,577) (14,577)
Capital element of lease rentals paid (1,257) – (1,257)
Interest element of lease rentals paid (63) – (63)

Total changes from financing cash flows (1,320) (28,828) (30,148)

Exchange adjustments 7 44,912 44,919

Other changes:
Interest expenses 63 29,473 29,536
New leases 56 – 56

Total other changes 119 29,473 29,592

At 31 March 2021 482 659,813 660,295
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21. OTHER PAYABLES AND ACCRUED CHARGES

2021 2020
HK$’000 HK$’000

Other tax payables 15,563 14,755
Advance receipt from customers 614 573
Accrued charges 1,000 1,701
Payables to finance lease equipment suppliers 155 144
Other payables 375 783

17,707 17,956

22. LEASE LIABILITIES

The following table shows the remaining contractual maturities of the Group’s lease liabilities at the end of 
the year:

2021 2020
Present 
value of 

minimum 
lease 

payments

Minimum 
lease 

payments

Present 
value of 

minimum 
lease 

payments

Minimum 
lease 

payments
HK$’000 HK$’000 HK$’000 HK$’000

Within one year 482 497 1,209 1,271
After one year but within two years – – 467 482

482 497 1,676 1,753
Less: total future interest expenses (15) (77)

Present value of lease liabilities 482 1,676

Analysed for reporting purposes as:
Current liabilities 482 1,209
Non-current liabilities – 467

482 1,676
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23. BANK BORROWINGS

2021 2020
HK$’000 HK$’000

Secured 659,813 157,116
Unsecured – 457,140

659,813 614,256

Carrying amount repayable:
Within one year 443,688 107,822
More than one year, but not exceeding two years 216,125 376,434
More than two years, but not exceeding five years – 130,000

659,813 614,256
Less: amounts shown under current liabilities (443,688) (107,822)

216,125 506,434

The exposure of the Group’s variable-rate borrowings and fixed-rate borrowings are as follows:

2021 2020
HK$’000 HK$’000

Variable-rate borrowings 634,877 588,927
Fixed-rate borrowings 24,936 25,329

659,813 614,256

As at 31 March 2021, the Group’s variable-rate borrowings carry interest at the rate of 4.75% (2020: 4.75% 
to 4.90%) per annum and fixed-rate borrowings carry interest at the rate of 8.05% (2020: 8.05%) per annum.

As at 31 March 2021, the Group’s bank borrowings with carrying amount of approximately HK$127,897,000 
(2020: HK$131,787,000) were granted by a bank in the PRC and secured by charges over receivables arising 
from sale and leaseback arrangements of the Group with an aggregate carrying value of HK$116,299,000 
(2020: HK$120,408,000) and guaranteed by a joint venture of a major shareholder of the Company and a 
director of the Company’s subsidiary.

As at 31 March 2021, the Group’s bank borrowings with carrying amount of approximately HK$24,936,000 
(2020: HK$25,329,000) were secured by bank deposits of HK$1,190,000 (2020: HK$1,111,000) and 
guaranteed by a joint venture of a major shareholder of the Company and a director of the Company’s 
subsidiary.
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23. BANK BORROWINGS (continued)

As at 31 March 2021, the Group’s bank borrowings with carrying amount of approximately HK$506,980,000 
(2020: HK$457,140,000) were secured by charges over receivables arising from sale and leaseback 
arrangements of the Group with an aggregate carrying value of HK$251,943,000 (2020: Nil) and guaranteed 
by a joint venture of a major shareholder of the Company, three independent third parties and a director of 
the Company’s subsidiary (2020: were guaranteed by a joint venture of a major shareholder of the Company, 
two independent third parties and a director of the Company’s subsidiary).

The Group’s bank borrowings are denominated in RMB which is the functional currency of the relevant 
group entities.

24. SHARE CAPITAL

Number of shares Share capital
HK$’000

Ordinary shares of HK$0.01 each

Authorised:
At 31 March 2021 and 31 March 2020 10,000,000,000 100,000

Issued:
At 31 March 2021 and 31 March 2020 412,509,000 4,125

All the shares issued during both years ranked pari passu in all respects with the then existing shares in 
issue.

25. SHARE OPTION SCHEME

The Company has adopted the share option scheme (the “Scheme”) on 18 December 2015. The purpose 
of the Scheme is to provide any director and full-time employees or any member of the Group (the 
“Participant(s)”) with opportunity to acquire proprietary interests in the Company and to encourage 
Participants to work towards enhancing the value of the Company and the shares of the Company for the 
benefit of the Company and the shareholders of the Company as a whole. The Scheme will provide the 
Company with a flexible means of retaining, incentivizing, rewarding, remunerating, compensating and/or 
providing benefits to Participants.

On and subject to the terms of the Scheme and the requirement of the Listing Rules, the Board may offer 
to grant an option to any Participant as the Board may in its absolute discretion select. The Scheme shall 
be valid and effective for a period of 10 years commencing on the date it was adopted and will end on 17 
December 2025.

An offer shall remain open for acceptance by the Participant concerned for a period of 14 days from the date 
of the offer. HK$1.0 is payable by the Participant to the Company on acceptance of the offer of the option. 
An option may be exercised in accordance with the terms of the Scheme at any time during a period as 
the Board may in it absolution discretion determine which shall not be more than ten years from the date of 
grant of the option and the Board may at its discretion determine the minimum period for which the option 
has to be held for restrictions before the exercise of the subscription right attaching to an option.

The total number of shares of the Company issued and to be issued upon exercise of the options granted to 
each Participant (including exercised, cancelled and outstanding options) in any 12 months period shall not 
exceed 1.00% of the shares of the Company in issue.
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25. SHARE OPTION SCHEME (continued)

The subscription price in respect of any particular option shall be such price as the Board may in its 
absolute discretion determine and notified to the Participant in the offer letter at the time of grant of the 
relevant option but the subscription price shall not be less than the highest of (i) the closing price of the 
shares of the Company as stated in the Stock Exchange’s daily quotations sheet on the date of grant; (ii) 
the average closing prices of the shares of the Company as stated in the Stock Exchange’s daily quotations 
sheets for the five business days immediately preceding the date of grant; and (iii) the nominal value of a 
share of the Company on the date of grant.

Share options were granted to directors, certain members of the senior management and employees of the 
Company on 10 February 2020 (the “Date of Grant”). The exercise price of the granted options is HK$0.40. 
The share options are granted conditionally upon completing three years’ service.

The fair value of options, determined using Binomial-Model, was HK$0.251 per option. The significant inputs 
into the model was share price of HK$0.35 at the Date of Grant, exercise price shown above, volatility of 
86.12%, dividend yield of 0%, an expected option life of ten years and an annual risk-free interest rate of 
1.35%. The volatility was assumed based on the daily share price volatility of the Company and comparable 
companies for a historical observation period equal to the life of the options. Since the Company had a 
trading history shorter than the life of the options at the time of the grant, volatility was calculated with 
reference to comparable companies listed in Hong Kong, Shenzhen and Shanghai and engaged in similar 
business as the Company.

The following tables disclose details of movements of share options granted under the Scheme:

Year ended 31 March 2021

Number of share options

At 
1 April 

2020

Granted 
during 

the year

Exercised 
during 

the year

Lapsed 
during 

the year

At 
31 March 

2021

Executive director:
Ms. Wong Emilie Hoi Yan 400,000 – – – 400,000

Non-executive directors:
Ms. Wong Jacqueline Yue Yee 400,000 – – – 400,000
Ms. Wong Michelle Yatyee 400,000 – – – 400,000
Mr. Wong Ming Bun David 4,000,000 – – – 4,000,000

Independent non-executive  
directors:

Mr. Lie Chi Wing 22,000 – – – 22,000
Mr. Ng Wing Chung Vincent 22,000 – – – 22,000
Mr. Yu Yang 22,000 – – – 22,000

Employees
In aggregate 500,000 – – – 500,000

Total 5,766,000 – – – 5,766,000
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25. SHARE OPTION SCHEME (continued)

Year ended 31 March 2020

Number of share options

At 
1 April 

2019

Granted 
during 

the year

Exercised 
during 

the year

Lapsed 
during 

the year

At 
31 March 

2020

Executive director:
Ms. Wong Emilie Hoi Yan – 400,000 – – 400,000

Non-executive directors:
Ms. Wong Jacqueline Yue Yee – 400,000 – – 400,000
Ms. Wong Michelle Yatyee – 400,000 – – 400,000
Mr. Wong Ming Bun David – 4,000,000 – – 4,000,000

Independent non-executive  
directors:

Mr. Lie Chi Wing – 22,000 – – 22,000
Mr. Ng Wing Chung Vincent – 22,000 – – 22,000
Mr. Yu Yang – 22,000 – – 22,000

Employees
In aggregate – 500,000 – – 500,000

Total – 5,766,000 – – 5,766,000

Details of the outstanding share options granted under the Scheme are as follows:

Date of grant
Number of share 
option granted Exercisable period Vesting period

Exercise 
price

10 February 2020 5,766,000 10 February 2023 to  
9 February 2030

10 February 2020 to  
9 February 2023

HK$0.40

During the year ended 31 March 2021, no share option (2020: 5,766,000) was granted under the Scheme 
and share-based payment expenses of HK$483,000 (2020: HK$80,000) has been charged to profit or loss.

The share options outstanding at 31 March 2021 had weighted average exercise price of HK$0.40 (2020: 
HK$0.40) and a weighted average remaining contractual life of 8.87 years (2020: 9.87 years).
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26. RETIREMENT BENEFIT SCHEMES

The Group operates a MPF Scheme for all its qualifying employees in Hong Kong. The assets of the scheme 
are held separately from those of the Group, in funds under the control of trustees. Under the rule of MPF 
Scheme, the Group and its employees are each required to make a contribution to the MPF Scheme at 5% 
of the employees’ relevant income subject to a cap of monthly relevant income as specified in the rules. No 
forfeited contribution is available to reduce the contribution payable in the future years.

The Group participates in a state-managed defined contribution retirement scheme organised by the relevant 
local government authority in the PRC. PRC employees of the Group eligible to participate in the retirement 
scheme are entitled to retirement benefits from the scheme. The Group is required to make monthly 
contributions to the retirement scheme of the eligible employees at 16% (2020: 16%) of the payroll and the 
local government authority is responsible for the pension liabilities to these employees upon their retirement.

Total cost recognised in profit or loss in respect of contributions paid or payable to the schemes by the 
Group for the year ended 31 March 2021 is HK$104,000 (2020: HK$229,000).

27. CAPITAL RISK MANAGEMENT

The Group manages its capital to ensure that entities in the Group will be able to continue as a going 
concern while maximising the return to owners of the Company through the optimisation of the debt and 
equity balance. The Group’s overall strategy remains unchanged from the prior year.

The capital structure of the Group consists of bank borrowings as set out in note 23 and equity attributable 
to owners of the Company, in which comprising issued share capital and reserves.

The directors of the Company review the capital structure on a regular basis. As part of this review, 
the directors consider the cost of capital and the risks associated with the share capital. Based on 
recommendations of the directors, the Group will balance its overall capital structure through new share 
issues and raise of new borrowings.

The total debt to equity ratio at the end of the reporting period was as follows:

2021 2020
HK$’000 HK$’000

Current liabilities
Bank borrowings 443,688 107,822

Non-current liabilities
Bank borrowings 216,125 506,434

Total debt 659,813 614,256

(Capital deficiency)/total equity (109,990) 15,282

Total debt to equity ratio N/A 4019.5%



Annual Report 2021 • China Rongzhong Financial Holdings Company Limited 97

Notes to the Consolidated Financial Statements
For the year ended 31 March 2021

28. FINANCIAL RISK MANAGEMENT

Categories of financial instruments

2021 2020
HK$’000 HK$’000

Financial assets
At amortised cost:
– Lease receivables and receivables arising from sale  

and leaseback arrangements 817,669 871,042
– Other financial assets 29,208 36,019

846,877 907,061

Financial liabilities
Financial liabilities measured at amortised cost:
– Deposits from customers 214,813 206,047
– Other payables 530 927
– Bank borrowings 659,813 614,256
Lease liabilities 482 1,676

875,638 822,906

Financial risk management objectives and policies

The risks associated with these financial instruments include market risk (currency risk and interest rate 
risk), credit risk and liquidity risk. The policies on how to mitigate these risks are set out below. Management 
manages and monitors these exposures to ensure appropriate measures are implemented in a timely and 
effective manner.

Market risk

Currency risk

The Group has foreign currency denominated monetary assets, and thus exposing the Group to foreign 
currency risk.

The carrying amounts of the Group’s foreign currency denominated monetary assets, including loan 
receivable, other receivables, short term bank deposits and bank balances at the reporting date are as 
follows:

2021 2020
HK$’000 HK$’000

Assets
HK$ 13,440 23,201
US$ 147 147

The Group currently does not have a foreign exchange hedging policy to eliminate the currency exposures. 
However, management monitors the related foreign currency exposure closely and will consider hedging 
significant foreign currency exposures should the need arise.
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28. FINANCIAL RISK MANAGEMENT (continued)

Financial risk management objectives and policies (continued)

Market risk (continued)

Currency risk (continued)

Sensitivity analysis

The Group is mainly exposed to the effects of fluctuation in US$ and HK$ against RMB.

The following table details the Group’s sensitivity to a 5% increase and decrease in RMB, the functional 
currency of respective group entities, against US$ and HK$. 5% is the sensitivity rate represents 
management’s assessment of the reasonably possible change in foreign exchange rates. The sensitivity 
analysis includes only outstanding foreign currency denominated monetary items and adjusts their 
translation at the year-end for a 5% change in foreign currency rate. The analysis illustrates the impact for 
a 5% weakening of US$ and HK$ against RMB and a negative number below indicates an increase in loss 
before income tax for the year. For a 5% strengthening of US$ and HK$ against RMB, there would be an 
equal and opposite impact on the loss before income tax for the year.

US$ impact HK$ impact

2021 2020 2021 2020
HK$’000 HK$’000 HK$’000 HK$’000

Increase in loss (7) (7) (672) (1,160)

In management’s opinion, the sensitivity analysis is unrepresentative of the inherent currency risk as the year 
end exposure does not reflect the exposure during the year.

Interest rate risk

Cash flow interest rate risk is the risk that the future cash flows of a financial instrument will fluctuate 
because of changes in market interest rates. The Group is exposed to cash flow interest rate risk in relation 
to variable-rate lease receivables and receivables arising from sale and leaseback arrangements, security 
deposits, short term bank deposits, bank balances and bank borrowings (see notes 17, 19, 20 and 23 for 
details of these financial instruments respectively). The Group takes on exposure to the effects of fluctuation 
in the prevailing levels of market interest rates on the cash flow risks.

Management monitors the related interest exposure closely to ensure the interest rate risk is maintained at 
an acceptable level. The level of mismatch of interest rate repricing that may be undertaken is monitored 
closely.

The Group’s exposures to interest rates on financial liabilities are detailed in the liquidity risk management 
section of this note. The Group’s cash flow interest rate risk is mainly concentrated on the fluctuation of the 
Group’s RMB denominated variable interest rate financial instruments.
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28. FINANCIAL RISK MANAGEMENT (continued)

Financial risk management objectives and policies (continued)

Market risk (continued)

Interest rate risk (continued)

Sensitivity analysis

The sensitivity analysis below has been determined based on the exposure to variable-rate lease receivables 
and receivables arising from sale and leaseback arrangements and bank borrowings. The analysis is 
prepared assuming the amount of asset and liability of variable-rate outstanding at the end of the reporting 
period are outstanding for the whole year, a 50 basis points increase or decrease each year represents 
management’s assessment of the reasonably possible changes in interest rates. Security deposits, short 
term bank deposits and bank balances are excluded from sensitivity analysis as the directors of the 
Company consider that the exposure of cash flow interest rate risk arising from variable-rate security 
deposits, short term bank deposits and bank balances is insignificant.

If interest rates had been 50 basis points (2020: 50 basis points) higher/lower and all other variables 
were held constant, the Group’s loss for the year ended 31 March 2021 would increase/decrease by 
HK$2,456,000 (2020: HK$2,217,000). This is mainly attributable to the Group’s exposure to interest rates on 
its variable-rate lease receivables and receivables arising from sale and leaseback arrangements and bank 
borrowings. Management considers that the interest rate risk exposure to change in interest rate of bank 
balances and security deposits is not significant.

Credit risk

The Group’s credit risk is primarily attributable to lease receivables and receivables arising from sale and 
leaseback arrangements, loan receivable, short term bank deposits, security deposits and bank balances 
and cash.

As at 31 March 2021, the Group’s maximum exposure to credit risk which may cause a financial loss to the 
Group due to failure to discharge an obligation by the counterparties is arising from the carrying amount of 
the respective recognised financial assets as stated in the consolidated statement of financial position.

The Group’s concentration of credit risk on lease receivables and receivables arising from sale and 
leaseback arrangements as at 31 March 2021 includes five major counterparties accounting for 44.2% 
(2020: 41.0%) of the lease receivables and receivables arising from sale and leaseback arrangements. The 
Group has concentration of risk on the loan receivable as the loan is made to one borrower, which is an 
individual in the PRC.

The Group is exposed to the concentration of geographical risk on revenue which is generated mostly from 
customers located in Hubei province, PRC. The Group has closely monitored the business performance of 
these customers in the PRC and will consider diversifying its customer base as appropriate.

For lease receivables and receivables arising from sale and leaseback arrangements and loan receivable, 
in order to minimise the credit risk, credit limits and credit terms granted to customers are approved by 
delegated officers and follow-up action is taken to recover overdue debts. In addition, the management of 
the Group reviews the recoverable amount of each individual receivable at the end of the reporting period, 
ensured adequate collateral is received from these counterparties and taken effective measures to ensure 
timely collection of outstanding balances.
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28. FINANCIAL RISK MANAGEMENT (continued)

Financial risk management objectives and policies (continued)

Credit risk (continued)

The credit risk on liquid funds (i.e. short term bank deposits, security deposits and bank balances and 
cash) is limited because the majority of the counterparties are banks with high credit-ratings assigned by 
international credit-rating agencies.

The Group has conducted an assessment of ECL according to forward-looking information and use 
appropriate models and assumptions in its expected measurement of credit losses. These models and 
assumptions relate to the future macroeconomic conditions and borrower’s creditworthiness (e.g. the 
likelihood of default by customers and the corresponding losses). The Group has adopted judgement, 
assumptions and estimation techniques in order to measure ECL according to the requirements of 
accounting standards such as criteria for judging significant increases in credit risk, definition of credit 
impaired financial asset, parameters for measuring ECL and forward-looking information.

The following table provides information about the Group’s exposure to credit risk and ECL for lease 
receivables and receivables arising from sale and leaseback arrangements and loan receivable as at 31 
March 2021 and 2020. The average expected loss rate is derived from the gross carrying amount and 
loss allowance as at 31 March 2021 and 2020 after taken into accounting of the deposits received from 
customers, historical default rate and forward looking information when determined the loss allowance. The 
assessment is performed debtors by debtors.

In the event that an instalment repayment of a lease receivable and receivable arising from sale and 
leaseback arrangement is past due, the entire outstanding balance of the lease receivable and receivable 
arising from sale and leaseback arrangement is classified as past due. As at 31 March 2021 and 2020, all 
the lease receivables and receivables arising from sale and leaseback arrangements and loan receivable are 
credit-impaired.

For the year ended 31 March 2021

Average expected 
loss rate

Gross carrying 
amount

Loss 
allowance

HK$’000 HK$’000

Lease receivables and receivables 
arising from sale and leaseback 
arrangements 56.3% 1,870,147 1,052,478

Loan receivable 48.9% 10,887 5,324
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28. FINANCIAL RISK MANAGEMENT (continued)

Financial risk management objectives and policies (continued)

Credit risk (continued)

For the year ended 31 March 2020

Average expected 
loss rate

Gross carrying 
amount

Loss 
allowance

HK$’000 HK$’000

Lease receivables and receivables 
arising from sale and leaseback 
arrangements 51.1% 1,781,593 910,551

Loan receivable 39.2% 10,887 4,266

Expected loss rates are based on historical loss experience. These rates are adjusted to reflect differences 
between economic conditions during the period over which the historic data has been collected, current 
conditions and the Group’s view of economic conditions over the expected lives of the receivables.

Movement in the loss allowance account in respect of lease receivables and receivables arising from sale 
and leaseback arrangements and loan receivable is as follows:

2021 2020
HK$’000 HK$’000

At 1 April 914,817 901,953

Impairment losses recognised, net
– lease receivables and receivables arising from  

sale and leaseback arrangements 96,974 46,713
– loan receivable 1,058 1,505

Unwinding discount on loss allowance 997 4,610
Disposals (23,974) –
Exchange realignment 67,930 (39,964)

At 31 March 1,057,802 914,817

The increase in loss allowance during the years ended 31 March 2021 and 2020 was mainly due to the 
increase of the days of past due of lease receivables and receivables arising from sale and leaseback 
arrangements and loan receivable.
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28. FINANCIAL RISK MANAGEMENT (continued)

Financial risk management objectives and policies (continued)

Credit risk (continued)

Movement in the loss allowance account in respect of lease receivables and receivables arising from sale 
and leaseback arrangements and loan receivable is as follows:

Lease receivables and receivables 
arising from sale and leaseback 
arrangements – loss allowance

12-month 
ECL

Lifetime 
ECL – not 

credit-
impaired

Lifetime 
ECL – credit 

impaired Total
HK$’000 HK$’000 HK$’000 HK$’000

At 1 April 2019 11,691 2 887,499 899,192

Net remeasurement of loss allowance (7,741) (2) 59,066 51,323

Transfer to lifetime ECL – credit-impaired (3,430) – 3,430 –
Exchange realignment (520) – (39,444) (39,964)

At 31 March 2020 and 1 April 2020 – – 910,551 910,551

Net remeasurement of loss allowance – – 97,971 97,971

Disposals – – (23,974) (23,974)
Exchange realignment – – 67,930 67,930

At 31 March 2021 – – 1,052,478 1,052,478

Loan receivable – loss allowance
12-month 

ECL

Lifetime 
ECL – not 

credit-
impaired

Lifetime 
ECL – credit 

impaired Total
HK$’000 HK$’000 HK$’000 HK$’000

At 1 April 2019 – – 2,761 2,761

Net remeasurement of loss allowance – – 1,505 1,505

At 31 March 2020 and 1 April 2020 – – 4,266 4,266

Net remeasurement of loss allowance – – 1,058 1,058

At 31 March 2021 – – 5,324 5,324
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28. FINANCIAL RISK MANAGEMENT (continued)

Financial risk management objectives and policies (continued)

Credit risk (continued)

Movement in the gross carrying amount in respect of lease receivables and receivables arising from sale and 
leaseback arrangements and loan receivable is as follows:

Lease receivables and receivables 
arising from sale and leaseback 
arrangements – gross carrying amount

12-month 
ECL

Lifetime 
ECL – not 

credit-
impaired

Lifetime 
ECL – credit 

impaired Total
HK$’000 HK$’000 HK$’000 HK$’000

At 1 April 2019 33,735 1,876 1,839,132 1,874,743

Transfer to lifetime ECL – credit-impaired (28,512) – 28,512 –
Other changes (3,838) (1,876) (4,619) (10,333)
Exchange realignment (1,385) – (81,432) (82,817)

At 31 March 2020 and 1 April 2020 – – 1,781,593 1,781,593

Other changes – – (37,057) (37,057)
Exchange realignment – – 125,611 125,611

At 31 March 2021 – – 1,870,147 1,870,147

Loan receivable – gross carrying 
amount

12-month 
ECL

Lifetime 
ECL – not 

credit-
impaired

Lifetime 
ECL – credit 

impaired Total
HK$’000 HK$’000 HK$’000 HK$’000

At 1 April 2019, 31 March 2020,  
1 April 2020 and 31 March 2021 – – 10,887 10,887



Notes to the Consolidated Financial Statements
For the year ended 31 March 2021

China Rongzhong Financial Holdings Company Limited • Annual Report 2021104

28. FINANCIAL RISK MANAGEMENT (continued)

Financial risk management objectives and policies (continued)

Liquidity risk

In the management of the liquidity risk, the Group monitors and maintains a level of cash and cash 
equivalents deemed adequate by the management to finance the Group’s operations and mitigate the 
effects of fluctuations in cash flows. The management monitors the utilisation of bank loans and ensures 
compliance with loan covenants.

The following table details the Group’s remaining contractual maturity for its financial assets and financial 
liabilities. The table has been drawn up based on the undiscounted cash flows of financial assets and 
financial liabilities and the earliest date on which the Group can be required to pay. The table includes both 
interest and principal cash flows.

Liquidity tables

Weighted 
average 

effective 
interest rate

On 
demand

Within 
1 month

2 to 3 
months

4 to 12 
months

1 to 2 
years

Over 
2 years

Total 
undiscounted 

cash flows

Carrying 
amount at 
31 March 

2021
% HK$’000 HK$’000 HK$’000 HK$’000 HK$’000 HK$’000 HK$’000 HK$’000

As at 31 March 2021
Assets
Lease receivables and 

receivables arising from 
sale and leaseback 
arrangements 17.27 1,692,565 12,757 50,275 27,614 23,955 83,709 1,890,875 817,669

Loan receivable 10.00 10,887 – – – – – 10,887 5,563
Security deposits – – 1,697 – – 1,190 – 2,887 2,887
Short term bank deposits – – 6,636 – – – – 6,636 6,636
Bank balances and cash – 5,671 – – – – – 5,671 5,671
Other receivables – 8,451 – – – – – 8,451 8,451

Total assets 1,717,574 21,090 50,275 27,614 25,145 83,709 1,925,407 846,877

Weighted 
average 

effective 
interest rate

On 
demand

Within 
1 month

2 to 3 
months

4 to 12 
months

1 to 2 
years

Over 
2 years

Total 
undiscounted 

cash flows

Carrying 
amount at 
31 March 

2021
% HK$’000 HK$’000 HK$’000 HK$’000 HK$’000 HK$’000 HK$’000 HK$’000

Liabilities
Other payables – – 530 – – – – 530 530
Bank borrowings 4.88 – 32,301 239,521 189,912 221,766 – 683,500 659,813
Deposits from customers 5.88 – 213,632 1,190 – – – 214,822 214,813
Lease liabilities 6.00 – 45 91 361 – – 497 482

Total liabilities – 246,508 240,802 190,273 221,766 – 899,349 875,638
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28. FINANCIAL RISK MANAGEMENT (continued)

Financial risk management objectives and policies (continued)

Liquidity risk (continued)

Liquidity tables (continued)

Weighted 
average 
effective 

interest rate
On 

demand
Within 

1 month
2 to 3 

months
4 to 12 
months

1 to 2 
years

Over 
2 years

Total 
undiscounted 

cash flows

Carrying 
amount at 
31 March 

2020
% HK$’000 HK$’000 HK$’000 HK$’000 HK$’000 HK$’000 HK$’000 HK$’000

As at 31 March 2020
Assets
Lease receivables and 

receivables arising from 
sale and leaseback 
arrangements 17.05 1,472,374 28,528 41,294 116,052 56,089 98,818 1,813,155 871,042

Loan receivable 10.00 10,887 – – – – – 10,887 6,621
Security deposits 0.35 – 7,354 – – – – 7,354 7,352
Short term bank deposits – – 14,776 – – – – 14,776 14,775
Bank balances and cash – 6,812 – – – – – 6,812 6,812
Other receivables – 459 – – – – – 459 459

Total assets 1,490,532 50,658 41,294 116,052 56,089 98,818 1,853,443 907,061

Weighted 
average 
effective 

interest rate
On 

demand
Within 

1 month
2 to 3 

months
4 to 12 
months

1 to 2 
years

Over 
2 years

Total 
undiscounted 

cash flows

Carrying 
amount at 
31 March 

2020
% HK$’000 HK$’000 HK$’000 HK$’000 HK$’000 HK$’000 HK$’000 HK$’000

Liabilities
Other payables – – 927 – – – – 927 927
Bank borrowings 4.93 – 8,685 29,818 96,417 389,499 134,494 658,913 614,256
Deposits from customers 5.85 – 204,945 1,111 – – – 206,056 206,047
Lease liabilities 6.00 – 131 262 878 482 – 1,753 1,676

Total liabilities – 214,688 31,191 97,295 389,981 134,494 867,649 822,906

The amounts included above for variable interest rate financial instruments are subject to change if changes 
in variable interest rates differ to those estimates of interest rates determined at the end of the reporting 
period.

Fair value

The fair value of financial assets and financial liabilities is determined based on discounted cash flow 
analysis.

The directors of the Company consider that the carrying amounts of financial assets and financial liabilities 
recorded at amortised cost in the consolidated statement of financial position approximate to their fair 
values.
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29. RELATED PARTY TRANSACTIONS

(a) Related party transactions

Save as disclosed elsewhere in the consolidated financial statements, there was no significant related 
party transactions for the years ended 31 March 2021 and 2020.

(b) Compensation of key management personnel

During the reporting period, the remuneration of key management personnel which represent the 
executive directors of the Company and senior management is as follows:

2021 2020
HK$’000 HK$’000

Salaries and other allowances 2,784 2,889
Retirement benefit scheme contributions 36 88
Equity-settled share-based payments 50 8

2,870 2,985

The remuneration of directors of the Company is determined having regard to the performance of 
individuals and market trends.

30. PARTICULARS OF SUBSIDIARIES

Details of the Company’s principal subsidiaries at 31 March 2021 and 2020 are as follows:

Name of 

subsidiaries

Place of 

incorporation/

registration/operation

Paid up issued/

registered capital

Proportion 

ownership interest 

held by the Company Principal activities

2021 2020 2021 2020

Directly owned
Rongzhong Capital Holdings Limited British Virgin Islands US$104,422 US$104,422 100% 100% Investment holding

Indirectly owned
Rongzhong International Finance  

Lease Holdings Limited

Hong Kong HK$1 HK$1 100% 100% Investment holding

Rongzhong International Financial 

Leasing Co., Ltd (note)

PRC US$63,000,000 US$63,000,000 100% 100% Provision of financial  

leasing services

Note: It is a wholly foreign owned enterprise established in the PRC.

The above table lists the subsidiaries of the Company which, in the opinion of the directors of the Company, 
principally affected the results of the year or formed a substantial portion of the assets and liabilities of the 
Group.

None of the subsidiaries had issued any debt securities at the end of the reporting period or at any time 
during both years.
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31. STATEMENT OF FINANCIAL POSITION OF THE COMPANY

2021 2020
HK$’000 HK$’000

Non-current asset
Interest in a subsidiary – –

Current assets
Loan receivable 5,563 6,621
Prepayments and other receivables 204 206
Amounts due from a subsidiary 1,770 1,710
Short term bank deposits with original  

maturity within three months 2,032 10,108
Bank balances and cash 504 1,118

10,073 19,763

Current liabilities
Other payables and accrued charges 1,309 990
Amounts due to subsidiaries 7,264 7,103
Lease liabilities 467 440

9,040 8,533

Net current assets 1,033 11,230

Total assets less current liabilities 1,033 11,230

Non-current liabilities
Lease liabilities – 467

Net assets 1,033 10,763

Capital and reserves
Share capital 4,125 4,125
Reserves (3,092) 6,638

Total equity 1,033 10,763
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31. STATEMENT OF FINANCIAL POSITION OF THE COMPANY (continued)

Movement in reserves

Share 
premium

Share 
option 

reserve
Translation 

reserve
Accumulated 

losses Total
HK$’000 HK$’000 HK$’000 HK$’000 HK$’000

At 1 April 2019 552,818 – (9,943) (496,032) 46,843

Loss for the year – – – (38,098) (38,098)
Exchange difference arising  

on translation – – (2,187) – (2,187)
Recognition of equity-settled  

share-based payments – 80 – – 80

At 31 March 2020 552,818 80 (12,130) (534,130) 6,638

Loss for the year – – – (18,951) (18,951)
Exchange difference arising  

on translation – – 8,738 – 8,738
Recognition of equity-settled  

share-based payments – 483 – – 483

At 31 March 2021 552,818 563 (3,392) (553,081) (3,092)
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